

 
 

Agenda 

 

Page 1 

Planning Committee 
 

Time and Date 
2.00 pm on Thursday, 27th May, 2021 
 
Place 
Council Chamber - Council House 
 
The meeting is being webcast and can be viewed by pasting this link into your 
browser: www.coventry.gov.uk/webcast 
 
Please note that in line with current COVID regulations, there will be limited 
public access to the meeting to ensure social distancing. If you wish to attend 
in person, please contact the Governance Services Officers indicated at the end 
of the agenda 
 

 
 
1. Apologies for Absence   

 
Additional Document: Late Representation Report 
 
2. Declarations of Interest   

 
3. Members Declarations of Contact on Planning Applications   
 

 Members are reminded that contacts about any planning applications on this 
agenda must, unless reported to this meeting by the Strategic Lead for 
Planning, be declared before the application is considered. 
 

4. Minutes of the meetings held on 8 and 22 April 2021  (Pages 11 - 22) 
 

5. Late Representations   
 

 To be circulated at the meeting. 
 

6. Application OUT/2019/0484 - Thompsons Farm, Thompson Road  (Pages 
23 - 56) 

 

 Report of the Strategic Lead for Planning 
 

7. Application FUL/2020/2794 - Lyons Park, Former Lawrence Automotive 
Site, Sayer Drive  (Pages 57 - 94) 

 

 Report of the Strategic Lead for Planning 
 

8. Application FUL/2021/0315 - 97 Broad Lane  (Pages 95 - 108) 
 

Public Document Pack

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/webcast


Page 2 

 Report of the Strategic Lead for Planning 
 

9. Application FUL/2021/0369 - Land at Westwood Heath Road, to the rear 
of St John's Church  (Pages 109 - 120) 

 

 Report of the Strategic Lead for Planning 
 

10. Application TELO/2021/0198 - Land at Scots Lane  (Pages 121 - 128) 
 

 Report of the Strategic Lead for Planning 
 

11. Application FUL/2020/1334 - Garages, Overdale Road  (Pages 129 - 152) 
 

 Report of the Strategic Lead for Planning 
 

12. Outstanding Issues   
 

 There are no outstanding issues. 
 

13. Any other items of public business which the Chair decides to take as 
matters of urgency because of the special circumstances involved   
 

 

Julie Newman, Director of Law and Governance, Council House Coventry 
 
Wednesday, 19 May 2021 
 
Note: The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is 
Carolyn Sinclair carolyn.sinclair@coventry.gov.uk 
 
 
Membership: Councillors N Akhtar, P Akhtar, R Auluck (Deputy Chair), R Bailey, 
L Harvard (Chair), M Heaven, G Lloyd, C Miks, S Nazir, D Skinner and A Tucker 
 
By invitation: Councillor D Welsh 
 
Public Access 
Any member of the public who would like to attend the meeting in person is required to 
contact the officers below of the meeting regarding arrangements for public 
attendance. A guide to attending public meeting can be found here: 
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/publicAttendanceMeetings 
 

Carolyn Sinclair  
carolyn.sinclair@coventry.gov.uk 
 
 

PLEASE NOTE: 
This meeting may be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the 
Council's internet site. At the start of the meeting, the Chair will confirm if 
all or part of the meeting is being filmed. The images and sound 
recording may be used for training purposes within the Council. 

https://www.coventry.gov.uk/publicAttendanceMeetings


Page 3 

Generally, the public seating areas are not filmed. 
However, by entering the meeting room and using the public seating 
area, you are consenting to being filmed and to the possible use of those 
images and sound recordings for webcasting and/or training purposes. If 
you have any queries regarding this, please contact the Governance 
Services Officer at the meeting. 

    

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Late Representations 

Planning Committee 27 May 2021 
 

Item 
No. 6 

Application No. - OUT/2019/0484 
 
Description of Development - Outline permission for the erection of up to 500 residential 
dwellings with all matters reserved with the exception of access and comprising of: The 
demolition of Thompsons Cottage and associated buildings; Provision of green 
infrastructure including strategic open space, sustainable urban drainage, green 
networks, play space and associated structural and general landscaping; A vehicular 
access point and emergency access point onto Bennetts Road North; Network of 
pedestrian and cycle routes; and All associated infrastructure and enabling works 
 
Site Address - Land at Thompsons Farm Thompsons Road 
 

Introduction 
The Parish Council’s comments were not reported separately within the officer 
report and further representations have been received. 
 
There is an updated position on the NHS contributions. 
 
Consultation  
 
A response was previously received form Keresley Parish Council who in 
summary had the following concerns/objections to the scheme: 
 

• No application should be received until an application has been received 
for the proposed free school 

• No planning application should be granted until certainty is provided in 
respect of delivery of the link road and Sandpits Lane Junction 
Improvements 

• The existing bus routes are unsuitable for sustainable transport 

• There is unsuitable infrastructure provided 

• The PROW to the north of the site should be enhanced 
 
Corley Parish Council have objected raising a new issue of proposed littering. 
 
 
Since writing the report a further 56 objections have been received. In summary, 
the following additional points have been raised: 

• The proposal is in an unsustainable location 

• That fly tipping and littering would occur 

• That the Transport Assessment is unsound 

• That the proposal would result in flooding 

• That there are no local job opportunities 

• That a housing needs assessment should be undertaken to identify a 
suitable housing mix 

• That the population statistics are outdated and housing isn’t required 
 

Page 5

Agenda Annex



Appraisal 
The officer report states that the developer has agreed to all of the requests for 
s106 contributions.  The developer had advised that they (and other developers) 
in the light of the Secretary of State’s Decision and legal advice, currently have a 
legal dispute underway with the NHS Trust and at this stage the NHS Trust 
(Acute Care) contribution is not yet agreed.  If the legal dispute finds that the 
contribution is justified then the developer will pay the requested contributions 
but they do not want to commit to it until the legal position is known 
 
The proposal is considered to be in a sustainable location with suitable and 
enhanced transport links forming part of the proposal. 
 
The Transport Assessment is considered suitable as confirmed by highways who 
consider that no further highways safety concerns have been presented which 
would require further consent. 
 
The Lead Local Flood Authority have no objections to the proposal on the grounds 
of flooding subject to conditions. 
 
As clarified in the report the recent review undertaken by the Office for National 
Statistics(ONS) makes no provision or recommendation for altering the existing 
population numbers. 
 
The proposed housing mix will be informed by housing strategy further as part of 
the S.106 agreement. 
 
The alleged absence of local job opportunities isn’t in itself a material 
consideration. 
 
The timescales for delivery of the link road, junction improvements and the school 
are appropriately controlled by policy and legal agreements separate from this 
application. 
 
The bus routes are being enhanced with a new ‘super stop’ proposed within the 
site. 
 
The Pubic Right of Way to the north of the site is to be retained. 
 
The S106 agreement makes suitable provision for infrastructure improvements. 
 
Environmental Protection have not raised any concerns in respect of litter/rubbish 
generation. 
 

Item 
No. 11 

Application No. - FUL/2020/1334 
 
Description of Development - Demolition of existing garages and development of 2 x 2-
bed bungalows 
 
Site Address - Garages Overdale Road 
 
Additional representations 
 
The following additional comments have been received from Cllr Bally Singh: 

Page 6



 
I would like to strongly object to this proposal. It will create extra parking strain in the 
crowded Overdale road area and increase the likelihood of accidents especially near 
the school - where there have a few near misses and sometimes worse in the area. I 
have copied in highways who I believe are looking at road safety measures in the area, 
and I believe this development will be counter to their efforts. 
 
Accessibility will also be impacted negatively for residents, such as for (name of resident 
removed (part of the row of bungalows.) Residents here rely on the current access for 
deliveries which have been a life saver during the pandemic - but this development will 
make deliveries more difficult or unviable. The lack of garage/parking space will also be 
a significant detriment for local residents. 
 
Third party representations 
 
Three additional representations have been received, one of which is from the 
headteacher of Whoberley Hall primary school, who has not made comments to date. 
Concerns due to the potential adverse impact upon traffic levels in the road are raised.  
The headteacher has been looking closely at the traffic and parking in Overdale Road 
and Wildcroft Road (other side of the school) with Councillor Becky Gittins (one of the 
school governors). The comment is made that it is very dangerous at drop off and pick 
up times for school, and reference is made to a recent incident where a child got hit, 
luckily, the child was not seriously hurt but the school are very concerned about this.  In 
principle, the changes to the use of the area could benefit school, in that, any anti-social 
behaviour (possibly drug related) would ease, and we would have more families move 
into the area (our pupil numbers are low). However, without proper consideration given 
to the traffic levels this will be a problem for the school’s families.  
 
Further comments have been received from two nearby residents.  Matters not raised 
in previous representations include:  
 

• Application is absent of how asbestos is handled during demolition given the 

associated health risks. 

• Proposed plans appear to indicate a possible source of light pollution into rear 

garden and bedrooms. 

• The site has become a blight on the area and residents have been undertaking 

cleaning and maintenance of the site. 

• Citizen Housing’s failure to meet their own published policy statement and 

circumvention of duty of care for residents, the majority of whom have protected 

characteristics, evidenced by decommissioning and residents ability or 

otherwise to acquire the garages since July 2018, loss of communal TV 

reception previously provided by the mast on site, and removal of signage stating 

that the car park was for residents only. 

• The housing is not of benefit to residents or the community at large.  The ‘Right 

to Regenerate’ would be a simple way to turn public land into public good, with 

funds available to the community to turn the site into something that benefits the 

community and residents.   

 

Comments on new matters raised: 

Condition 12 requires the submission of a Construction Management Plan to be 

submitted prior to commencement which includes measures to control the presence of 

asbestos. Matters relating to residential amenity are addressed in the report.  The plans 

Page 7



do not indicate that there would be a direct light source proposed that would affect 

neighbours.   

The Right to Regenerate referred to has been subject to recent consultation by Central 

Government which closed on 20 March 2021.  It is the proposed reform of the Right to 

Contest, which the consultation says could provide a quicker and easier route for 

individuals, businesses and organisations to identify, purchase and redevelop 

underused or empty land in their area, encourage the public to drive regeneration and 

stimulate the more productive use of public land.  The outcome of the consultation has 

not yet been published. 

Matters relating to maintenance of the site, removal of signage and loss of television 

reception from the mast on site are matters separate to the consideration of this 

application that should be pursued with the applicant, Citizen Housing.   

Notwithstanding this, it is appreciated that some of the nearby residents are elderly and 
have mobility problems, and your officer is aware that Citizen have helped/advised 
garage tenants of other garage sites should they wish to continue to rent a garage.  
Options available have tried to be kept as local as possible, although alternative garage 
sites with availability may not be in convenient locations for all residents.   
 
Amended Conditions 
 
Condition 2- Approved plans and documents  
 
For completeness the Highway Statement reference CGSW407-BSP-ZZ-XX-RP-D-
0001-P02 and dated 29 April 2020 should be added to the list of approved documents.     
 

Item 
No. 7 

Application No. - FUL/2020/2794 
 
Description of Development - Construction of an industrial unit (General Industrial (Class 
B2) and/or Storage and Distribution (Class B8) use) with ancillary offices, access, 
servicing, parking, drainage and landscaping. Construction of HGV trailer parking for 
adjacent unit (Class B8) with pre-check offices, lighting, drainage and landscaping; and 
all other ancillary works. 
 
Site Address - Lyons Park Former Lawrence Automotive Site Sayer Drive 

 
Proposal 
There are a few of minor factual errors in the main report. The number of HGV 
trailer parking spaces would be 173, as opposed to the 185 referred to in the 
report. Also, the combined ancillary office / welfare floorspace would be 1,216 sq 
m as opposed to the 1,257 sq m; and the pre-check offices would have a 
combined floorspace of 62 sq m compared to the previously stated 13 sq m. None 
of these changes have any bearing on the officer assessment. 
 
The latest unit plan drawing is drawing number 200 P6, as opposed to 200 P5, 
which is referred to in condition 2 of the schedule. This shall be amended 
accordingly. 
 
Consultation responses 
One additional objection has been received, expressing concerns with regard to 
noise and air quality impact. The objector is concerned about individual and 
cumulative impact and suggest noise and air quality management plans are 
required. 

Page 8



 
Appraisal 
An additional condition is recommended to ensure no detrimental impact to the 
occupiers of Highfield House with regard to noise and in accordance with the 
Noise Assessment submitted.  
 
Additional Condition: 
 
Prior to the use of  the hereby approved  trailer park within Phase 1,  an acoustic 
barrier shall be provided to the south eastern boundary  of the trailer park in 
accordance with details to be submitted and  approved  in writing by  local planning 
authority. The barrier shall be maintained and retained thereafter.  
 
To safeguard the amenities of the adjoining occupiers of the development in 
accordance with Policy DE1 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 
– 1 – 

 

Coventry City Council 
Minutes of the Meeting of Planning Committee held at 2.00 pm on Thursday, 8 

April 2021 
 

Present:  

Members: Councillor L Harvard (Chair) 

 Councillor N Akhtar 
Councillor P Akhtar 
Councillor A Andrews 
Councillor R Auluck 
Councillor R Bailey 
Councillor L Kelly 
Councillor G Lloyd 
Councillor C Miks 
Councillor D Skinner 
Councillor S Walsh 
 

Other Members: Councillor D Welsh, Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Communities 
 

 
Employees (by Directorate):  

 L Albrighton, Highways and Transportation 
R Back, Planning and Regulation 
S Bennett, Law and Governance 
M Bharaj, Planning and Regulation 
D Henry, Planning and Regulation  
A Lynch, Planning and Regulation 
U Patel, Law and Governance 
F Runacre, Planning and Regulation  
R Thomas, Highways and Transportation 
C Thomson, Law and Governance  
 
 

Apologies: None 

 
Public Business 
 
155. Declarations of Interest  

 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

156. Members Declarations of Contact on Planning Applications  
 
The Members named declared contacts on the following application as indicated:  
 

Application No.  Councillor  From 

FUL/2020/3127 
  

Councillor Andrews 
Councillor Harvard 
Councillor Lloyd 

Local residents 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



 

 
– 2 – 

 

 
157. Late Representations  

 
The Committee noted a tabled report which summarised late representations and 
responses on the following:  
 

Application Site Minute 

FUL/2020/3127 6-7 Spencer Road 
 

159 

ADV/2020/2765 377 Green Lane 
 

161 

 
 

158. Application S73/2021/0337 - Land to the North and South of A45  
 
Application S73/2021/0337 – Land to the North and South of A45, was deferred to 
a future meeting. 
 

159. Application FUL/2020/3127 - 6-7 Spencer Road  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Strategic Lead for Planning, detailing 
the above application for a proposed change of use of existing student 
accommodation (sui generis) to supported housing for homeless persons (sui 
generis), with no physical internal or external alterations to existing building, which 
was recommended for approval. 
 
A member of the public spoke in respect of his objections to the application. The 
applicant’s representative spoke in support of the application.  
 
RESOLVED that planning permission be granted in respect of Application 
FUL/2020/3127 subject conditions and the completion of a S106 Agreement 
to ensure the use remains for the purposes of housing homeless persons. 
 
(Note: Councillor L Kelly did not take part in the decision or voting on this 
application as she was not present for the whole presentation). 
 

160. Application FUL/2020/2781 - 300 Kingfield Road  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Strategic Lead for Planning, detailing 
the above application for a change of use of premises from Use Class B2 'general 
industry' to use as a fitness centre falling within Use Class E 'Commercial, 
Business and Service', which was recommended for refusal. 
 
Councillor B Kaur, a Foleshill Ward Councillor, submitted a statement which was 
read at the meeting in support of the application.   The applicant spoke in support 
for the application.  
 
Following consideration of the report and matters raised at the meeting, Members 
considered that the proposed use as a fitness centre was acceptable and were 
satisfied that access to the premises for pedestrians was safe.  
 

Page 12



 

 
– 3 – 

 

RESOLVED that planning permission be approved in respect of Application 
FUL/2020/2781 and that Officers be delegated to apply appropriate 
conditions. 
 

161. Application ADV/2020/2765 - 377 Green Lane  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Strategic Lead for Planning, detailing 
the above application for a display of new fascia board with illuminated signage to 
the front and non-illuminated signage to the side, which was recommended for 
approval. 
 
The Late Representation report indicated that amended plans had been received 
to show a pitched roof in accordance with the previously approved permission. 
 
A registered speaker sent a statement which was read at the meeting in respect of 
their objections to the application and the applicant’s representative had a 
statement read at the meeting in support of the application.  
 
RESOLVED that advertisement consent be granted in respect of Application 
ADV/2020/2765 subject conditions. 
 

162. Outstanding Issues  
 
There were no outstanding issues. 
 

163. Any other items of public business which the Chair decides to take as 
matters of urgency because of the special circumstances involved  

 
There were no other items of public business. 
 
 
 
 

(Meeting closed at 4.15 pm)  

  

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



 
– 1 – 

 

Coventry City Council 
Minutes of the Meeting of Planning Committee held at 2.00 pm on Thursday, 22 

April 2021 
 

Present:  

Members: Councillor L Harvard (Chair) 

 Councillor N Akhtar 
Councillor P Akhtar 
Councillor A Andrews 
Councillor R Auluck (Deputy Chair) 
Councillor R Bailey 
Councillor G Lloyd 
Councillor C Miks 
Councillor D Skinner 
Councillor S Walsh 
 

Other Members: Councillor B Gittins 
Councillor G Williams 

 
Employees (by Directorate):  

 L Albrighton, Highways and Transportation 
S Bennett, Law and Governance 
L D’Onofrio, Planning and Regulation 
R Edgington, Planning and Regulation 
S Evans, Law and Governance 
R Hall, Highways and Transportation 
D Leadon, Planning and Regulation 
A Lynch, Planning and Regulation 
U Patel, Law and Governance 
F Runacre, Planning and Regulation 
A Saleem, Planning and Regulation 
C Sinclair, Law and Governance 
R Thomas, Highways and Transportation 
A Walster, Director of Streetscene and Regulatory Services 
 

Apologies: Councillor L Kelly and D Welsh (Cabinet Member for Housing 
and Communities) 
 

 
Public Business 
 
164. Declarations of Interest  

 
Councillor A Andrews declared an “Other Relevant Interest” in the items referred 
to in Minutes 169, 170 and 171 below (Applications OUT/2020/2876 – City Centre 
South, LB/2020/2858 – Retail Market Queen Victoria Road and LB/2020/2860 – 
8A Bull Yard). The interest arose through his role at the West Midlands Combined 
Authority. He remained in the meeting for the consideration and voting on the 
applications. 
 

Page 15



 

 
– 2 – 

 

 
 

165. Members Declarations of Contact on Planning Applications  
 
The Members named declared a contact on the following applications as 
indicated:  
 

Application No.  Councillor  From 

S73/2021/0337 – Land to 
the North and South of 
A45 

All members of 
Committee 

Objectors  

OUT/2020/2876 – City 
Centre South 
 

All members of 
Committee 

Objectors 

LB/2020/2857 – Retail 
Market Queen Victoria 
Road 

All members of 
Committee 

Objectors 

LB/2020/2860 – 8A Bull 
Yard 

All members of 
Committee 

Objectors 

 
166. Minutes of Previous Meeting held on 25 March 2021  

 
 The minutes of the meeting held on 25 March 2021 were agreed as a true record.  
 

167. Late Representations  
 
The Committee noted a tabled report which summarised late representations and 
responses on the following:  
 

Application Site Minute 

S73/2021/0337 Land to the North and South of A45 
 

168 

OUT/2020/2876 City Centre South 
 

169 

LB/2020/2860 8A Bull Yard 
 

171 

FUL/2020/2053  Coombe Social Club Brinklow Road 
 

172 

FUL/2021/0221 43(Ground Floor) Earlsdon Street 
 

173 

 
168. Application S73/2021/0337 - Land to the North and South of A45  

 
The Committee considered a report of the Strategic Lead for Planning detailing the 
above application for the removal of condition 19 to remove the requirement for 
layby imposed on planning permission FUL/2019/2671 for construction of grade 
separated junction with associated access roads, landscaping, drainage and 
engineering works granted on 25 June 2020.  
 
The proposal relates to previous application FUL/2019/2671 which was granted 
permission last year for a grade separated junction with associated access roads, 
landscaping, drainage and engineering works. This permission included the 

Page 16



 

 
– 3 – 

 

closure of an existing layby on the westbound carriageway. Condition 19 of that 
permission requires a suitable replacement layby to be provided and requires an 
options report to be submitted which identifies a suitable replacement facility. The 
application now made under Section 73 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 (as amended) is for that condition to be removed. If approved there would be 
no requirement for a replacement layby the application states that this is required 
as “following technical work undertaken, and dialogue with the City Council, it has 
been confirmed that no suitable (safe), deliverable option exists”.  
 
The late representation document tabled at the meeting appraised a further 
objection received since the publication of the report.  
 
Councillor G Williams, a Bablake Ward Councillor was present at the meeting and 
spoke in respect of his objections to the application. A couple of registered 
speakers had their statement read in respect of their objections to the application.  
 
Following consideration of the report and the representations made at the meeting, 
the Committee noted and expressed disappointment that a formal response to the 
consultation had not been submitted by Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council.  
 
RESOLVED that planning permission be granted in respect of Application 
S73/2021/0337 subject to conditions.   
 

169. Application OUT/2020/2876 - City Centre South  
 
The Committee considered reports of the Strategic Lead for Planning and received 
a comprehensive presentation detailing connected applications for the hybrid City 
Centre South, the Listed Building Consent for the Retail Market Queen Victoria 
Road and the Listed Building Consent for 8A Bull Yard. Although the Committee 
received one overarching presentation, a decision was taken on each application 
separately.   The applications were as per the following:   
 
A: Full application for removal of bridge link between Coventry Market roof top car 
park and roof top parking over existing retail units on Markey Way and associated 
reinstatement works to roof top car park surface and balustrade, removal of 
existing Coventry Markey basement ramp from Rover Road and associated 
infilling and reinstatement works, works to retaining wall to north-east of Coventry 
Market, removal of existing pedestrian ramp into Coventry Market off Rover Road, 
creation of new Coventry Market basement ramp from Queen Victoria Road and 
associated works to Coventry Market basement, and removal and relocation of 
William Mitchell mural from front elevation of the former Three Tuns Public House 
building in the Bull Yard; Outline application:  
B: For part of the site (as defined within the Application Boundary Area Plan) for 
the demolition of all existing buildings and redevelopment of the land for mixed 
uses, including details of the layout and scale of new development, with details of 
access, appearance and landscaping reserved; and  
C: For part of the site for the demolition of all existing buildings and the 
redevelopment of the land for mixed use, with details of access, layout, scale, 
appearance and landscaping reserved. The scheme comprises a mixed use 
redevelopment of up to 1,300 residential units (Class C3), up to 150 hotel rooms 
(Class C1), up to 37,500sqm of mixed-use non-residential floorspace including 
Class E Commercial, Business and Service uses, Class F.1 Learning and Non-

Page 17



 

 
– 4 – 

 

Residential Institutions, and Sui Generis Pub or Drinking Establishment/Hot Food 
Takeaway/Cinema uses, hard and soft landscaping and new public open spaces 
including sustainable urban drainage systems, car parking provision and formation 
of new pedestrian and vehicular access and stopping up of existing highway.  
 
LB/2020/2857 – Listed Building Consent for: Removal of bridge link between 
Coventry Market roof top car park and roof top parking over existing retail units on 
Market Way and associated reinstatement works to roof top car park surface and 
balustrade, removal of existing Coventry Market basement ramp from Rover Road 
and associated infilling and reinstatement works, works to retaining wall to north-
east of Coventry Market, removal of existing pedestrian ramp into Coventry Market 
off Rover Road, creation of a new Coventry Market basement ramp from Queen 
Victoria Road and associated works to Coventry Market basement.  
 
LB/2020/2860 – Listed Building Consent for: Removal and relocation of the Grade 
II listed William Mitchell Mural from the front elevation to a new location to be 
agreed in writing with Coventry City Council in consultation with Historic England.  
 
The late representations document tabled at the meeting corrected typos within 
the officer report where listed building consent reference LB/2020/2857 was 
incorrectly referred to as LB/2020/2875. In addition, the document appraised 
further representations received and outlined additional and amended conditions.  
 
A registered speaker was present at the meeting and spoke in respect of his 
objections to the application. Councillor J O’Boyle, Cabinet Member for Jobs and 
Regeneration, attended the meeting and spoke in support of the application. The 
Applicant’s representative also spoke in support of the application.  
 
RESOLVED that the grant of planning permission be delegated to the 
Strategic Lead for Planning in respect of Application OUT/2020/2876 and the 
associated applications for Listed Building Consent reference LB/2020/2857 
and LB/2020/2860, subject to the conditions listed in the report and the late 
representations document and the completion of a S106 Legal agreement to 
secure the review of contributions and obligations at subsequent Reserved 
Matters stage, as identified within the report and subject to the Secretary of 
State not wishing to intervene regarding determination of the application(s).  
  
 

170. Application LB/2020/2857 - Retail Market Queen Victoria Road  
 
Further to Minute 169 above, the Committee considered a report of the Strategic 
Lead for Planning detailing the above application for the removal of bridge link 
between Coventry Market roof top car park and roof top parking over existing retail 
units on Market Way and associated reinstatement works to roof top car park 
surface and balustrade, removal of existing Coventry Market basement ramp from 
Rover Road and associated infilling and reinstatement works, works to retaining 
wall to north-east of Coventry Market, removal of existing pedestrian ramp into 
Coventry Market off Rover Road, creation of new Coventry Market basement ramp 
from Queen Victoria Road and associated works to Coventry Market basement.  
 
RESOLVED that planning permission be granted in respect of application for 
Listed Building Consent, reference LB/2020/2857 relating to works to 

Page 18



 

 
– 5 – 

 

Coventry Market, subject to conditions and the Secretary of State not 
wishing to intervene regarding determination of the application.  
 

171. Application LB/2020/2860 - 8A Bull Yard  
 
Further to Minute 169 above the Committee considered a report of the Strategic 
Lead for Planning detailing the above application for Listed Building Consent for 
the removal and relocation of the Grade II listed William Mitchell Mural from the 
front elevation to a new location to be agreed in writing with Coventry City Council 
in consultation with historic England. 
 
The late representations document tabled at the meeting summarised an 
additional representation received following the publication of the report.  
 
RESOLVED that planning permission be granted in respect of the 
application for Listed Building Consent, reference LB/2020/2860 relating to 
the Three Tuns Mural, subject to conditions and the Secretary of State not 
wishing to intervene regarding determination of the application.  
 

172. Application FUL/2020/2053 - Coombe Social Club Brinklow Road  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Strategic Lead for Planning detailing the 
above application for the erection of patio/smoking area with new boundary walls 
and railings, alongside a new draught lobby and landscaping. The application was 
recommended for refusal.  
 
The late representations document tabled at the meeting reported on an additional 
representation that had been received following publication of the report and made 
reference to two petitions that had been received, one in support of the application 
and one objecting to the application.  
 
A registered speaker attended the meeting and spoke in respect of her objections 
to the application.  The Committee considered the petition in support of the 
application bearing 618 signatures sponsored by Councillor F Abbott, a Wyken 
Ward Councillor. Councillor Abbott and the Applicant, who submitted the petition, 
were present at the meeting and spoke in support of the application.  
 
Following consideration of the report and the representations made at the meeting, 
the Committee considered that the application would be acceptable with 
appropriate conditions attached in respect of materials, usage of the external area 
to be limited to club members and no later than 10.00pm, a management plan 
detailing how the external area is to be managed and conditions consistent with 
those recommended by highways.   
 
RESOLVED that planning permission be granted in respect of Application 
FUL/2020/2053, subject to conditions.  
 
 

173. Application FUL/2021/0221 - 43(Ground Floor) Earlsdon Street  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Strategic Lead for Planning detailing the 
above application for the change of use of ground floor from retail (Use Class E) to 

Page 19



 

 
– 6 – 

 

restaurant/takeaway (Sui Generis) with extract flue. The application was 
recommended for refusal.  
 
The Committee considered a petition objecting to the application bearing 72 
signatures sponsored by Councillor B Gittins, an Earlsdon Ward Councillor. 
Councillor Gittins and Councillor G Williams, the petition organiser attended the 
meeting and spoke in respect of the petition.  The Applicant had submitted a 
statement in support of his application, which was read out on his behalf.  
 
RESOLVED that planning permission be refused in respect of Application 
FUL/2020/0221.  
 
(Note: Councillor N Akhtar did not vote on this application as he had left the 
meeting.) 
 

174. Application FUL/2020/2879 - Land Adjacent to Spring Cottage Watery Lane  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Strategic Lead for Planning detailing the 
above application for the erection of a detached 3 bedroomed bungalow with 
detached double garage and associated parking and landscaping, following 
demolition of existing buildings. The application was recommended for refusal.  
 
A registered speaker attended the meeting and spoke in support of the application. 
The applicant’s agent was present at the meeting and also spoke in support of the 
application.  
 
RESOLVED that planning permission be refused in respect of Application 
FUL/2020/2879.  
 
(Note: Councillor N Akhtar did not vote on the application as he had left the 
meeting.)  
 

175. Outstanding Issues  
 
There were no outstanding issues.  
 

176. Any other items of public business which the Chair decides to take as 
matters of urgency because of the special circumstances involved  

 
1. Further to Minute 137 of the meeting held on 4 March 2021, the Committee   
received a verbal update in respect of Application OUT/2019/0022, Land at 
Fivefield Road and Tamworth Road which was approved subject to conditions.  
 
The approval included Condition 17 which stated that “There shall be a buffer of at 
least 15m from the ancient woodland boundary, where no development is 
permitted. No buildings shall be permitted within 25m of the ancient boundary”.  

 
The Committee were informed that this was superseded by a recommendation 
from Ecology which stated that there should be a buffer of at least 20m from the 
ancient woodland boundary where no development is permitted, and no buildings 
shall be permitted within 30m of the ancient boundary.  

 

Page 20



 

 
– 7 – 

 

RESOLVED that Condition 17 be amended as outlined above.  
 
2. The Chair referred to Councillor A Andrews and Councillor L Kelly who were not   
    standing in the forthcoming Municipal Elections. 
 
   The Chair and Members of the Committee paid tribute to the work carried out by  
    the Councillors and wished them well for the future.   
 

 
 
 
 
 

(Meeting closed at 6.40 pm)  

  

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Planning Committee Report 
Planning Ref:  OUT/2019/0484 
Site:  Thompsons Farm, Thompsons Road 
Ward: Bablake 
Proposal: Outline permission for the erection of up to 500 residential 

dwellings with all matters reserved with the exception of 
access and comprising of: The demolition of Thompsons 
Cottage and associated buildings; Provision of green 
infrastructure including strategic open space, sustainable 
urban drainage, green networks, play space and 
associated structural and general landscaping; A vehicular 
access point and emergency access point onto Bennetts 
Road North; Network of pedestrian and cycle routes; and 
All associated infrastructure and enabling works 

Case Officer: Dean Leadon 
 
SUMMARY 
This is an outline application for development of agricultural land allocated for residential 
development within the Keresley Sustainable Urban Extension (SUE). The proposal is to 
redevelop the site for up to 500 residential dwellings of mixed size, tenure and type. This 
application deals with vehicular access/egress for the site and includes demolition of the 
existing cottage located off Bennetts Road North and associated buildings. The provision 
of green infrastructure and a network of pedestrian and cycle routes with associated 
infrastructure also form part of the proposals. 
 
All detailed matters are reserved except for access, which is to be considered in detail as 
part of this proposal. 
 
The main issues to be considered are the principle of development; impact on the 
landscape / character of the area; highway considerations; drainage and flood risk; air 
quality; green infrastructure; and developer contributions. 
 
BACKGROUND 
The site was previously designated Green Belt land, however it was removed from the 
Green Belt following independent examination by an Inspector at Local Plan Examination 
in Public and allocated for a Sustainable Urban Extension (herein after referred to as the 
SUE) under Policy DS4 (Part D) of the Coventry Local Plan 2016.  The specific housing 
requirements are allocated under Policy H2:2 of the Coventry Local Plan, 2016. 
 
The application site was allocated for residential development via the Coventry Local Plan 
adopted in December 2017 as part of the SUE at Keresley. The Keresley SUE was 
identified to deliver 3,100 new homes 
 
KEY FACTS 
Reason for report to 
committee: 

More than 5 representations contrary to recommendation 

Current use of site: Agriculture  
Proposed use of site: Residential 

Page 23

Agenda Item 6



 
 

Maximum number of 
dwellings: 

500 

Area of Site: 20.7ha 
Percentage of site to be 
developed (houses, 
gardens and roads: 

74% 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
Planning committee are recommended to grant planning permission, subject to the 
conditions listed in the report and the completion of the S106 legal agreement to secure 
the contributions listed within the report; and 
 
Delegate authority to the Strategic Lead Planning (following consultation with the Chair 
of Planning Committee) to agree any amendments to these conditions and any S106 
triggers/contributions set out within the report, which are considered necessary. 
 
REASON FOR DECISION 

 The proposal is consistent with an allocation in an up to date development plan 
and is acceptable in principle.  

 The proposal will not adversely impact upon highway safety, air quality, ancient 
woodland or ecology. 

 The proposal makes provision for necessary developer contributions. 
 The proposal accords with Policies DS1, DS3, DS4, H1, H2, H3, H4: H6, H9, GE1, 

GE3, GE4, DE1, HE2, JE7, HW1, AC1,  AC2, AC3, AC4, AC5, EM1, EM2, EM3, 
EM4, EM5,  EM6, EM7 and IM1 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016, together with 
the aims of the NPPF. 

 
 
  

Page 24



 
 

BACKGROUND 
 
APPLICATION PROPOSAL 
The application is for up to 500 dwellings with primary vehicular access to the site 
proposed on the west side Bennetts Road North and a secondary emergency access 
also proposed further south. The primary access would be located approximately 20m 
north west of the junction with Grove Lane which is located on the opposite side (west 
side) of Bennetts Road North. The emergency access would be located approximately 
30m south of the junction with Grove Lane. Both of these accesses are directly opposite 
existing semi-detached housing located on the east side of Bennetts Road North. The 
primary access would link to a central avenue within the application site (subject to 
detailed design). 
 
The green infrastructure within the site would be located within various areas. At the 
northern corner of the site an attenuation basin is proposed which would attach to an 
existing area of vegetation on the north east corner. To the North West boundary, a green 
swathe of vegetation would be provided with the existing vegetation being retained and 
further green landscaping being introduced. This would provide a green buffer between 
the development and the adjoining playing fields and Lower Rock Farm by further green 
infrastructure. To the east of the existing pond (to be retained) which sits immediately to 
the south of the proposed ‘central avenue’ two further attenuation basins with additional 
landscaping are proposed. Immediately to the west of the pond is the indicative location 
of a play area. Further landscaped areas are proposed to the south east and southern 
corners of the site including a further attenuation basin. All of the landscaping is subject 
to detailed design although the parameters would be fixed by the relevant parameters 
plan. 
 
The application proposes a mix of housing types, tenure and size to be clarified at the 
detailed design stage. The parameter plan submitted limits the housing to 2 storeys in 
height on the boundaries of the site with the exception of the north east corner near to 
the proposed access where dwellings would be between 2 and 3 storeys in height. The 
‘central avenue’ would be limited to between 2 and 3 storey height with building heights 
being 2 to 2.5 storey further within the site. 
 
Of the 20.7ha site 5.4ha is undeveloped which equates to 26% of the site comprising 
formal and informal open space including sustainable drainage, landscaped buffer, 
planting and a children’s play area. 
 
The proposal is supported by an Environmental Statement, with chapters covering the 
following issues: socio economic issues, landscape and visual issues, ecology and nature 
conservation, archaeological and cultural heritage, ground conditions, water resources, 
transport and access, noise and vibration, and air quality. 
 
SITE DESCRIPTION 
The site which sits on the administrative boundary with North Warwickshire is located on 
the western side of Bennetts Road North and to the North of Thompsons Road. The site 
is the northern most site within the Keresley SUE. The surrounding area is mixed in nature 
with pockets of commercial uses within close proximity to the application site. 
Immediately to the north of the site is a farm and playing fields. Existing housing is located 

Page 25



 
 

to the east and to the south of the site on Thompson’s Road. Immediately to the west is 
existing agricultural woodland. 
 
The site is currently agricultural arable land and gently undulates with the lowest point 
located towards the centre of the eastern boundary. The site is divided into small fields 
separated by small hedgerows and related hedgerow trees. On the northern boundary is 
an existing hedgerow with trees which will be retained. Similarly, the existing hedgerow 
to the western boundary will be retained. Towards the centre of the site is an existing 
pond which the applicant intends to retain.  
 
PLANNING HISTORY 
There have been a number of historic planning applications on this site; the following are 
the most recent/relevant: 
 
Application 
Number 

Description of Development Decision and Date 

R/2005.0789 Change of Use from arable land to 
sports playing field in association with 
existing rugby football club(Bennetts 
Road North) 

Approved 8th July 2005 

SCO/2018/3007 Scoping Opinion for Proposed 
development of up to 500 
dwellings(Thompsons Road, 
Thompsons Farm) 

Decision 21st December 
2018 

 
POLICY 
National Policy Guidance 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). The NPPF sets out the Government’s 
planning policies for England and how these are expected to be applied. It sets out the 
Government’s requirements for the planning system only to the extent that is relevant, 
proportionate and necessary to do so.  The NPPF increases the focus on achieving high 
quality design and states that it is “fundamental to what the planning and development 
process should achieve”. 
  
The National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)  adds further context to the NPPF and 
it is intended that the two documents are read together. 
 
Local Policy Guidance 
The current local policy is provided within the Coventry Local Plan 2016, which was 
adopted by Coventry City Council on 6th December 2017.  Relevant policy relating to this 
application is: 
Policy DS1: Overall Development Needs 
Policy DS3: Sustainable Development Policy 
Policy DS4: (Part A) – General Masterplan Principles 
Policy H1: Housing Land Requirements 
Policy H2: Housing Allocations 
Policy H3: Provision of New Housing 
Policy H4: Securing a Mix of Housing 
Policy H6: Affordable Housing 

Page 26



 
 

Policy H9: Residential Density 
Policy GE1 Green Infrastructure 
Policy GE3: Biodiversity, Geological, Landscape and Archaeological Conservation 
Policy GE4: Tree Protection 
Policy JE7: Accessibility to Employment Opportunities 
Policy DE1 Ensuring High Quality Design 
Policy HE2: Conservation and Heritage Assets 
Policy AC1: Accessible Transport Network 
Policy AC2: Road Network 
Policy AC3: Demand Management 
Policy AC4: Walking and Cycling 
Policy AC5: Bus and Rapid Transit 
Policy EM1: Planning for Climate Change Adaptation 
Policy EM2: Building Standards 
Policy EM3 Renewable Energy Generation 
Policy EM4 Flood Risk Management 
Policy EM5 Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) 
Policy EM7 Air Quality 
Policy IM1: Developer Contributions for Infrastructure 
 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance/ Documents (SPG/ SPD): 
SPG Design Guidelines for New Residential Development 
SPD Delivering a More Sustainable City 
SPD Coventry Connected 
 
CONSULTATION 
No Objections received from: 

 Sustainability  
 Ramblers Association  
 Planning Policy  
 Natural England  
 Housing and Policy  
 Environment Agency  
 Conservation 

No objections subject to conditions/contributions have been received from: 
 Highways England 
 Coventry City Highways  
 West Midlands Fire Service  
 Sport England  
 Education  
 Lead Local Flood Authority  
 Warwickshire County Council (Highways)  
 Trees  
 Sport and Active Recreation  
 Skills and Employment  
 Parks Service  
 North Warwickshire Borough Council  

Page 27



 
 

 Nuneaton and Bedworth Borough Council 
 NHS (Community Care Group)  
 NHS (Acute and Emergency Care)  
 Environmental Protection 
 Ecology  
 Public Right of Way Officer 

Objections have been received from: 
 Transport for West Midlands 

At the time of writing the report comments have not been received from:  
 Severn Trent Water  
 Coal Authority  
 Archaeology  

Immediate neighbours and local councillors have been notified; site notices were posted 
and a press notice was displayed in the Coventry Telegraph on 14th March 2019. Further 
notification letters were sent out on 22nd October 2019 following receipt of amended plans 
and additional information.  
 
35 letters of objection have been received, raising the following material planning 
considerations: 
a) That the proposal would be to the detriment of the adjoining Ancient woodland and 

Ancient Arden Landscape 
b) That the loss of Greenbelt is not necessary due to the inaccurate population boom  
c) That the proposal would impact on local health 
d) That the proposal would greatly reduce biodiversity 
e) That too much traffic would be created 
f) That Air pollution would be increased to unsuitable levels 
g) Road safety concerns 
h) That the proposal would harm wildlife 
i) Lack of an infrastructure strategy to the detriment of existing infrastructure 
j) That the proposal would result in a loss of privacy 
k) There is an insufficient Buffer from the development to the ancient woodland 
l) The existing Drainage is poor 
m) The design of the proposal is substandard 
n) There is no cycle route proposed 
o) There is no provision for recreation  
p) There would be an increase in crime as a result of the proposal.  
q) There is no greenspace or allotment space.  
r) That the number of houses being built are not required due to external factors such 

as Brexit 

Within the letters received the following non-material planning considerations were 
raised, these cannot be given due consideration in the planning process: 
s) People will not be able to afford the new houses 
t) The houses should be built on brownfield land 
u) Equestrian access rights are allegedly required for Thompsons Road  
 
Councillor Williams has raised the following concerns: 

Page 28



 
 

- That the proposal is unsustainable due to the number of dwellings proposed and the 
lack of amenities with only one entrance to the site.  

- Traffic is already a problem on Bennetts Road North and this will make it worse and 
if Traffic is heading into Coventry it will have to use the already congested Bennetts 
Road South.  

- There is no provision for a primary school or doctors and no thought has been given 
to the infrastructure generally required to accommodate the development  

- That the T Junction does little to slow traffic down. 

A question was also raised as to if the cottage demolished for access was done so 
unnecessarily. 
 
Councillor Birdi has raised general concerns in respect of highways, the impact on the 
NHS and housing densities. 
 
APPRAISAL 
The main issues in determining this application are: principle of development; landscape 
/ visual amenity; heritage assets; highway considerations; flood risk; air quality; ancient 
woodland; green infrastructure; and contributions. 
 
Principle of development 
The Council is required to make decisions in accordance with the statutory development 
plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. (Section 38(6) PCPA 2004 and 
Section 70(2) TCPA 1990). The statutory development plan is the Coventry Local Plan 
adopted in December 2017. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is a key 
material planning consideration. 
 
The site is allocated for development by Policy H2, as part of the Keresley SUE. The 
policy states that the allocation will provide: 3100 dwellings; two local centres, a two-form 
entry primary school and contributions towards a secondary school. Surrounding junction 
improvements are also required as are retention of relevant ecological features and 
enhancement of screening to existing residential areas. Furthermore, a distributor link 
road connecting Long Lane and Winding House Lane is required to be fully operational 
prior to the full completion of the SUE. The new primary school is located elsewhere 
within the SUE within the Taylor Wimpey site. The Link Road does not pass through the 
application site but a S.106 contribution has been made towards its construction. The 
proposal also makes a planning contribution towards required junction improvements and 
retains and enhances ecological features as appropriate. 
 
Policy R1 allocates two new local Centres for inclusion within the Keresley SUE. The 
southern local centre already benefits from outline planning permission and will be 
provided adjacent to Bennetts Road as part of the land currently being developed by 
Taylor Wimpey. Prior to the submission of this application, discussions were had 
regarding whether or not a northern local centre should be provided on this site. After 
detailed consideration, it was decided by officers that it was not essential to provide a 
northern local centre within the SUE, due to the presence of some local shops / services 
within Keresley End village.   
 
Arguments have been made regarding the impact of Brexit in reducing the future demand 
for housing in the City, thus triggering the need for a Local Plan review. However, 

Page 29



 
 

following the logic of this argument would result in all Local Plans in the Country being 
deemed out of date, as these issues affect the whole country. This cannot be a tenable 
argument. Whilst the long-term impacts of Brexit will not be known for some time, it is not 
considered to be reasonable to simply stop development of all major allocated sites 
across the Country whilst the extent of impact, if any, is considered. Besides, if it is 
concluded that the housing policies in the Local Plan are out of date, the ‘tilted balance’ 
of paragraph 11d of the NPPF would have to be applied, which requires planning 
permission to be granted unless: policies in the NPPF that protect areas or assets of 
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or 
any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the Policies in the NPPF as a whole. 
 
The principle of the loss of best and most versatile agricultural land was established when 
the site was allocated for development in the Local Plan. 
 
In conclusion, the principle of development is considered to be acceptable and in 
accordance with the Council’s adopted Local Plan.  
 
Impact on landscape / visual amenity 

 
 
Highway considerations 
Policy AC1 ‘Accessible Transport Network’ states that development proposals which are 
expected to generate additional trips on the transport network should: a) Integrate with 
existing transport networks including roads, public transport and walking and cycling 
routes to promote access by a choice of transport modes. b) Consider the transport and 
accessibility needs of everyone living, working or visiting the city. c) Support the delivery 
of new and improved high-quality local transport networks which are closely integrated 
into the built form. d) Actively support the provision and integration of emerging and future 
intelligent mobility infrastructure. 

A landscape and visual appraisal forms part of the Environmental Statement. This 
identifies the impact upon the surrounding area of the proposal. 
 
Overall, the Proposed Development will result in some limited impacts at a localised
level. The scale and form is likely to result in impacts which are limited to the site area 
and its immediate context, which generally include the settlement edge of Keresley 
End at Bennetts Road North and Thompsons Road. 
 
A range of landscape and visual receptors have been tested and impacts have been 
identified for both landscape character and for visual receptors. This includes an
iterative process whereby potential impacts have informed the landscape strategy 
for the site and mitigation has become ingrained in the Proposed Development. 
 
The residual impacts identified as part of this process highlight that the greater degree 
of impact relates to the site and to a very localised area immediately adjacent to the 
site; the effect on potential receptor groups in the wider landscape context will be 
generally very limited. 
 
Overall landscape and visual effects are not considered to be significant and
consequently, on balance, the Proposed Development is considered acceptable in 
landscape and visual terms. 

Page 30



 
 

 
Policy AC3 of the Local Plan acknowledges that the provision of car parking can influence 
occurrences of inappropriate on-street parking which can block access routes for 
emergency, refuse and delivery vehicles, block footways preventing access for 
pedestrians, reduce visibility at junctions and impact negatively on the street scene.  
Proposals for the provision of car parking associated with new development will be 
assessed on the basis of parking standards set out in Appendix 5.  The car parking 
standards also include requirements for the provision of electric car charging and cycle 
parking infrastructure. 
 
Transport Assessment – Junction Assessments 
The application is accompanied by a Transport Assessment (TA) with junction 
assessments being reviewed against agreed future year scenarios taking into 
consideration the scenarios of other sites being built and then with the Keresley Link 
Road. The following junctions are relevant in this regard. 
 
Site Access Junctions  
 
Junction 1 is the Site Access/Bennetts Road North/Grove Lane Roundabout. The 
proposed access to the site was repositioned in November 2019 following an issue in 
term of securing the required visibility for highway safety purposes. The resulting priority 
junction has now been assessed and is considered a suitable access to the site from both 
a capacity and safety point of view. The site access has been through various 
amendments which have improved road markings, crossing points and swept paths of 
vehicles accessing the site. The Highway Authority are now satisfied that the access as 
designed can accommodate the sorts of vehicles typical of a residential development of 
this scale. 
 
Off Site Junctions  
 
The impact of the proposed development on the following off-site junctions has been 
assessed: 
 
Junction 2 B4098 Tamworth Road/Fivefield Road  
 
Junction 3: Bennetts Road/Sandpits Lane 
 
Junction 4:Bennetts Road South/Penny Park Lane 
 
Junction 5: B4098 Tamworth Road/Green Road/The Scotchill/B4098 Keresley Road 
 
Junction 6: Parkville Highway/Parkgate Road/Beake Avenue/Penny Park Lane 
 
Junction 7: Long Lane/Brownshill Green Road/B4076 Coundon Wedge Drive/Wall Hill 
Road 
 
The flow data has been assessed for all of the off-site junctions and a November 2019 
response from PJA shows that these junctions would operate with spare capacity in the 
2026 future year scenarios. The Local Highway Authority’s assessment of these 

Page 31



 
 

proposals concludes that there are no further issues to report in terms of junction 
capacity. 
 
Highway Safety – The local highway authority is content with the details of the collision 
data and accept that no highway safety concerns have been presented which would 
require further assessment. 
 
The Keresley SUE Link Road beyond the application site is being promoted by Coventry 
City Council on the basis that it is to be funded by developments along or adjacent to its 
proposed route. It was included in the Local Plan process culminating in publication in 
December 2017. With this in mind, CCC expects this developer to fund a proportionate 
part of the Keresley Link Road beyond their site boundary in a similar way to other 
promoters within the Keresley SUE. 
 
Public Right of Way 
The applicant is aware that a claim has been made to add a bridleway to the definitive 
map along Thompson’s Lane and that if this claim is successful then the LHA would 
expect a financial contribution from the developer to bring the route up to a suitable 
standard for horse riders, cyclists and pedestrians. Such a contribution will be part of a 
section 106 legal agreement between the developer and the City Council. The required 
contribution is included in the highway developer contributions table below.  
 
Residential Travel Plan 
A Travel Plan also accompanies the application. This has been prepared in accordance 
with the guidance set out in the Department for Transport’s publications ‘Good Practice 
Guidelines: Delivering Travel Plans through the Planning Process’ (April 2009) and 
‘Making Residential Travel Plans Work: Guidelines for New Development’ 
(September 2005). 
 
The principal objective of a Travel Plan is to reduce the amount of single occupancy car 
travel to and from a site. This objective can be achieved through a package of measures 
that seek to: 
• Reduce reliance on the car through the reduction in the length and number of motorised 
journeys, in particular those carried out in single occupancy vehicles. 
• Promote the use of alternative means of travel which are more sustainable and 
environmentally friendly. 
• Reduce emissions. 
 
A number of measures have been taken following the submission of the Travel Plan and 
subsequent discussions with the local highway authority 
 
In terms of the suitability of public transport links, following concerns being raised over 
the distances to the nearest bus stops, a transport hub, ‘super bus stop’ within the site 
has now been proposed and is deemed acceptable. An indicative location has been 
identified approximately within the centre of the site on the central street loop, which has 
been marked on the masterplan. It is considered that this location is the most appropriate 
for the following reasons: 
• Being located on the central street loop would allow the bus to turn without the need to 
provide additional infrastructure. Given that Coventry state that this stop would allow 

Page 32



 
 

buses to stand for a short time before continuing back into Coventry, this is not considered 
to affect existing journey times; and 
• The location allows for the majority of residents to be located within an approximate 
400m walk distance from the stop. 
 
Whilst the exact details will be determined at the reserved matters stage, it is anticipated 
that the facility will comprise a sheltered waiting area, real time timetable information and 
cycle parking as requested by CCC. 
 
Furthermore, the proposed S.106 agreement will make provision for an extended bus 
route link to the railway stations at Bedworth or Coventry.  
 
Up to 5 years of mobility credits for each household have been agreed these enable users 
to access a number of modes of alternative transport to the private car including public 
transport car sharing or green hire schemes. 
 
There are significant improvements and contributions towards cycling contained with the 
proposed S.106 agreement. This includes formation of relevant sections of a 
‘superhighway’ contributing to links to Coventry City Centre and rail stations and 
improvements within the immediate vicinity of the site to enable south bound links. 
 
 
Highway developer contributions 
In the interests of clarity, the following CCC highway related developer contributions have 
been requested and agreed by the applicant: 
 
Keresley SUE Link Road Contribution towards cost 

of the link road 
£2,568,585.79 

Public rights of way Resurface Thompson’s 
Lane and legal costs for 
diversion of 
public footpath 

£205,000.00 

Traffic Monitoring Cameras at non-signalised 
junctions 

£7,500.00 

Cycling a) Provide contribution 
towards cost of cycle 
superhighway 
from Long Lane to 
Holyhead Road 

£448,372.63 

 b) Provide contribution 
towards cost of cycle 
superhighway 
from Bennetts Road to 
Barker’s Butts Road 

£860,898.85 

 c) Upgrade of route on 
western side of site to 
shared use 

£100,000.00 

 d) Cycle / eBike / eScooter 
hire scheme 

£20,000.00 TBC 

Page 33



 
 

 e) Cycle lane markings & 
signage on Bennetts Road 
and 
Exhall Road 

TBC 

 f) Road markings, signage 
and informal crossing of 
Bennetts Road at jct with 
Thompsons Road 

TBC 

Mobility Credits Up to 5 years of mobility 
credits for each household 

£545,394.80 

Public Transport (a)Demand responsive 
transport service 

£187,720.85 

 (b) Extension to the 16 / 
16A bus service 

£205,573.00 

Travel Plan Travel plan monitoring £6,800.00 
 Residential Travel Plans £14,125.00 
 Household Surveys £15,039.75 
 Travel Plan Coordinator £32,155.48 
 Traffic surveys to 

determine progress 
towards mode shift 

£20,318.21 

Total  £5,237,484.36 
 
Further Highway contributions have been requested by Warwickshire County Council in respect 
of M6 Junction 3. This is included in the Planning Contributions section of this report with the 
request made on the basis of the increased traffic impact of the collective development identified 
with Coventry and Nuneaton and Bedworth’s local plans.  
 
In addition, modelling has been undertaken to Winding House Lane/Wheelwright Lane junction 
and an improvement scheme has been identified. The full costings of this scheme are not yet 
known and Warwickshire County Council have requested that the scheme be delivered under a 
section 278 highway agreement. Work is still ongoing to refine the cost and the means of delivery. 
 
Flood Risk 
Policy EM4 states that all major developments must be assessed in respect of the level 
of flood risk from all sources.  Policy EM5 states that all development must apply SUDS 
and encourages discharge to a watercourse if infiltration is not possible. 
 
The site lies wholly within flood zone 1. There are no records held by the Environment 
Agency or other consulted organisations of flooding occurring within or close to the site. 
The risk of fluvial flooding to the proposed development will be low. Similarly, the risk of 
surface water flooding affecting the development proposals is identified as low. 
 
The surface water drainage strategy identifies that some run off will infiltrate into the 
ground during low intensity rainfall events however due to low permeability more 
significant rainfall event will result in surface water run-off. Following amendments to the 
strategy 2 of the 3 remaining outfalls will continue to be the main outfalls post 
development these are: 
  

Page 34



 
 

 Outfall 2a and 2b – Natural low point within the site, positive outfall to be created 
into public surface water system with Bennetts Road North 

 Outfall 3 – Existing ditch running north-east along Thompsons Lane 

A series of attenuation basins are proposed linking to the outfalls included a northern 
storage basin which will now link by hydroblake flow control to outfall 2a/2b, two new 
basins linking the existing pond to outfall 2a and 2b and a new southern storage basin 
connecting to outfall 3. 
 
The Lead Local Flood Authority are satisfied with the surface water drainage proposals 
subject to a suitably worded condition.  
 
Air quality 
Policy EM7 states that major development schemes should promote a shift to the use of 
sustainable low emission transport to minimise the impact of vehicle emissions on air 
quality. Development will be located where it is accessible to support the use of 
public transport, walking and cycling. All major development proposals 
should be suitably planned to design out any adverse impact on air 
quality. 
 
The whole of Coventry City falls within an Air Quality Management Area(AQMA).  
 
The submitted Environmental Statement includes an Air Quality chapter, which analyses 
the impact of the development (including the cumulative impact of the development within 
the SUE) upon air quality in the area, as well as the air quality within the site. 
 
The Construction Traffic Assessment identified that the number of vehicles a day was 
estimated to be less than 10 so further assessment of the potential effects on receptors 
near roads is not required as it is only a requirement in an Air Quality Management Area 
should the number of vehicles exceed 25 a day. The dust risk identified has been 
considered during the construction process and it is considered that any potential adverse 
impacts from dust soiling during construction would be minimised so that residual impacts 
would not have a significant effect on adjacent human receptors. 
 
The effects on local air quality from changes in road traffic flows within the proposed 
development within the appropriate year have also been assessed. A number of 
receptors and road links within the vicinity have been considered. The highest increase 
in NO2 concentrations is identified at Parks Leys Medical Practice as this is the closest 
building on Bennetts Road North between Howat Road and Exhall Road and is expected 
to attract the largest increase in traffic as a result of the proposed development. This 
would still fall significantly below the AQS objective of 40micrograms per metre cubed. 
The magnitude in change in annual mean NO2 levels as a result of the development is 
expected to be negligible at all of the receptor locations considered. 
 
Environmental Protection have no objections to the proposal on air quality grounds. They 
have requested conditions in respect of a Construction Environmental Management Plan, 
low NOx boilers and EV Charging points. 
 
 
 

Page 35



 
 

Ancient Woodland 
Policy GE3 of the Local Plan states that Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs), Local 
Nature Reserves (LNRs), Ancient Woodlands, Local Wildlife and Geological Sites will be 
protected and enhanced. 
 
Paragraph 175 of the NPPF states that “development resulting in the loss or deterioration 
of irreplaceable habitats, such as ancient woodland and ancient or veteran trees, should 
be refused unless there are wholly exceptional reasons”. 
 
This proposed development site lies within a valley within the Ancient Arden area of 
Coventry and was previously been managed as agricultural arable land. It is located north 
of an area of designated woodland (Bunsons Wood) 
 
The Forestry Commission and Natural England have produced standing advice to assist 
planning authorities in determining the impact upon ancient woodlands. It states that: 

Direct impacts of development on ancient woodland or ancient and veteran trees 
include: damaging or destroying all or part of them (including their soils, ground flora or 
fungi) 

 damaging roots and understorey (all the vegetation under the taller trees) 
 damaging or compacting soil around the tree roots 
 polluting the ground around them 
 changing the water table or drainage of woodland or individual trees 
 damaging archaeological features or heritage assets 

Nearby development can also have an indirect impact on ancient woodland or ancient 
and veteran trees and the species they support. These can include: 

 breaking up or destroying connections between woodlands and ancient or 
veteran trees 

 reducing the amount of semi-natural habitats next to ancient woodland 
 increasing the amount of pollution, including dust 
 increasing disturbance to wildlife from additional traffic and visitors 
 increasing light or air pollution 
 increasing damaging activities like fly-tipping and the impact of domestic pets 
 changing the landscape character of the area 

 
Mitigation measures will depend on the development but could include: 

 improving the condition of the woodland 
 putting up screening barriers to protect woodland or ancient and veteran trees from 

dust and pollution 
 noise or light reduction measures 
 protecting ancient and veteran trees by designing open space around them 
 identifying and protecting trees that could become ancient and veteran trees in the 

future 
 rerouting footpaths 
 removing invasive species 
 buffer zones 

Page 36



 
 

 
It goes on state that “A buffer zone’s purpose is to protect ancient woodland and individual 
ancient or veteran trees. The size and type of buffer zone should vary depending on the 
scale, type and impact of the development. For ancient woodlands, you should have a 
buffer zone of at least 15 metres to avoid root damage. Where assessment shows other 
impacts are likely to extend beyond this distance, you’re likely to need a larger buffer 
zone. For example, the effect of air pollution from development that results in a significant 
increase in traffic. 
 
Where possible, a buffer zone should contribute to wider ecological networks and be part 
of the green infrastructure of the area. It should consist of semi-natural habitats such as 
woodland and / or a mix of scrub, grassland, heathland and wetland planting. You should 
plant buffer zones with local and appropriate native species. You should consider if 
access is appropriate and can allow access to buffer zones if the habitat is not harmed 
by trampling. You should avoid including gardens and drainage systems in buffer zones”.  
 
Following a request from the City Council’s Arboricultural Officer, the proposals have 
been revised to increase the separation of the proposed development from the offsite 
area of designated ancient woodland (Bunsons Wood). The closest development parcel 
is now c.40m distant, which once designed in detail, is anticipated to result in built forms 
being c.50m from the woodland. This is considered to be a suitable buffer zone to ensure 
the protection of the woodland from the proposed development. 
 
Green Infrastructure 
 
Trees 
A revised comprehensive Arboricultural survey has been submitted with the application 
and all trees are either earmarked for retention or removal.  The survey identifies a 
requirement to remove five individual trees and the partial removal of two groups of trees 
and 7 hedgerows. The removal of three category A English Oaks is unavoidable due to 
the location of access to the site. 
 
The tree officer, raised no objections to the locations of access and general indicative 
layout, subject to; 
• Retention of A cat Oaks T3, 14, 15, plus T43-T47 which are located within 
Group 19. 
• Maintaining a 50m buffer from adjacent ASNW Bunson’s- this would require a 
20m wide strip of Green Infrastructure within the site, located south from the 
Thompson’s Lane boundary. 
• A minimum 10m wide buffer strip of Green Infrastructure to the site side (south) tree 
groups G19 and G20. 
• A plan to show restocking of gaps to existing hedgerows, with local species 
selected from local Ancient Arden guidelines, sourced from local provenance. 
• Full details within Arboricultural Method Statement of any incursions within Root 
Protection Areas. 
 
The revised Arboricultural survey responds to these comments. 
 
Conditions have also been recommended for the applicant to provide a dimensioned Tree 
Protection Plan and an Arboricultural Method Statement. 

Page 37



 
 

 
Biodiversity 
A Biodiversity Impact Assessment has been submitted with the application.  Based on 
the current indicative masterplan and associated open space information  the proposed 
development would result in the loss of approximately 2.52 units representing only 6.2% 
of the existing habitat. 
 
The biodiversity loss is compensated against by a contribution via the S.106 agreement 
as detailed in the Developer Contributions section of this report. 
 
Protected species 
There is no evidence on site of bat roosting although there are a small number of trees 
with bat roosting potential which are to be retained as part of the proposal.  
 
No known Badger Setts have been recorded within the site itself although they are known 
to be within the local vicinity of the site. There is evidence of individuals frequenting the 
site for foraging although this is limited due to the arable nature of the site. Such 
opportunities will exist within the new landscaped areas. The effect of the development 
are therefore considered to be ‘non-significant’. 
 
Based on the surveys undertaken it unlikely that a Great Crested Newt will be present 
within the site however under the proposal the majority of the boundary vegetation 
(including trees and hedgerows) along with pond P1 and the woodland areas at the site 
will be retained and as such there is suitable habitat for any future migration. 
 
Open space / play areas 
At approximately 26% the development achieves in excess of the minimum 20% open 
space requirement stipulated by the commentary to Policy H9. 
 
Within the site there is 2.38ha of Parks and Open Space, 1.51ha of natural greenspace 
and also a formal play space area of 0.12ha. This complies with the requirements of the 
parks team. The proposed play area provision on site will be larger than a Local Equipped 
Area for Play(LEAP) but smaller than a Neighbourhood Equipped Area for Play (NEAP) 
and therefore a planning contribution has been requested and is agreed for BMX/Skate 
provision and/or green gym/Path at Keresley End Recreation ground. 
 
Developer Contributions 
Policy IM1 ‘Developer Contributions for Infrastructure’ states that development will be 
expected to provide, or contribute towards provision of: a) Measures to directly mitigate 
its impact and make it acceptable in planning terms; and b) Physical, social and green 
infrastructure to support the needs associated with the development. 
 
The development would trigger the need for the following contributions to be secured 
under a Section 106 Legal Agreement. The heads of terms are as follows: 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 38



 
 

 
Nuneaton 

and 
Bedworth 
Borough 
Council 

Parks Team 

BMX / skate provision and/or green 
gym / path at Keresley End Rec 

£59,000 

Warwickshire 
County 

Highways 

Winding House Lane / Wheelwright 
Lane junction 

To deal with by condition or 
financial contribution as 
described in Highways 

section of the report 
Warwickshire 

County 
Highways 

 £366, 500 for improving M6 
Junction 3 

Education  
(CCC) 

Primary school (on wider SUE site) 
Early Years / Pre-school within 2 miles 

 

 
£1,182,000 

 Primary SEN at Sherbourne Fields £56,916 

 Secondary at PK or Coundon Court £1,918, 466 

 Post 16 at PK or Coundon Court £379,057 

 Secondary and Post 16 SEN at 
Sherbourne Fields 

£86,156 

NHS (CCG) Primary care and healthcare estate 
within 3 miles of SUE 

£266,687.45 

NHS 
(hospital) 

Acute and emergency care £256,027 

Housing 
Policy 

Affordable Housing 25% 

Sport Team 
(CCC) 

Sports hall / swimming pools at public 
leisure development in NW of City 

£457,434 
 

           Inc. Pools £233,737 
       Sports Hall £223,697 

 Playing pitches (improvement / 
provision / maintenance 

£316,046 (Inc. grass playing 
pitches, 10-year maintenance 
and  contribution towards an 

artificial grass pitch) 
 Changing room facility £255,000 

Highways 
(CCC) 

Various as listed in Highways section 
of report 

£5,237,484,.36 

Ecology 
(BIA) 

 Contribution of £101,287 to 

Coventry City Council would 

offset the loss of 2.52 units 

shown in the Warwickshire 

BIA 

 
 
 

Page 39



 
 

The contributions are considered to be compliant with the Community Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL) Regulations and the developer has agreed to the requested contributions.  
 
Other Matters 
The Office for National Statistics(ONS) has recently undertaken a review in terms of the 
population projections for Coventry. The review found that to ensure future population 
statistics are based on sound methods and suitable data, ONS’s population projections 
team needs to amongst other procedural changes: ‘Investigate the root and scale of the 
issue associated with cities with large student populations and communicate its findings 
publicly, to support the appropriate use of the existing data’. Critically the review makes 
no provision or recommendation for altering the existing population numbers so there are 
no direct or immediate implications for Coventry’s Local Plan or housing figures. 
 
Given the agricultural history of the site, land contamination reports will be required to be 
submitted by condition, to protect the amenity of future occupiers. 
 
Similarly, noise reports will be required to be submitted with reserved matters applications 
in order to identify any mitigation / specific ventilation / glazing specification measures 
when detailed layouts are known. The main noise source is road traffic.  
 
A Heritage Statement was submitted as part of the Environmental Statement which 
concludes that there is no adverse harm to the significance of any designated heritage 
assets. The Conservation officer raises no objection to the application.  
 
An Archaeological Evaluation of the development land was undertaken and forms part of 
the Environmental Impact Assessment. This included the digging of 34 Trenches each 
measuring 30 metres long. Archaeological remains were very sparse and comprised two 
charcoal rich pits located in the centre of site. A number of agricultural features were 
spread across the area and the majority of features investigated were modern with 
several identified during the geophysics found to be field drains. A large modern borrow 
pit was found in one trench and a furrow was found in another containing an abraded 
fragment of medieval pottery. Post-medieval and modern pottery was found in the topsoil 
across the site and the southwestern field was also found to contain a fragment of 
medieval pottery. The majority of trenches were negative for features and therefore no 
further investigation is required. 
 
Aside from the impacts of construction upon neighbouring residents, which will be 
partially mitigated by a construction method statement or management plan, the more 
refined impacts upon residential amenity (such as privacy, outlook and overlooking) will 
be dealt with through the reserved matters process when detailed layouts are submitted 
for consideration. 
 
Equality Implications  
Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 created the public sector equality duty. Section 149 
states:-  
 
(1) A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need 
to:  

a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 
prohibited by or under this Act;  

Page 40



 
 

b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it;  

c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it.  

 
Officers have taken this into account and given due regard to this statutory duty, and the 
matters specified in Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 in the determination of this 
application. Furthermore, attention will be paid to the duty as reserved matters 
applications are submitted for the detailed design of buildings and the internal layout of 
the various development parcels.   
 
Conclusion 
The Planning System is plan led. The Local Plan is up to date in policy terms being 
consistent with the NPPF. It was adopted in December 2017 after extensive publicity, 
consultation and independent scrutiny. The application site is part of a SUE that through 
the plan making process was removed from the Green Belt and specifically allocated for 
development. The consideration of retaining the land as open and undeveloped and the 
assessment of whether the land comprised of the SUE allocation should be developed 
was tested at the Examination in Public of the Local Plan by an independent planning 
Inspector. The development proposed in this application is consistent with the strategy of 
the Local Plan and accords with the provisions of the adopted Local Plan. The test is that 
the determination of the application should accord with the development plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. Determining the application in accordance 
with the Local Plan would mean approval of the application unless other material 
considerations were such as to indicate that it should refused. Having considered the 
matters raised in the course of the application and consultations summarised in this report 
it is the view of the officers that no other material considerations are identified that are 
sufficient to outweigh the presumption in favour of an up to date development plan. The 
proposed development is considered to be acceptable in principle and will not result in 
any significant impact upon flooding, heritage assets, character of the area, air quality, 
highway safety, ancient woodland, ecology or infrastructure, subject to relevant 
conditions and Section 106 contributions. The reason for Coventry City Council granting 
planning permission is because the development is in accordance with: Policies DS1, 
DS3, DS4, H1, H2, H3, H4: H6,  H9, HW1, GE3, GE4, DE1, HE2, AC1,  AC2, AC3, AC4, 
AC5, EM1, EM2, EM3, EM4, EM5,  EM6, EM7, JE7 and IM1 of the Coventry Local Plan 
2016, together with the aims of the NPPF 
 
In reaching this recommendation, the Case Officer has taken into account the ES which 
was submitted under the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact 
Assessment) (England and Wales) Regulations. Your officer considers that the ES and 
the further information provided complies with the above regulations and that sufficient 
information has been provided to assess the environmental impact of the proposals. 
 
CONDITIONS:/REASON  
 
1. Approval of the details of the appearance, layout, scale and landcaping (hereinafter 
 called ""the reserved matters"") shall be obtained from the local planning authority 
 in writing before each phase of development is commenced and the development 
 within that phase shall be carried out in full accordance with those reserved matters 
 as approved. 

Page 41



 
 

Reason: To conform with Article 5(1) of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Development Procedure) Order 2015) 
 
2. Application for approval of the reserved matters for the first phase approved 
 pursuant to condition 5 shall be made to the Local Planning Authority before the 
 expiration of 3 years from the date of this permission. Application for approval of all 
 of the reserved matters shall be made to the local planning not later than 7 years 
 from the date of this permission. 
  
Reason: To conform with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended) 
 
3. The development of each phase hereby permitted shall take place within two years 
 from the date of approval of the last of the reserved matters to be approved for the 
 relevant phase. 
  
Reason: To conform with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended) 
 
4. The reserved matters shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved 
 plans: Access and Movement Parameters Plan P16-0926_10-01D;Land Use 
 Parameter Plan P16 -0926_10-03D;Buidling Heights Parameters Plan P16 -
 0926_10-02B, Site Location Plan P16-0926_05E;General Arrangement Site Access 
 Drawing 02427-A-004-P0 and shall have full regard to the Sustainable Urban 
 Extension Design Guidance SPD and include the following specific requirements:  
 (i) provision of a childrens equipped play area; 
 (ii) retention of trees, tree groups and hedgerows indicated for retention in the 
 submitted Arboricultural Impact Assessment Sep 2019; 
 (iii) Inclusion of car club spaces for the SUE wide car club; 
 (iv) Provision of a ‘super bus stop’ within the site; 
 (v) Provision of cycle hire storage facility. 
 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of achieving sustainable 
development, having particular regard to the potential impact of the development in 
accordance with Policy DS3 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
 
5. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, a site wide 
 phasing programme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
 Planning Authority, which shall include: 
 - Details of the precise location and extent of individual development phases; 
 - The extent of development within each phase and a description of the intended 
 timing of development and completion of each phase; 
 - Permanent and temporary access arrangement to serve each phase of 
 development; 
 - Any interim surface or boundary details relating to each phase of development; 
 - Timings of provision of Green Infrastructure and footpath / cycle routes within each 
 phase; 
 The development shall only be carried out in full accordance with the approved site 
 wide phasing programme. 
  

Page 42



 
 

Reason: To ensure that in the event of the development being carried out on a phased 
basis, satisfactory access and interim environmental treatment is provided to address the 
impact in the interests of public safety and amenity in accordance with Policies DS4, DE1, 
AC1 and AC2 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016 
 
6. Any gas boilers installed on site shall have a dry NOx emission rate of no more than 
 40mg/kWh.  One electric vehicle recharging point per dwelling shall be provided 
 prior to occupationand shall not be removed or altered in any way and shall be kept 
 available for such use by residents at all times. 
  
Reason: To mitigate the impacts of development on air quality in accordance with 
Policy DS3 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016 and the aims and the objectives of the NPPF. 
 
7.  An investigation and risk assessment, in addition to any assessment provided with 
 the planning application, must be completed in accordance with a scheme to assess 
 the nature and extent of any contamination on the site, whether or not it originates 
 on the site. The contents of the scheme are subject to the approval in writing of the 
 Local Planning Authority. The investigation and risk assessment must be 
 undertaken by competent persons and a written report of the findings must be 
 produced. The written report is subject to the approval in writing of the Local 
 Planning Authority. The report of the findings must include: 
 (i) a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination; 
 (ii) an assessment of the potential risks to: 
 • human health, 
 • property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, 
 woodland and service lines and pipes, 
 • adjoining land, 
 • groundwaters and surface waters, 
 • ecological systems, 
 • archaeological sites and ancient monuments; 
 (iii) an appraisal of remedial options, and proposal of the preferred option(s). 
 
Reason: This must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment 
Agency’s ‘Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11’ 
 
8. Development within any phase shall only be undertaken in accordance with a 
 detailed remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended 
 use by removing unacceptable risks to human health, buildings and other property 
 and the natural and historical environment, which shall be submitted to and 
 approved in writing by the local planning authority.  The scheme must include all 
 works to be undertaken, proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, 
 timetable of works and site management procedures.  The scheme must ensure 
 that the site will not qualify as contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental 
 Protection Act 1990 in relation to the intended use of the land after remediation. 
 
 Reason: To safeguard health, safety and the environment in accordance with Policy 
EM6 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016 and the aims and objectives of the NPPF. 
 
9. The approved remediation scheme must be carried out in accordance with its terms 
 prior to the commencement of development within that phase, other than that 

Page 43



 
 

 required to carry out the remediation.  The Local Planning Authority must be given 
 two weeks written notification of commencement of the remediation scheme works. 
 
Reason: To safeguard health, safety and the environment in accordance with Policy 
EM6 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016 and the aims and objectives of the NPPF. 
 
10. Prior to occupation of the development within that phase, and following completion 
 of the measures identified within the approved remediation scheme, a verification 
 report that demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation carried out must be 
 produced and submitted to the local planning authority for approval. 
 
 Reason: To safeguard health, safety and the environment in accordance with Policy 
EM6 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016 and the aims and objectives of the NPPF. 
 
11. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved 
 development, that was not previously identified, it must be reported in writing 
 immediately to the Local Planning Authority.  An investigation and risk assessment 
 must be undertaken and where remediation is necessary a remediation scheme 
 must be prepared in accordance with the requirements of condition No.9, which 
 shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme a 
 verification report must be prepared, which is subject to the approval in writing of 
 the Local Planning Authority in accordance with condition No.10. 
  
Reason: To safeguard health, safety and the environment in accordance with Policy 
EM6 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016 and the aims and objectives of the NPPF. 
 
12. Noise assessments shall be submitted with reserved matters applications for each 
 phase of development. The assessments will demonstrate by calculation that 
 internal noise levels for the proposed residential property meet the 'Good' criteria 
 set out in British Standard 8233 'Sound Insulation and Noise Reduction for 
 Buildings' together with any mitigation measures that are required to achieve this.  
 The report shall also demonstrate that outdoor garden and leisure areas associated 
 with this development meet the 55dB limit as required by the World Health 
 Organisation (WHO).  Prior to the first occupation of the buildings any necessary 
 mitigation measures shall have been implemented in full accordance with the 
 recommendations of the noise assessment and thereafter shall not be removed or 
 altered in any way. 
  
Reason: To protect the amenities of future occupiers from road traffic noise and 
general disturbance in accordance with Policy H3 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
 
13. No development (including any demolition) shall take place within any phase unless 
 and until a Construction Management Plan (CMP) has been submitted to and 
 approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority for that phase of development. 
 The CMP shall include details of:  
 - hours of work; 
 - hours of deliveries to the site;  
 - the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors during the 
 demolition/construction phase;  

Page 44



 
 

 - the delivery access point and routes for HGV's to access the site from the West 
 Midlands Key Route Network;  
 - the loading and unloading of plant and materials;  
 - anticipated size and frequency of vehicles moving to/from the site;  
 - the storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development;  
 - the erection and maintenance of a security hoarding including decorative displays 
 and facilities for public viewing where appropriate;  
 - wheel washing facilities and other measures to ensure that any vehicle, plant or 
 equipment leaving the application site does not carry mud or deposit other materials 
 onto the public highway;  
 - measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during demolition and 
 construction;  
 - measures to control the presence of asbestos;  
 - measures to minimise noise disturbance to neighbouring properties during 
 demolition and construction;  
 - details of any piling together with details of how any associated vibration will be 
 monitored and controlled; and  
 - a scheme for recycling / disposing of waste resulting from demolition and 
 construction works.  
 Thereafter, the approved details within the CMP shall be strictly adhered to 
 throughout the construction period and shall not be amended in any way. 
  
Reason: The agreement of a Construction Management Plan prior to the 
commencement of development is fundamental to ensure a satisfactory level of 
environmental protection; to minimise disturbance to local residents and in the interests of 
highway safety during the construction process in accordance with Policies [EM7], AC1 
and AC2 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
 
14. No development (including any demolition or preparatory works) within any phase 
 shall commence unless and until a Construction Environmental Management Plan 
 (CEMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
 Authority for that phase of development. The CEMP shall include the following:  
 (a) a risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities;  
 (b) identification of biodiversity protection zones (e.g. buffers to trees and hedges or 
 to protected wildlife habitat);  
 (c) practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working practices, 
 such as protective fencing, exclusion barriers and warning signs) to avoid or reduce 
 impacts during construction (particularly in relation to works within canopy and root 
 protection areas for hedgerows or protected trees);  
 (d) the location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity features 
 (in relation to breeding birds in particular);  
 (e) the times during construction when specialist ecologists need to be present on 
 site to oversee works (as required);  
 (f) responsible persons and lines of communication; and  
 (g) the role and responsibilities on site of an Ecological Clerk of Works (ECoW) or 
 similarly competent person (as necessary).  
 The approved CEMP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the 
 construction period strictly in accordance with the approved details. 
  

Page 45



 
 

Reason: In order to safeguard protected and/or priority species from undue 
disturbance and impacts, noting that initial preparatory works could have unacceptable 
impacts; and in order to secure an overall biodiversity gain in accordance with Policy GE3 
of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
 
15. Prior to the first occupation of the development within any phase hereby permitted 
 a Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) shall be submitted to and 
 approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The content of the LEMP shall 
 include the following:  
 a) Description and evaluation of features to be managed;  
 b) Ecological trends and constraints on site that might influence management;  
 c) Aims and objectives of management, including mitigation and enhancement for 
 species identified on site;  
 d) Appropriate management option for achieving aims and objectives;  
 e) Prescriptions for management actions;  
 f) Preparation of a work schedule (including an annual work plan capable of being 
 rolled forward over a ten-year period);  
 g) Details of the body or organisation responsible for implementation of the plan, 
 along with funding mechanism(s) for that body or organisation;  
 h) Ongoing monitoring and remedial measures, including where monitoring shows 
 that conservation aims and objectives of the LEMP are not being met.  
 The LEMP plan shall be implemented in strict accordance with the approved details 
 within three months of the first occupation of the development and thereafter shall 
 not be withdrawn or amended in any way. 
  
Reason: In order to safeguard and enhance habitat on or adjacent to the site in order 
to secure an overall biodiversity gain in accordance with Policy GE3 of the Coventry Local 
Plan 2016 
 
16. Prior to the installation of any street lighting or any external lighting to be fixed to 
 any building within each phase, an external lighting strategy (including a plan) shall 
 be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
 strategy shall demonstrate that lighting shall be kept to a minimum at night in order 
 to minimise impact on emerging and foraging bats, and to restrict light spillage onto 
 foraging corridors and the ancient woodland.   The lighting shall be installed in full 
 accordance with the approved strategy and all lighting thereafter shall be 
 subsequently maintained in strict accordance with the approved details. 
  
Reason: To ensure that protected species are not harmed by the development in 
accordance with Policy GE3 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016 and the advice contained 
within the NPPF 2018. 
 
17. The following shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority together with 
 reserved matters applications for each phase of development:   
 a) Arboricultural Impact Assessment (5.4) to assess the direct and indirect 
 implications of trees upon the proposal and visa-versa, including locations for under-
 ground/ over-ground services, level changes within RPA's etc.;  
 b) Arboricultural Method Statement (6.1); and  
 c) a Dimensioned Tree Protection Plan (to include protection measures during and 
 after construction and any construction exclusion zones) (in accordance with 5.5/ 

Page 46



 
 

 Table B.1), site monitoring (6.3) of British Standard BS5837:2012 - Trees in relation 
 to design demolition and construction - Recommendations, which shall also include 
 any proposal for pruning or other preventative works.  
 The approved mitigation and / or protection measures shall be put into place prior 
 to the commencement of any works and shall remain in place during all construction 
 work. 
 
Reason: To protect those trees which are of significant amenity value to the area and 
which would provide an enhanced standard of appearance to the development in 
accordance with Policy GE3, GE4 and HE2 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
 
18. None of the dwellings hereby permitted shall be occupied unless and until the car 
 parking provision for that dwelling has been constructed or laid out, and made 
 available for use by the occupants and / or visitors to the dwellings and thereafter 
 those spaces shall be retained for parking purposes at all time and shall not be 
 removed or altered in any way. 
  
Reason: To ensure the satisfactory provision of off-street vehicle parking facilities in 
accordance with the Council's standards and in the interests of highway safety and the 
satisfactory development of the site in accordance with Policies AC1, AC2 and AC3  of the 
Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
 
19. The development hereby permitted shall only proceed in strict accordance with a 
 scheme for targeting and utilising local people for construction and employment, 
 which shall be submitted to an approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
  
Reason: To secure local employment in accordance with the City Council jobs 
strategy and Policy JE7 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
 
20. No development shall commence within a phase unless and until a Sustainable 
 Building Statement has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
 Planning Authority. The statement shall demonstrate how the requirements of Local 
 Plan Policy EM2 (Building Standards) have been met. The development within that 
 phase shall not be occupied unless and until all the works within the approved 
 scheme have been completed in strict accordance with the approved details and 
 thereafter the works shall be retained at all times and shall not be removed or altered 
 in any way. 
  
Reason: To comply with the provisions of the NPPF and in accordance with Policy 
EM2 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
 
21. Notwithstanding the Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy, the following 
 shall be submitted to the local planning authority together with each reserved 
 matters application: 
 
 I. A scheme for the provision of surface water drainage, incorporating SuDS 
 attenuation techniques. There must be consideration of features such as green 
 roofs, rain gardens and swales, for the management of surface water peak and total 
 flows, biodiversity and water filtering, in accordance with Coventry City Council’s 

Page 47



 
 

 adopted Supplementary Planning Document for ‘Delivering a More Sustainable 
 City’. 

II. A detailed strategy for the long-term maintenance of the SuDS and other surface 
water drainage systems on site. 
III. Development discharge rates to be managed to Qbar greenfield rates minus 
20%. The discharge rates for brownfield sites shall be considered as greenfield in 
accordance with the SFRA. 
IV. Evidence the 1 in 100 year plus 40% climate change events will be held within 
the site boundaries. 
V. Provisions must be made for the drainage of the site to ensure there are no 
temporary increases in flood risk, on or off site, during the construction phase. 
VI. Provisions must be made for the drainage of the site to ensure there is no 
discharge of surface water to the Public Highway. 
VII. All proposed outfalls must be confirmed and agreed with the Lead Local Flood 
Authority prior to the commencement of work on site. 
VIII. Evidence that receiving water bodies or sewers are capable of accepting the 
attenuated flows specified by the Lead Local Flood Authority and that this will not 
exacerbate the flood risk on or off site. This will include capacity calculations and 
outcomes, not just the correspondence from Severn Trent Water Ltd in isolation, 
accepting the point discharges. Evidence of existing sub catchments within the site 
are needed to support the connectivity survey and confirm the acceptability of 
proposed point discharges to the watercourses and infrastructure sewers. This must 
be submitted to, and agreed by, the Local Planning Authority and Lead Local Flood 
Authority 
IX. Single discharge points will be discouraged on larger sites, as discharge points 
are to be located to best mimic the natural discharge condition. 
X. A minimum 5m way leave must be provided from the top bank of any ordinary 
watercourse and open water bodies. 
XI. The development must be considered for the implementation of permeable 
paving or similar permeable material for the management of total surface water 
flows, and water filtering in accordance with Coventry City Council’s adopted 
Supplementary Planning Document for ‘Delivering a More Sustainable City’. 
XII. Evidence to show the management of overland flow routes in the event of 
exceedance or blockage to the drainage system. Details should include 
demonstration of how the building will be protected in such an event. Finished floor 
slab levels must be 300mm above the 1 in 100 year pluvial flood levels. 
XIII. Where new or redevelopment site levels result in the severance, diversion or 
the reception of natural land drainage flow, the developer shall maintain existing flow 
routes (where there are no flood risk or safety implications) or intercept these flows 
and discharge these by a method approved by the Local Planning Authority 
XIV. The drainage strategy should not result in top water levels of attenuation 
structures being above the natural ground level and must achieve a 300mm 
freeboard, in relation to this existing ground level, at the 1 in 100 year plus climate 
change event. 
XV. Where an attenuation structure is located adjacent to Public Highway boundary, 
the applicant should demonstrate the structural adequacy of the attenuation 
structure to safeguard Public Highway. 
XVI. Foul drainage plans  

 

Page 48



 
 

Reason: To ensure that adequate drainage facilities are available for the satisfactory 
and proper development of the site in accordance with policies EM1, EM4 and EM5 of the 
Coventry Local Plan 2016 and Coventry City Council's adopted Supplementary Planning 
Document for 'Delivering a More Sustainable City' 
 
22. No development hereby permitted shall take place until full engineering and 
 construction details (based on approved plan 02427-A-004-P0) of the proposed 
 site access and emergency access off Bennetts Road North have been submitted 
 to and approved in writing by the local planning authority and no part of the 
 development hereby permitted shall be occupied until the approved works have 
 been completed in accordance with the approved plans. The works shall be 
 retained as approved thereafter. 
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with the aims and 
objectives of Policies AC1, AC2 and AC3 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
 
 
 

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



P
age 51



P
age 52



P
age 53



P
age 54



P
age 55



P
age 56



Planning Committee Report 
Planning Ref:  FUL/2020/2794 
Site:  Lyons Park, Former Lawrence Automotive Site, Sayer 

Drive, CV5 9PF 
Ward: Bablake 
Proposal: Construction of an industrial unit (General Industrial (Class 

B2) and/or Storage and Distribution (Class B8) use) with 
ancillary offices, access, servicing, parking, drainage and 
landscaping. Construction of HGV trailer parking for 
adjacent unit (Class B8) with pre-check offices, lighting, 
drainage and landscaping; and all other ancillary works. 

Case Officer: Ayesha Saleem 
 
SUMMARY 
The application proposes the erection of an industrial unit (General Industrial (Class B2) 
and/or Storage and Distribution (Class B8) use) with ancillary offices, access, servicing, 
parking, drainage and landscaping and construction of HGV trailer parking for adjacent 
unit (Class B8). The proposal is considered to have an acceptable impact upon the street 
scene, no detrimental impact upon the existing neighbouring properties and no 
detrimental impact upon the Green Belt.  
 
BACKGROUND 
The application has been recommended for approval. The application has received more 
than 5 public representations objecting to the proposal  
 
KEY FACTS 
Reason for report to 
committee: 

More than 5 objections have been received  
 

Current use of site: The site had existing industrial buildings with associated 
parking and hardstanding on site.  
  

Proposed use of site: Erection of an industrial B2 and B8 use with associated 
offices and construction of HGV trailer parking for the 
existing adjacent unit.  

 
RECOMMENDATION 
Planning committee are recommended to approve planning permission subject to 
conditions and the signing of a s106 agreement to secure Biodiversity Offsetting and a 
Travel Plan Monitoring contribution. 
 
REASON FOR DECISION 

 The proposal is acceptable in principle.  
 The proposal will not adversely impact upon highway safety. 
 The proposal will not adversely impact upon the amenity of neighbours. 

Page 57

Agenda Item 7



 The proposal accords with Policies DS3, JE2, JE5, GB1, GE3, GE4, DE1, AC1, 
AC2, AC3, AC4, EM4, EM5, EM6, EM7 and IM1 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016, 
together with the aims of the NPPF. 

Page 58



BACKGROUND 

APPLICATION PROPOSAL 
The application comprises of the erection of a new commercial unit (General industrial 
(Use Class B2) and/or Storage and Distribution (Class B8)) with ancillary offices, access, 
servicing, parking, drainage, and landscaping. It also seeks planning permission for the 
formation of an area to accommodate additional HGV trailer parking spaces for use in 
connection with the adjacent existing Amazon operation. 
 
The application relates to a phased development, with each of the two elements 
described above forming a separate phase. The first phase relates to the HGV parking 
for the adjacent amazon unit and the second phase relates to the new industrial unit.  
 
The HGV trailer parking area (comprising approximately 2.28 hectares of the Site), would 
provide 185 trailer parking spaces alongside two pre-check offices with barriers and 
associated lighting. The HGV trailer parking will be accessed from Coundon Wedge Drive 
to serve HGV movements. In terms of how it will operate, inbound HGV’s would check in 
at the gatehouse and drop the inbound trailer in the proposed yard, which generally 
contains only a limited number of products. The HGV will then collect a full trailer, likely 
full of multiple products and depart with minimal delay. The inbound trailer will then be 
towed around the Site using a small ‘Tug’. The trailer will then be unloaded into the 
warehouse and re-filled. Finally, the trailer will be moved to the trailer park before being 
collected by an HGV (which has just dropped off an inbound trailer) and dispatched. The 
proposed gatehouse is to be located south within the site at the entrance for the HVG 
parking. The building is to measure 3.6 mete by 8.6 metres and a height of circa 2.9 
metres.  
 
The proposed industrial unit comprises 9,861m2 (GIA) of floorspace. This consists of 
8,604m2 of warehouse and 1,257m2 of ancillary office/welfare floorspace. There is also 
13m2 of floorspace within the two pre-check offices. The maximum ridge height of the 
Unit will be 15.45 metres, with 12.5 metres to haunch. The industrial unit will be designed 
in cladding using a palette of grey hues and the office element would be designed in a 
different colouring cladding with elements of glazing. This site would have adequate 
parking/cycle parking provision as well as level access and yard space with 
manoeuvrability for large HGVs. There will be 2 level access doors and 10 dock levellers. 
The proposed development will be operated on a 24-hour basis 
 
The parking for the industrial unit would be located to the east of the building, separate 
from the yard area for safety reasons. The ancillary office area would be located on the 
north eastern corner to allow natural surveillance and would be accessed from the car 
park. The yard, and dock levellers, would be located to the north of the building, facing 
into the existing industrial estate, with access taken off the existing estate road to the 
north 
 
The open area to the south west of the Site is proposed to accommodate an attenuation 
pond which will have side slopes facing the pond set at a 1 in 3 gradients for safe 

Page 59



maintenance. Slopes facing the River Sherbourne have been designed at a 1 in 5 
gradient, to match the existing topography and provide a higher safety factor with regards 
to slope stability. Finally, a minimum of 300mm freeboard is provided from the critical, 
100 year plus 40% climate change storm event water level to the top of the pond bank. 
Water will be conveyed to the pond where it will be attenuated and discharged at the 
pre-development greenfield run-off rates, up to the 100-year storm event. Foul water will 
be conveyed to the existing 300mm foul sewer within Lyons Drive, to the west of the Site. 
It is noted that the pond sits within the Green Belt and the Butts Lane Meadows Local 
Wildlife Site. 
 
Planting would be included along the frontage of the Site, facing Lyons Park Drive and 
surrounding the parking areas to have a softening impact. There would also be a small 
area at the entrance to the HGV Parking Area. A more substantial area of 
planting/landscaping is also proposed within the attenuation area. This landscaping would 
consist of new tree planting, with thicket, hedgerow, grass, wildflower, wet wildflower and 
aquatic planting also proposed.  
 
SITE DESCRIPTION 
The application site comprises mainly of brownfield land with part falling within the Green 
Belt. The application site sits immediately adjacent to the existing Lyons Park industrial 
area, which is an employment allocation. Consequently, the areas to the north, east 
and west have an industrial character and include large commercial units, such as the 
Amazon facility that lies immediately adjacent. 
 
The Site is accessed off the existing Lyons Park estate roads, which lead on to Coundon 
Wedge Drive.  An additional access is provided off Sayer Drive, which is a private Road 
linked to the entrance of the wider industrial site. 
 
The area to the south of the Site is designated as open countryside, Green Belt and forms 
part of the Butts Lane Meadows and Coundon Wedge Local Wildlife Sites. 
 
There is an area of screen planting to the west of the Site, which is subject to a Tree 
Preservation Order. There are four trees which are subject to a Tree Preservation Order 
within the area proposed for attenuation. 
 
PLANNING HISTORY 
 
Application 
Number: 

Description of development: Decision 
and date: 

R/2009/0669 Outline application for redevelopment of former 
Jaguar site with a mixed-use proposal including B1, 
B2 units and residential development, (outline 
application discharging means of access 
comprising internal road network and engineering 
operations for onsite groundworks) 

Approved 
23/12/2009 
 

Page 60



R/2010/0861 Variation of condition No. 36 imposed on planning 
permission reference: R/2009/0669 granted on 
23/12/2009 for redevelopment of the former Jaguar 
site with a mixed-use proposal including: B1, B2 
units and residential development - to remove 
reference to the submission of a Travel Plan in 
respect of the residential element of the scheme 

Approved 
13/08/2018 

S73/2010/1699 Variation of condition 30 imposed on planning 
permission reference R/2009/0669 granted on 
23/12/2009 for the redevelopment of former Jaguar 
site with a mixed-use proposal including B1, B2 
units and residential development, (outline 
application discharging means of access 
comprising internal road network and engineering 
operations for onsite groundworks), to allow 
occupation of industrial/commercial units prior to 
the provision of cycle path 

Approved 
07/06/2011 

RMM/2014/1796 Submission of reserved matters details for 
redevelopment of part of the former Jaguar Browns 
Lane site (access from estate road, appearance, 
landscaping, layout and scale) in respect of the 
erection of an industrial building (Use Class B2) 
with ancillary office/storage areas and associated 
access, parking, landscaping and curtilage 
structures/plant pursuant to outline planning 
permission reference 55011 granted on the 23 
December 2009 for a mixed-use commercial & 
residential redevelopment (an Environmental 
Impact Assessment was not required at outline 
stage) 

Approved 
16/09/2014 

RMM/2014/2068 Submission of reserved matters details for 
redevelopment of part of the former Jaguar Browns 
Lane site (access from estate road, appearance, 
landscaping, layout and scale) in respect of the 
erection of 5 no. industrial units (Use Class B2) 
with ancillary office/storage areas and associated 
access, parking, landscaping and curtilage 
structures/plant pursuant to outline planning 
permission reference 55011 granted on the 23 
December 2009 for a mixed-use commercial & 
residential redevelopment (an Environmental 
Impact Assessment was not required at outline 
stage) 

Approved 
16/09/2014 

FM/2014/2105 Development of 5 no. general industrial (Use Class 
B2) and/or storage and distribution (Use Class B8) 
units with ancillary office areas and associated 

Approved 
16/09/2014 

Page 61



access, service yards, parking, landscaping and 
curtilage structures/plant 

FUL/2016/0627 Erection of an industrial / warehouse unit (Use 
Class B2 - General Industry/B8 - Storage and 
Distribution) with ancillary offices and plant, 
associated infrastructure including service yard, 
access, parking, landscaping and associated works 

Approved 
03/06/2016 

FUL/2016/2397 Erection of a storage and distribution unit (Use 
Class B8) with ancillary offices, mezzanine floor, 
gatehouse, plant and associated infrastructure 
including service yard, internal roads, parking, 
vehicle pick-up/ drop-off, landscaping, boundary 
treatment, hardstanding and related works 

Approved 
19/12/2016 

S73/2017/0902 Variation of Condition 2 (drawing numbers) and 
Condition 16 (updated noise report) imposed on 
planning permission reference FUL/2016/2397 
granted planning approval on 19.12.2016 for the 
erection of a storage and distribution unit (use 
class B8) with ancillary offices, mezzanine floor, 
gatehouse, plant and associated infrastructure 
including service yard, internal roads, parking, 
vehicle pick-up/drop-off, landscaping, boundary 
treatment, hardstanding and related works 

Approved 
03/08/2017 

DEMN/2020/0206 Application for Prior Notification of proposed 
demolition 

Details 
Required 
24/02/20 

DEMN/2020/0751 Prior Notification of proposed demolition Details Not 
Required 
17/04/20 

 
 
POLICY 
National Policy Guidance 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). The NPPF published in February 2019 sets 
out the Government’s planning policies for England and how these are expected to be 
applied. It sets out the Government’s requirements for the planning system only to the 
extent that is relevant, proportionate and necessary to do so. The NPPF promotes 
sustainable development and good design is recognised as a key aspect of this. 
  
The National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) 2014, this adds further context to the 
NPPF, and it is intended that the two documents are read together. 
 
Local Policy Guidance 
The current local policy is provided within the Coventry Local Plan 2016, which was 
adopted by Coventry City Council on 6th December 2017.  Relevant policies relating to 
this application are: 

Page 62



Policy DS3: Sustainable Development 
Policy DS4 (a): General Masterplan Principles 
Policy JE2: Provision of Employment Land and Premises 
Policy JE5: Location of R&D, Industrial and Storage/Distribution Development 
Policy GB1: Green Belt and Local Green Space 
Policy GE3: Biodiversity, Geological, Landscape and Archaeological Conservation 
Policy GE4: Tree Protection 
Policy DE1: Ensuring High Quality Design 
Policy AC1: Accessible Transport Network 
Policy AC2: Road Network 
Policy AC3: Demand Management 
Policy AC4: Walking and Cycling 
Policy EM4: Flood Risk Management 
Policy EM5: Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) 
Policy EM6: Redevelopment of Previously Developed Land 
Policy EM7: Air Quality 
Policy HW1: Health Impact Assessments (HIA) 
Policy IM1: Developer Contributions for Infrastructure 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance/ Documents (SPG/ SPD): 
SPD Delivering a More Sustainable City 2009 
SPD Coventry Connected (Transport and Accessibility) 2019 
SPD Air Quality 2019 
Design Guideline for Developments in Coventry’s Ancient Arden – A Historic Landscape 
Area 1995 
 
STATUTORY CONSULTATION RESPONSES 
Highways (CCC)- No objections subject to conditions and informatives 
Environmental Protection (CCC)- No objections subject to conditions 
Planning Policy (CCC)- No objections 
Ecology (CCC)- No objections subject to conditions 
Drainage (CCC)- No objections subject to conditions 
Trees (CCC)- No objections subject to conditions 
Urban Design (CCC)- No objections 
Archaeology (CCC)- No objections subject to condition 
Economic Development Services (CCC)- No objections subject to condition 
Environment Agency- No objections subject to condition 
West Midlands Fire Services- No objections subject to informative 
 

PUBLIC RESPONSES 
Notification letters were sent out to adjoining neighbouring houses and two site notices 
were displayed on the 27th November 2020.  
6 letters of objections and 2 not object representations were received raising the following 
material planning considerations: 

a) Roads not built for HVG’s 
b) Increased traffic 

Page 63



c) Increased noise pollution 
d) Increased litter 
e) Local wildlife to be impacted 
f) Detrimental impact upon air quality 
g) No notification/ letter sent to a resident 
h) Attenuation pond close to a residential property may impact upon a neighbour’s 

land 
i) Fence should be in place for noise barrier 
j) More signage is needed to stop trailers to turn on residential properties 
k) Long queues of HVG’s in front of other units 
l) Conditions should be added in regard to site signage strategy, trailer parking 

management and HVG routing strategy  

Any further comments received will be reported within late representations. 
 
ASSESSMENT 
 
Principle of Development: 
The site is an existing employment use that sits adjacent to an allocation which extends 
the employment use. This proposal would retain the use in employment and is acceptable 
in principle. 
 
Whilst it is not within the allocated area set out under Policy JE2 (Provision of Employment 
Land and Premises), the Policy requires a minimum supply of new employment land 
(58hectares) on a 5-year rolling cycle that will be achieved through a combination of newly 
allocated sites and recycled land. The proposal, in our view represents the recycling of 
land, given it is a brownfield site that contains functionally obsolete buildings, particularly 
given the planning consent for their demolition. Therefore, officers consider the proposal 
a sensible location for contributing to this rolling supply. Indeed, the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF) supports the re-use of previously developed land in Paragraph 
117 and, in Paragraph 118, goes on to state that ‘substantial weight’ should be given to 
the value of using suitable underutilised brownfield land to meet identified development 
needs. 
 
In addition to the above, officers consider that the proposed development would be 
acceptable in principle given the provisions of Policy JE5 (Location of R&D, Industrial and 
storage/Distribution Development), which allows for industrial and storage/distribution 
development (including changes of use and the expansion of existing operations) on non-
allocated sites subject to meeting certain criteria. Planning policy officers are satisfied that 
the proposal meets the policy requirements and the proposal would complement other 
allocated employment areas nearby. 
 
The area of the proposal that falls within the Green Belt does not include any buildings, 
but It will provide drainage attenuation, which is classed as an engineering operation. 
Paragraph 146 confirms that engineering operations are not ‘inappropriate development’ 

Page 64



within the Green Belt provided they preserve its openness and do not conflict with the 
purposes of including land within it. 
 
To conclude, the principle of the proposed development is in line with Coventry Local 
Plan Policies JE2 and JE5 and is supported in principle at this time. 
 
Impact on visual amenity: 
Policy DE1 of the Local Plan seeks to ensure high quality design and development 
proposals must respect and enhance their surroundings and positively contribute towards 
the local identity and character of an area. 
 
Chapter 12 of the NPPF requires that planning should always seek to secure high quality 
design and a good standard of amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and 
buildings.   
 
When considering this proposal, it was important to consider the Coventry City Council 
Local Plan with reference to Policy DE1 and the National Design Guide 2019.  The 
proposal suggests the development of 3 Commercial units on an existing Brownfield site.  
 
Due to the intended layout of the proposals the massing is a positive aspect with the 
predominant massing being situated in the centre of Lyons park and masked by existing 
similar scaled units adjacent to the site to reduce potential wider visual intrusion of the 
development in the locality. The layout has positively considered inclusive access design 
principles with the proposal through the inclusion of level access, disabled parking 
allocation, disabled facilities and Lift provision, which is further assisted by the open plan 
format of the office units.  
 
Furthermore, the landscaping is also a beneficial aspect of this proposal with the inclusion 
of soft landscaping boundary treatments and notably at key access points to delivery an 
appropriate status to the sense of arrival that also assists in providing improved site 
legibility for users. There has also been beneficial consideration of boundary treatment 
which has been demonstrated within the proposal through the provision of a 2.4-meter 
mesh fencing. Further additional positive consideration has also been given to providing 
secure cycle storage for the intended users which would be supported by the Coventry 
Connected SPD. 
 
Further beneficial consideration has also been given to the provision of secure bin storage 
allocation on site, which has also been masked from the Streetscene and would therefore 
be supported by the Waste Storage Technical Advice Note.   
 
The use of the existing green buffer to produce capacity for a SUDS is a positive element 
of considering sustainability at the earliest stage which would be supported by Policy DE1 
and the National Design Guide 2019. 
 

Page 65



The Design and materiality are also positive aspects of this scheme with a pallet which is 
reflective of the existing adjacent units with Lyons Park and would form a continuation of 
pallet on the street and would be supported by Policy DE1. Urban Design officers have 
no objection to the principle of development for this site. 
 
Impact on residential amenity: 
The closest residential property to the application site is Highfield House 101 Staircase 
Lane. The property is located circa 90.1 metres away from the access road to the south 
of the site. The neighbouring property is surrounded by trees. Given the significant 
distance it is considered that the proposed development will not have a detrimental impact 
upon the amenity of this occupant.  To ensure there is no detrimental impact in relation 
to noise, figure 6.1 in the noise assessment identifies the potential acoustic barrier on the 
south east boundary. The external finishes plan shows a fence on the south east 
boundary.  
 
Environmental Protection officers have also recommended a condition in regard to a 
noise management plan to ensure that there will be no detrimental impact upon the 
amenity of residential property close by given the additional HGV parking.  
 
Highway considerations: 
The Highway Authority have reviewed the information supplied alongside the application 
and consider that the impacts of the development are not severe and has no objections 
to the current proposal subject to conditions in relation to  details of cycle parking, car 
parking and turning areas to be laid out, construction management plan and details in 
relation to footway crossing and informatives.  
 
Highway officers recognise there may be concerns in relation to queuing of HGV vehicles 
therefore appropriate conditions have been recommended to ensure appropriate road 
signage, HGV routing and trailer parking management. A Travel plan has been submitted 
with the application and this is to be conditioned.  
 
Other Matters: 
Environmental Protection officers have no objections to the proposals subject to 
conditions in relation to a noise management plan, (as mentioned above) contaminated 
land and air quality in relation to vehicle charging points and a site-specific construction 
environmental management plan.  
 
The Environment Agency have no objections to the proposals subject to a condition in 
relation to the protection of controlled waters.  
 
The Councils Drainage officers have no objections to the proposals subject to conditions 
in which officers have recommended to ensure a satisfactory drainage solution. 
 

Page 66



The Council’s Tree officer has assessed the reports that have been submitted and is 
satisfied with the information submitted subject to conditions in relation to safeguarding 
TPO trees, tree protection details and site monitoring (to be included in the Arboricultural 
Method Statement) to be conditioned.  
 
The site includes part of Bull Lane Meadows Local Wildlife Site and is immediately 
adjacent to Coundon Wedge Grasslands Local Wildlife Site. A number of further LWS fall 
within a 1km radius but would not be directly affected. The Councils Ecology officer has 
assessed the Reports that have been submitted. The area of retained grassland has been 
increased and areas of proposed scrub planting reduced, and this is welcomed. The 
priority is to safeguard and enhance the grassland Local Wildlife Site. An area of 
grassland will be lost to create a SuDS feature. Ecology does not accept the details of the 
submitted BIA.  However, the BIA is a guideline and ecology does accept that the loss 
can be mitigated by improved grassland management and additional habitat in other parts 
of the wider site. A habitat management plan will be submitted which will provide details 
of long-term enhancement of the grassland. There is a preference to landscape the SuDS 
feature with planting. Ponds are a habitat which provides immediate biodiversity benefit, 
allowing natural colonisation and permits local biodiversity to establish. However, there is 
no objection to landscaping the pond, subject to a detailed planting scheme being 
provided. Overall, Ecology officers have confirmed that on-site biodiversity offsetting is to 
be provided and part of the S106 agreement. 
 
Within the site itself, there is a general dearth of known activity aside from the North Field 
House site, which was not demolished until fairly recently. Historically, the land appears 
to have been agricultural lands, with no substantial settlement recorded nearby. There is 
a low potential for anything other than remains of an agricultural origin within the site and 
consequently the significance of any remains is not likely to be more than local 
importance. The presence of relict topsoil, surviving at varying depths below the present 
ground surface, may be of some interest, depending on the date of these deposits. It is 
possible that datable material has survived within these deposits and thus it is deemed 
worthwhile that archaeological monitoring of groundworks is undertaken as a condition of 
planning. The Archaeology officer has no objections to the proposals subject to a 
condition in relation to a written scheme of investigation. 
 
Economic Development Services have no objections to the proposals subject to a 
condition in relation to local employment.  
 
In relation to the neighbour’s comments regarding the attenuation pond being close to a 
residential property which may impact upon a neighbour’s land. Drainage officers have 
confirmed that the proposed attenuation pond is located such that the current 
abstraction operations will not be affected by the flow of surface water which will be 
towards the River Sherbourne and away from the existing residential development. 
 

Page 67



The neighbour representation received regarding not being consulted on the application 
was sent a neighbour letter and also two site notices were placed outside the 
application site.  
 
S106 Contributions: 
The proposed development involves the creation of a SuDS feature within the Local 
Wildlife Site and associated landscaping. The Landscape Concept Plan (Barry Chin, 
October 2020, 2 sheets) has been revised following discussions with the City Council. 
The revisions included reducing tree and shrub planting within the LWS in order to 
retain the grassland habitats and additional habitat creation in other parts of the site 
including wildflower grassland. The SuDS is designed as a biodiversity-rich feature 
which, although different from the grassland, will have significant value and provide 
opportunities for wildlife. The revised BIA including the landscaping within Bull Lane 
Meadow LWS and other parts of the site calculates an overall gain of 2.14 units. The 
mitigation requires the enhanced, sympathetic management of remaining grassland 
areas, the creation of a wildlife friendly SuDS with associated habitats and small areas 
of new habitat in other parts of the site. Overall, there is a small loss of woodland habitat 
and a larger gain in wetland habitat. The habitats will be managed for a 30-year period 
which will allow them to become fully established. The information provided establishes 
that the development will lead to an overall gain in biodiversity. The proposed mitigation 
fully offsets the loss of 5.77 units and there is no requirement for any contribution for 
offsetting projects at other sites. Ecology officers have confirmed that on-site 
biodiversity offsetting is to be provided and part of the S106 agreement.  
 
Highways have requested a S106 contribution for the Travel Plan Monitoring 
Contribution of £5000.  
 
Equality implications: 
Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 created the public sector equality duty. Section 149 
states: -  
 
(1) A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need 
to:  
a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 
prohibited by or under this Act;  
b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it;  
c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 
and persons who do not share it.  
 
Officers have taken this into account and given due regard to this statutory duty, and the 
matters specified in Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 in the determination of this 
application.  
 

Page 68



There are no known equality implications arising directly from this development. 
 
CONCLUSION 
In view of the acceptable principle, design and no detrimental impact upon neighbouring 
properties, the scheme accords with development plan policies, supplementary planning 
guidelines and the NPPF 2019 therefore the application is recommended for approval. 
The development is in accordance with Policies DS3, JE2, JE5, GB1, GE3, GE4, DE1, 
AC1, AC2, AC3, AC4, EM4, EM5, EM6, EM7 and IM1 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
 

CONDITIONS:/REASON  
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than 3 years from the date 
 of this decision. 
 
Reason:  To conform with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended) 
 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
 following approved plans:  
 Dwg:3726-1-100-P6-Site Plan 
 Dwg:3726-1-101-P3 Existing Site Plan 
 Dwg:3726-1-102-P3 Location Plan 
 Dwg:3726-1-103-P7-External Finishes Plan 
 Dwg:3726-1-202-P6 Proposed Roof Plan 
 Dwg:3726-1-300-P6 Proposed Unit Elevations 
 Dwg:3726-1-203-P3-Pre-Check Gatehouse Plans & Elevations 
 Dwg:3726-1-201-P4 Office Plans 
 Dwg:3726-1-200-P5 Unit Plan 
 Dwg:3726-1-106-P2 Cycle Shelter Plan 
 Dwg: LP-LE-GEN-XX-SK-CE-027-S5-A1-A  Road Improvements 
 Dwg: CPW-200778-E-200-EXT-0001-P3 Proposed External Lighting Layout 
 Dwg:2045-20-01B Tree constraints plan 1 of 2 29-10-20 
 Dwg:2045-20-02B Tree constraints plans 2 of 2 29-10-20 
 Dwg:2045-20-03D - Tree Protection, Retention + Removal Plan 
 Dwg:2045-20-04D - Tree Protection, Retention + Removal Plan 
 Dwg: 2045-20-05H - Landscape Concept Plan (Sheet 1 of 2) 
 Dwg:2045-20-06F - Landscape Concept Plan (Sheet 2 of 2) 
 Dwg:3726-1-105-P5-Phasing Plan 
 Travel Plan- October 2020 
 Statement of Community Involvement- October 2020 
 Environmental Site Assessment- November 2020 
 Design and Access Statement-November 2020 
 Energy Assessment- November 2020 06/11/2020 Issue No. 1  
 Air Quality Assessment- November 2020 
 Noise Assessment- November 2020 

Page 69



 Drainage Strategy- October 2020 
 Planning Statement- November 2020 
 Transport Statement- November 2020 
 Preliminary Ecological Appraisal- November 2020 
 Arboricultural Impact Assessment- 465-20 (AIA), Revision 0 
 Arboricultural Assessment Addendum- January 2021 
 Archaeological DBA- November 2020 
 Geo-Environmental Assessment- August 2019 
 Biodiversity Impact Assessment Calc (Final) 
 External Lighting Report- Rev P2 
 Lyons Park Consultation Response Letter- 1st February 2021 
 Highway Comments Response- 12th March 2021 
 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning 
 
3.  Prior to their incorporation into the development hereby permitted, sample details of 
 all facing and roofing materials shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
 Local Planning Authority. These details shall be installed only  in full accordance 
 with the approved details prior to the first occupation of the development within that 
 phase and thereafter shall be retained and shall not be removed or altered in any 
 way. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the proposed development has a satisfactory external 
appearance in the interests of the visual amenities of the area in accordance with Policy 
DE1 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
 
4.  Any landscaping (other than the planting of trees and shrubs) including the erection 
 of boundary treatment, and the installation of paving and footpaths shown on the 
 approved plans shall be completed in all respects within three months of the first use 
 of the development within that phase and the tree(s) and shrub(s) shall be planted 
 within the first planting season following that first use.  Any tree(s) or shrub(s) 
 removed, dying, or becoming; in the opinion of the Local Planning Authority; 
 seriously damaged, defective or diseased within five years from the substantial 
 completion of the scheme shall be replaced within the next planting season by 
 tree(s) or shrub(s) of similar size and species to those originally required to be 
 planted. All hedging, tree(s) and shrub(s) shall be planted in accordance with British 
 Standard BS 8545:2014 Trees: from nursery to independence in the landscape - 
 Recommendations and BS4428 - Code of Practice for General Landscape 
 Operations. 
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of appearance of the development in the 
interests of the visual amenities of the area in accordance with Policies GE1 and DE1 of  
the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
 
5.  The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied unless and until the bin 
 storage areas have been provided in full accordance with the details shown on the 

Page 70



 approved plans within that phase and thereafter they shall remain available for use 
 at all times and shall not be removed or altered in any way. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the amenities of the future occupants of the residential 
accommodation in accordance with Policy DE1 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
 
6.   No storage shall take place in the open on any part of the site. 
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of appearance of the development in the 
interests of the visual amenities of the area in accordance with Policy DE1 of  the Coventry 
Local Plan 2016. 
 
7.  No machinery shall be operated outside of the building(s) 
  
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of nearby occupiers in accordance with Policy 
DE1 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016 
 
8.  The development hereby permitted shall only proceed in strict accordance with a 
 scheme for targeting and utilising local people for construction and employment, 
 which shall be submitted to an approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To secure local employment in accordance with the City Council jobs strategy 
and Policy JE7 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
 
9.  No development (including any demolition or preparatory works) within that phase 
 shall take place unless and until a written scheme of archaeological investigation 
 has been submitted to and approved in writing by local planning authority, which 
 shall include the following: 
 The programme and methodology of site investigation and recording and the 
 nomination of a competent person(s) or organisation to undertake the agreed works 
 The programme for post-investigation assessment and subsequent analysis, 
 publication & dissemination and deposition of resulting material. This part of the 
 condition shall not be discharged until these elements have been fulfilled in 
 accordance with the programme set out in the WSI' 
 The development shall only proceed in full accordance with these approved details. 
 
 Reason: The submission of these details prior to the commencement of development 
is fundamental to mitigate the effect of the works associated with the development upon 
any heritage assets and to ensure that information regarding these heritage assets is 
preserved by record for this and future generations in accordance with Policy HE2 of the 
Coventry Local Plan 2016 
 
10.  Prior to the occupation of the development within that phase hereby permitted the 
 following drainage details shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
 Planning Authority: 
 I. Provisions must be made for the drainage of the site to ensure there are no 

Page 71



 temporary increases in flood risk, on or off site, during the construction phase. 
 II. An appropriately scaled intrusive ground investigation report to establish the depth 
 and type of strata, including percolation results in accordance with BRE 365 and the 
 presence and risk associated with migrant contaminants. Provide evidence of 
 existing groundwater levels and seasonal variation, in order to inform the drainage 
 design 
 III. The development must be considered for the implementation of permeable 
 paving or similar permeable material for the partial reduction of flow and the 
 improvement of water quality in accordance with Coventry City Council's adopted 
 Supplementary Planning Document for 'Delivering a More Sustainable City'. 
 IV. The development shall not be occupied until such time as a scheme to install 
 vehicular traffic pollution control measures within the trafficked external areas and 
 at the loading dock leveller, together with oil and petrol separators with high level 
 alarm and a suitable shut-off valve for the wider site, has been submitted to, and 
 approved by, the Local Planning Authority. This should be submitted along with a 
 periodic maintenance plan. 
 V. Consideration should be given to bring the top water level of the attenuation pond 
 below the existing ground levels, to provide adequate protection against failure. If 
 this is not feasible, a satisfactory geotechnical design should be submitted, 
 supported with calculations demonstrating compliance with the relevant Eurocode 
 Factors of Safety for water retaining structures, with the relevant design certificates 
 to demonstrate this. Additionally, the embankment must allow for safe overtopping 
 and safe routing of surface water to the public highway or public open space, to 
 protect downstream homes and commercial premises. 
 VI. Provisions must be made for the drainage of the site to ensure there is no 
 discharge of surface water to the Public Highway. 
 VII. Foul drainage plans 
 The drainage details shall be installed in full accordance with the approved 
 documentation prior to occupation of the development and thereafter shall be 
 maintained and shall not be removed or altered in any way. 
 
Reason: To ensure that adequate drainage facilities are available for the satisfactory 
and proper development of the site in accordance with policies EM1, EM4 and EM5 of the 
Coventry Local Plan 2016 and Coventry City Council's adopted Supplementary Planning 
Document for 'Delivering a More Sustainable City' 
 
11.  Prior to their incorporation into the development hereby permitted, a package of 
 measures to minimise the impact of the development upon local air quality shall be 
 submitted to and in writing for each phase by the Local Planning Authority.  These 
 measures shall have consideration of the following: -  
 (i) Provision for electric vehicle recharging points to be made 'EV-ready' so a power 
 connection is available to install an EV charge point as required;  
 (ii) 1 per 10 unallocated spaces to be for EV re-charging on non-residential 
 development  
 (iii) Use of low NOx boilers (to have a maximum dry NOx emissions rate of 
 40mg/kWh) 

Page 72



 The measures shall be installed in full accordance with the approved details prior to 
 first occupation of the development and thereafter shall be retained and shall not be 
 removed or altered in any way. 
 
 Reason: To mitigate the impacts of development on air quality during and post 
construction in accordance with Policies DS3 & EM7 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
 
12.  Before the development hereby permitted commences within each phase details of 
 additional gas monitoring shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
 planning authority. If the local planning authority determines the gas protection 
 measures are necessary, the protection measures shall be installed in full 
 accordance with the approved details prior to first occupation of the development 
 and thereafter shall be retained and shall not be removed or altered in any way. 
 
Reason: To safeguard health, safety and the environment in accordance with Policy 
EM6 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016 and the aims and objectives of the NPPF. 
 
13.  Prior to the commencement of any phase of the development, a method statement 
 detailing the control of emissions into the air during the demolition/construction 
 phase should be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
 Authority. The method statement should accord with the Best Practice Guidance - 
 'The control of dust and emissions from construction and demolition'  and include:-  
 a)proposed hours of work; 
  b) map with nearest receptors and distances for dust and noise;  
 c) noise impact on nearest neighbours and control measures as required;  
 d) monitoring methods and measurement locations for dust and noise recording 
 details; 
  e) dust mitigation measures;  
 f) contact details for responsible persons and site personnel training; and  
 g) information provision and liaison with local residents. The development shall only 
 proceed in full accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: To protect the amenity of the occupiers of the residential accommodation 
hereby approved in accordance with Policies DS3 and EM7 of the Coventry Local Plan 
2016. 
 
14.  Prior to the occupation of any phase of the development hereby permitted a noise 
 management plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
 Planning Authority. This shall specify the provisions to be made for the control of 
 noise emanating from the site. The noise mitigation scheme should be installed in 
 full accordance with the approved details prior to the first occupation of that phase 
 and thereafter shall be retained. 
 
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of the adjoining occupiers of the development in 
accordance with Policy DE1 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
 

Page 73



15.  No development or other operations within each phase (including any demolition, 
 site clearance or other preparatory works) shall commence unless and until tree 
 protection measures have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
 Planning Authority.  
 The tree protection measure shall safeguard against damage or injury during  
 construction works (in accordance with Clause 7 of British Standard BS5837) all 
 trees on the site, or those trees whose root structure may extend within the site and 
 which are the subject of the City of Coventry (Allesley Northfield No.1) Tree 
 Preservation Order 2009 (T1 Monkey Puzzle, T2 Sweet Chestnut, T3 Lime, T4 Lime, 
 T5 Lime, G1 (x2 Oak), G2 (1 Sycamore and 1 Oak) and Woodland) In particular no 
 excavations, site works, stock piling, trenches or channels shall be cut or pipes or 
 services laid, no fires shall be lit within 10 metres of the nearest point of the Root 
 Protection Area or outer canopy of any protected tree(s); no equipment, machinery 
 or structure shall be located within this zone; no mixing of cement or use of other 
 contaminating materials or substances shall take place within, or close enough to, a 
 root protection area that seepage or displacement could cause them to enter a root 
 protection area, or any other works be carried out in such a way as to cause 
 damage or injury to the tree(s) by interference with their root structure and no soil or 
 waste shall be deposited on the land in such a position as to be likely to cause 
 damage or injury to the tree(s).  
 The approved mitigation and / or protection measures shall be put in place prior to 
 the commencement of any works and shall remain in place during all construction 
 work. 
 
 Reason: To protect adjacent trees which are the subject of a Tree Preservation Order 
and trees which are of significant amenity value to the area and which would provide an 
enhanced standard of appearance to the development in accordance with Policy GE1 and 
GE4 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
 
16.  No development or other operations within each phase (including any demolition, 
 site clearance or other preparatory works) shall commence unless and until the tree 
 protection measures identified in the approved application documentation have 
 been put into place in strict  accordance with the approved details and thereafter 
 they shall remain in place during all construction work.  In addition no excavations, 
 site works, stock piling, trenches or channels shall be cut or pipes or services laid, 
 no fires shall be lit within 10 metres of the nearest point of the canopy or root 
 protection area of any protected tree(s); no equipment, machinery or structure shall 
 be located within this zone; no mixing of cement or use of other contaminating 
 materials or substances shall take place within, or close enough to, a root protection 
 area that seepage or displacement could cause them to enter a root  protection 
 area or any other works carried out in such a way as to cause damage or injury  
 to the tree(s) by interference with their root structure and that no soil or waste shall 
 be deposited on the land in such a position as to be likely to cause damage or injury 
 to the tree(s). 
 
 Reason: To protect those trees which are of significant amenity value to the 

Page 74



Conservation Area and which would provide an enhanced standard of appearance to the 
development in accordance with Policy GE3, GE4 and HE2 of the Coventry Local Plan 
2016. 
 
17.  Notwithstanding the submitted arboricultural impact Assesment, prior to 
 commencement of development or other operations within each phase (including 
 any demolition, site clearance or other preparatory works) a revised arboricultural 
 method statement to include a site monitoring model shall be submitted to and 
 approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved mitigation and / 
 or protection measures shall be put in place prior to the commencement of any 
 works and shall remain in place during all construction work. 
  
Reason: To protect those trees which are of significant amenity value to the area and 
which would provide an enhanced standard of appearance to the development in 
accordance with Policy GE3 and GE4 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
 
18.  Prior to the commencement of development within any phase approved by this 
 planning permission (or such other date or stage in development as may be agreed 
 in writing with the Local Planning Authority), the following components of a scheme 
 to deal with the risks associated with contamination of the site shall each be 
 submitted to  and approved, in writing, by the local planning authority:  
 1. A preliminary risk assessment which has identified: o all previous uses o potential 
 contaminants associated with those uses o a conceptual model of the site indicating 
 sources, pathways and receptors o potentially unacceptable risks arising from 
 contamination at the site.  
 2. A site investigation scheme, based on (1) to provide information for a detailed 
 assessment of the risk to all receptors that may be affected, including those off site.  
 3. The site investigation results and the detailed risk assessment (2) and, based on 
 these, an options appraisal and remediation strategy giving full details of the 
 remediation  measures required and how they are to be undertaken.  
 4. A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order to 
 demonstrate that the works set out in (3) are complete and identifying any 
 requirements for longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages, maintenance and 
 arrangements for contingency. Any changes to these components require the 
 express consent of the local planning authority. The scheme shall be implemented 
 as approved. 
 
 Reason: To prevent the pollution of Controlled Waters, notably the underlying Principal 
groundwater aquifer and the nearby surface water courses and to comply with EM4 and 
EM5 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
 
19.  No development (including any demolition) within any phase shall take place unless 
 and until a Construction Management Plan (CMP) has been submitted to and 
 approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The CMP shall include details 
 of:  
 - hours of work; 

Page 75



 - hours of deliveries to the site;  
 - the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors during the 
 demolition/construction phase;  
 - the delivery access point;  
 - the loading and unloading of plant and materials;  
 - anticipated size and frequency of vehicles moving to/from the site;  
 - the storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development;  
 - the erection and maintenance of a security hoarding including decorative displays 
 and facilities for public viewing where appropriate;  
 - wheel washing facilities and other measures to ensure that any vehicle, plant or 
 equipment leaving the application site does not carry mud or deposit other materials 
 onto the public highway;  
 - measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during demolition and 
 construction;  
 - measures to control the presence of asbestos;  
 - measures to minimise noise disturbance to neighbouring properties during 
 demolition and construction;  
 - details of any piling together with details of how any associated vibration will be 
 monitored and controlled; and  
 - a scheme for recycling / disposing of waste resulting from demolition and 
 construction works.  
 Thereafter, the approved details within the CMP shall be strictly adhered to 
 throughout the construction period and shall not be amended in any way. 
 
Reason: The agreement of a Construction Management Plan prior to the 
commencement of development is fundamental to ensure a satisfactory level of 
environmental protection; to minimise disturbance to local residents and in the interests of 
highway safety during the construction process in accordance with Policies AC1 and AC2 
of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
 
20. The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied unless and until cycle 
 parking facilities have been provided in full accordance with the approved details. 
 Thereafter those facilities shall remain available for use at all times and shall not be 
 removed or altered in any way. 
 
Reason: In the interests of encouraging the use of alternative modes of transport with 
the aim of creating a more sustainable city in accordance with Policies DS3, AC3 and AC4 
of the Coventry Local 2016. 
 
21.   The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied unless and until the access 
 to the site, manoeuvring space(s) and car parking area(s) indicated on the approved 
 drawings within that phase have been provided in full accordance with those details  
 and thereafter those areas shall be kept marked out and available for such use at 
 all times. 
 

Page 76



Reason: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with the aims and objectives 
of Policies AC1, AC2 and AC3 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
 
22.  Prior to occupation of the development within any phase details of the footway 
 crossing/bellmouth for the vehicular access shall be submitted to and approved in 
 writing by the Local Planning Authority in the form of a Certificate.  Then prior to 
 occupation the footway crossover shall be implemented, retained therein after and 
 kept available for this use at all times. 
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with the aims and objectives 
of Policies AC1 and AC2 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016.  
 
23.  The Travel Plan- October 2020 hereby approved shall be implemented in full 
 accordance with the details specified therein. The Travel Plan- October 2020  as 
 approved shall be monitored and reviewed in accordance with the approved Travel 
 Plan- October 2020 targets and shall not be amended in any way unless otherwise 
 agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: In the interests of encouraging the use of alternative modes of transport with 
the aim of creating a more sustainable city in accordance with Policies DS3, AC3 and AC4 
of the Coventry Local 2016. 
 
24. Prior to occupation of phase 1 of the development hereby permitted an HGV routing 
 strategy and trailer parking management plan detailing access routes to and from 
 the site and a strategy for queuing vehicles and trailer parking shall be submitted to 
 approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This strategy shall be fully 
 implemented on occupation of the development hereby permitted and thereafter 
 shall only be operated in full accordance with these details. 
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and the free flow of traffic in accordance 
with the aims and objectives of Policies AC1 and AC2 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
 
25.  Phase 1 use of the development hereby permitted shall not be occupied unless and 
 until details of road directional signage and road markings to Sayer Drive have been 
 submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The signage 
 and road marking shall be installed in full accordance with the approved details prior 
 to first occupation of phase 1 of the development and thereafter retained. 
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and the free flow of traffic in accordance 
with the aims and objectives of Policies AC1 and AC2 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
 
26.  The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
 following approved Dwg:3726-1-105-P5-Phasing Plan unless and alternative 
 phasing plan has been agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 

Page 77



Reason: To ensure that in the event of the development being carried out on a phased 
basis, satisfactory access and interim environmental treatment is provided to address the 
impact in the interests of public safety and amenity in accordance with Policies DS4, DE1, 
AC1 and AC2 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
 

 

Page 78



P
age 79



HGV Trailer Parking
185 spaces

20000
15000

Level
Access

Level
Access

1st & 2nd
floor Offices
with
Undercroft

10 dock levellers

29 Trailer
Parking

128 spaces

138825

16180

24750

50000

CS CS CS CS CS CS CS CS CS

Entr.

140663

Bin Store &
External
Condensors

Gas
Gov

RMU

N

S

E

W

N

W

N

E

S

E

S

W

0 50

Metres

wdp

810

Cylinder

H/L

M M

H/L

285

u

s

w

h

M

T

100mm

waste

thru' wall

15mm

water

inlet

1000

Cylinder

H
E

L
P

!

RCD

ISOLATOR

4

4

4

H/L

H/L

Planning Approval

Ref FUL/2016/0627

2900

598

R4
32

0

30
00

2000

2000

2000

Cycling deterrent
across pedestrian
footpath route.
Centered in line with
fence.

G

Damaged Pallets (780qty)

new path routenew path route

1

C

Level Access 12 Dock Loading Doors

Drainage Easement

E
x
i
s
t
i
n

g
 
L

a
n

d
s
c
a

p
e

 
B

u
f
f
e

r

Gravel Concrete
Timber post and rail fence 1100 high + 250mm Concrete Wheel stop

S

P

P

P

P

P

S

S

S

S

S

Ar
mc

o B
ar

rie
r w

ith
 In

teg
ra

l h
an

dr
ail

Timber post and rail fence 1100 high + 250mm Concrete Wheel stop

1
1

1
1
2

1
3

3
0

1
8

20
0

T
X

1
2
x
8
m

c
h
i
l
l
e
r

c
o
m
p
o
u
n
d

2400

400

95
95

1250

250

1300
50

75

50 75

1440

75

50
1300

50

75

75

1300

50

75

50

210
114

Low-bracing-high

400

742

742

rail zone

ins/cladding

12
7

21
0

15
0

210152

cla
dd

ing
 fla

sh
ing

 re
tur

n

pr
ec

as
t te

rm
ina

te 
at

gr
idl

ine
 / b

ac
k o

f r
ail

 zo
ne

De
tai

l a
t F

/32

400

1
2

0
1

1940

100

230

100

230

Mesh enclosure with lid (small aperture
prison mesh). 1100 wide gate at either end,
linked to open on fire alarm.

650

80
6 

TO
 8

08

1130
676

6794

9120

PL
IN

TH
 F

OR
 M

AI
N 

LV
PA

NE
L-

DB
3

830

640

MAI
N IN

COM
ER

MO
BILE

 GE
NER

ATO
R IN

COM
ER

GLAND PLATE
GLAND PLATE

9x
15

0 D
UC

T 
FR

OM
 T

X3
 T

O 
TE

RM
IN

AT
E 

W
IT

HI
N

W
AR

EH
OU

SE
 C

/W
 S

LO
W

 R
AD

IU
S 

BE
ND

9x
15

0 D
UC

T 
FR

OM
 T

EM
P 

GE
NE

RA
TO

R
CO

NN
EC

TI
ON

 P
OI

NT
 T

O 
TE

RM
IN

AT
E 

W
IT

HI
N

W
AR

EH
OU

SE
 C

/W
 S

LO
W

 R
AD

IU
S 

BE
ND

99,9mm From front
face of HUb wall
to edge of panel

289,9mm From front
face of HUb wall
to centre of duct

4
2

1

125

5157
910

3095

be
lfa

st 
sin

k w
ith

 gr
ate

30
00

x2
80

0
sc

ru
bb

er
 zo

ne

ac
o t

yp
e g

ull
ey

 dr
ain

an
d g

rill
e

pa
ttr

es
s f

or
 si

nk

ke
yk

lam
p t

yp
e h

an
dr

ail

ke
yk

lam
p t

yp
e h

an
dr

ail

10
0 w

ide
 x 

15
0 h

igh
up

sta
nd

s t
o 3

 si
de

s
3000

30
00

27351885

Unit 3
Net Site Area
2.16ha / 5.33acre

Existing Gatehouse

Attenuation
Pond

12170

8131

Pre check office

Sliding Gate &
manual barriers

D
U

A
L
 H

E
IG

H
T
 P

H
O

T
O

C
E
L
L
S

D
U

A
L
 H

E
IG

H
T
 P

H
O

T
O

C
E
L
L
S

Pre check office
Sliding gate &
manual barriers

71

53

22
9

18

Pre check office

Issue Purpose:

Rev Date/Checked

pHp

pHp a r c h i t e c t s

architects

The  Old  Rectory      Rectory  Lane      Milton  Malsor

N O R T H A M P T O N                   N N 7  3 A Q

t: +44  (0)1604  858916    f: +44  (0)1604  859123

www.peter-haddon.com

Drawn by: Checked by:

Scale @ A1: Date:

CAD ref: Dwg no.: Rev:

Copyright reserved.   Dimensions to be checked on site.   Discrepancies to be reported before proceeding

PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT LAND

LYONS PARK, FORMER LAWRENCE AUTOMOTIVE SITE

COVENTRY

LYONS PARK, SITE PLAN

Planning

RG RM

1/1250 09/2020

3726-1 SK248 3726-1-100 P6

P1: First issue. 28/09/20 rg

P2: Updated following client comments 02/10/20 rg

P3: Site Plan updated following client comments. Area Schedule amended. 06/10/20 rg

P4: Pre Check GEA amended. Fencing to JLR removed as requested. 07/10/20 rg

P5: Schedule of Areas amended 19/11/20 rg

P6: HGV parking updated. Attenuation pond revised. 28/01/21 rg

+- 115.5 / 116
Application Site
Red Line Area
9.19ha / 22.7acre

Areas Schedule Parking

Warehouse
GIA sqft

Warehouse
GIA sqm

Offices
GF Core
GIA sqft

Offices
GF Core
GIA sqm

Future
Welfare GF

sqft

Future
Welfare GF

sqm

Offices
FF & SF
GIA sqft

Offices
FF & SF
GIA sqm

Total  GIA
sqft

Total   GIA
sqm

Total   GEA
sqft

Total   GEA
sqm

Pre-Check
Office GEA

sqft

Pre-Check
Office GEA

sqm

Cars
Parking

HGV
Parking Docks Level

Access Cycles PTW's

92612 8604 710 66 3659 340 8718 810 105699 9820 108478 10078 666 62 128 29 10 2 30 6

Total 92612 8604 710 66 3659 340 8718 810 105699 9820 108478 10078 666 62 128 29 10 2 30 6

Electric vehicle
charging bays

Carshare Bays

SCALE 1:1250
50m0 25m

Existing Unit

Existing Unit

Existing UnitExisting Unit

Existing
Unit

Existing Unit

Existing Unit

+- 115

+- 113

+- 115.5 / 116 Cycle Parking

Notes:

- Total floorspace figures relate to the proposed warehouse building and exclude

          Pre-Check Offices for the HGV trailer parking area.

- Car parking total includes 6 disabled spaces. 2.

- HGV parking total excludes 173 spaces in the HGV trailer parking area;

P
age 80

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST HELEN'S WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
COUNDON WEDGE DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
STAIRCASE LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
Townfields

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
57

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
52

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
46

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
64

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
Northfield Farm

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
Brownsland

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
Nurseries

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
114.1m

AutoCAD SHX Text_22
109.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_23
106.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_24
River Sherbourne

AutoCAD SHX Text_25
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_26
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_27
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_28
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_29
Flag

AutoCAD SHX Text_30
Flag

AutoCAD SHX Text_31
Sp

AutoCAD SHX Text_32
Sp

AutoCAD SHX Text_33
Sp

AutoCAD SHX Text_34
Sp

AutoCAD SHX Text_35
Sp

AutoCAD SHX Text_36
Sp

AutoCAD SHX Text_37
Sp

AutoCAD SHX Text_38
Flag

AutoCAD SHX Text_39
Flag

AutoCAD SHX Text_40
Flag

AutoCAD SHX Text_41
Flag

AutoCAD SHX Text_42
Flag

AutoCAD SHX Text_43
Flag

AutoCAD SHX Text_44
Sp

AutoCAD SHX Text_45
Sp

AutoCAD SHX Text_46
Sp

AutoCAD SHX Text_47
Overhead cables

AutoCAD SHX Text_48
Overhead cables

AutoCAD SHX Text_49
Overhead cables

AutoCAD SHX Text_50
Overhead cables

AutoCAD SHX Text_51
Overhead cables

AutoCAD SHX Text_52
Overhead cables

AutoCAD SHX Text_53
Overhead cables

AutoCAD SHX Text_54
Overhead cables

AutoCAD SHX Text_55
%%UMANIFOLD D

AutoCAD SHX Text_56
%%UMANIFOLD A

AutoCAD SHX Text_57
%%UMANIFOLD B

AutoCAD SHX Text_58
%%UMANIFOLD C

AutoCAD SHX Text_59
%%UMANIFOLD E

AutoCAD SHX Text_60
%%UMANIFOLD F

AutoCAD SHX Text_61
FOUL DRAIN REQUIRED CAPABLE OF 1000 LTRS/MIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_62
FOUL DRAIN REQUIRED CAPABLE OF 1000 LTRS/MIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_63
FOUL DRAIN REQUIRED CAPABLE OF 1000 LTRS/MIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_64
FOUL DRAIN REQUIRED CAPABLE OF 1000 LTRS/MIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_65
FOUL DRAIN REQUIRED CAPABLE OF 1000 LTRS/MIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_66
FOUL DRAIN REQUIRED CAPABLE OF 1000 LTRS/MIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_67
DP42

AutoCAD SHX Text_68
DP43



3no. Tillia cordata 'Greenspire'

3no. Betula pendula

2no. Acer campestre 'Streetwise'

1no. Betula albosinensis

1no. Betula albosinensis

3no. Tillia cordata 'Greenspire'

4no. Tillia cordata 'Greenspire'

Attenuation Basin Inlet

(Indicative only - To

engineers detail)

D O   N O T   S C A L E   F R O M   T H I S   D R A W I N G
C O P Y R I G H T    R E S E R V E D

CONTRACT

DATE

ISSUE 

DRAWN

CHECKED

ORIG SHEET A0SCALE

DRAWING

CLIENT

PROJECT

DRG NO.

REV

CAD FILE

NOTES

LAWRENCE AUTOMOTIVE LAND,

LYONS PARK.

LANDSCAPE CONCEPT PLAN

(Sheet 1 of 2)

2045-20

22-02-20

Comment

1:500

2045-20-05+06 Landscape Concept.dwg

HC

MB

05

H

REV NOTE DATE AUTH

Barry Chinn Associates Ltd. Harbury Road, Deppers Bridge, Southam, Warwickshire, CV47 2SZ
Tel: +44 (0)1926 614031  Email: gen@bca-landscape.com  Website: www.bca-landscape.com

05

06

DRAWING LOCATION PLAN

R
e
f
e
r
 
t
o
 
d
r
a
w

i
n
g
 
2
0
4
5
-
2
0
-
0
6
E

 
f
o
r
 
d
e
t
a
i
l

REV A 06-11-20 MABMinor layout update

REV B 10-11-20 MABAlteration following client comments

REV C 04-12-20 HCAmended to updated architects layout

REV D 07-12-20 HCCycle storage location & landscaping updated to new layout

REV E 25-01-21 HCUpdated to suit latest architects & engineering plans

REV F 28-01-21 HCUpdated to show revised attenuation pond design

REV G 01-02-21 HCDrawing annotation revised.

REV H 22-02-21 HCFencelines adjusted

P
age 81



N

S

E

W

N

W

N

E

S

E

S

W

0 50

Metres

wdp

810

Cylinder

H/L

M M

H/L

285

u

s

w

h

M

T

100mm

waste

thru' wall

15mm

water

inlet

1000

Cylinder

H
E

L
P

!

RCD

ISOLATOR

4

4

4

H/L

H/L

Fire Hydrant(s)

UNIT D (existing)

UNIT E (existing) UNIT C (existing)

UNIT B (existing)

UNIT A
(existing)

2900

598

R4
32

0

30
00

2000

2000

2000

Cycling deterrent
across pedestrian
footpath route.
Centered in line with
fence.

G

Damaged Pallets (780qty)

new path routenew path route

Existing
Drainage
Easement

2 no. level
loading bays

Car Parking  34 spaces

retaining wall

retaining wall

Recycling &
Refuse

Recycling
& Refuse

Recycling
& Refuse

Recycling
& Refuse

Cycle shelter (5)
PTW's (2)

ACOUSTIC BARRIER  FENCING ACOUSTIC BARRIER  FENCING

3 no. level
loading bays

3no. loading
docks

2 no. level
loading bays

2no. loading
docks

3no. loading
docks

2 no. level
loading bays

HGV Parking

Car Parking  33 spaces

Car Parking
13 spaces

footpath access

Car Parking
13 spaces

Gas Gov.
/ Meter

Gas Gov.
/ Meter

Cycle shelter (4)
PTW's (2)

1

C

External condenser unitExternal condenser unit

External condenser unit

Goodman Land

Gravel Concrete
Timber post and rail fence 1100 high + 250mm Concrete Wheel stop

S

P

P

P

P

P

S

S

S

S

S

Ar
mc

o B
ar

rie
r w

ith
 In

teg
ra

l h
an

dr
ail

Timber post and rail fence 1100 high + 250mm Concrete Wheel stop

1
1

1
1
2

1
3

3
0

1
8

20
0

T
X

1
2
x
8
m

c
h
i
l
l
e
r

c
o
m
p
o
u
n
d

2400

400

95
95

1250

250

1300
50

75

50 75

1440

75

50
1300

50

75

75

1300

50

75

50

210
114

Low-bracing-high

400

742

742

rail zone

ins/cladding

12
7

21
0

15
0

210152

cla
dd

ing
 fla

sh
ing

 re
tur

n

pr
ec

as
t te

rm
ina

te 
at

gr
idl

ine
 / b

ac
k o

f r
ail

 zo
ne

De
tai

l a
t F

/32

400

1
2

0
1

1940

100

230

100

230

Mesh enclosure with lid (small aperture
prison mesh). 1100 wide gate at either end,
linked to open on fire alarm.

650

80
6 

TO
 8

08

1130
676

6794

9120

PL
IN

TH
 F

OR
 M

AI
N 

LV
PA

NE
L-

DB
3

830

640

MAI
N IN

COM
ER

MO
BILE

 GE
NER

ATO
R IN

COM
ER

GLAND PLATE
GLAND PLATE

9x
15

0 D
UC

T 
FR

OM
 T

X3
 T

O 
TE

RM
IN

AT
E 

W
IT

HI
N

W
AR

EH
OU

SE
 C

/W
 S

LO
W

 R
AD

IU
S 

BE
ND

9x
15

0 D
UC

T 
FR

OM
 T

EM
P 

GE
NE

RA
TO

R
CO

NN
EC

TI
ON

 P
OI

NT
 T

O 
TE

RM
IN

AT
E 

W
IT

HI
N

W
AR

EH
OU

SE
 C

/W
 S

LO
W

 R
AD

IU
S 

BE
ND

99,9mm From front
face of HUb wall
to edge of panel

289,9mm From front
face of HUb wall
to centre of duct

4
2

1

125

5157
910

3095

be
lfa

st 
sin

k w
ith

 gr
ate

30
00

x2
80

0
sc

ru
bb

er
 zo

ne

ac
o t

yp
e g

ull
ey

 dr
ain

an
d g

rill
e

pa
ttr

es
s f

or
 si

nk

ke
yk

lam
p t

yp
e h

an
dr

ail

ke
yk

lam
p t

yp
e h

an
dr

ail

10
0 w

ide
 x 

15
0 h

igh
up

sta
nd

s t
o 3

 si
de

s
3000

30
00

27351885

Unit 3
Net Site Area
2.16ha / 5.33acre

12170

8131

Issue Purpose:

Rev Date/Checked

pHp

pHp a r c h i t e c t s

architects

The  Old  Rectory      Rectory  Lane      Milton  Malsor

N O R T H A M P T O N                   N N 7  3 A Q

t: +44  (0)1604  858916    f: +44  (0)1604  859123

www.peter-haddon.com

Drawn by: Checked by:

Scale @ A1: Date:

CAD ref: Dwg no.: Rev:

Copyright reserved.   Dimensions to be checked on site.   Discrepancies to be reported before proceeding

PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT LAND

LYONS PARK, FORMER LAWRENCE AUTOMOTIVE SITE

COVENTRY

LYONS PARK, EXISTING SITE PLAN

Planning

RG RM

1/1250 09/2020

3726-1 SK248 3726-1-101 P3

P1: First issue. 29/09/20 rg

P2: Updated following client comments 02/10/20 rg

P3: Blue line amended. 06/10/20 rg

Application Site Red Line Area
9.19ha / 22.7acre

SCALE 1:1250
50m0 25m

Existing Unit

Existing Unit

Existing Unit

Existing Unit

Existing
Unit

Existing Unit

Existing Unit

P
age 82

AutoCAD SHX Text_69
ST HELEN'S WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_70
COUNDON WEDGE DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_71
STAIRCASE LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_72
Townfields

AutoCAD SHX Text_73
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_74
57

AutoCAD SHX Text_75
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_76
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_77
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_78
52

AutoCAD SHX Text_79
46

AutoCAD SHX Text_80
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_81
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_82
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_83
64

AutoCAD SHX Text_84
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_85
Northfield Farm

AutoCAD SHX Text_86
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_87
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_88
Brownsland

AutoCAD SHX Text_89
Nurseries

AutoCAD SHX Text_90
114.1m

AutoCAD SHX Text_91
109.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_92
106.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_93
River Sherbourne

AutoCAD SHX Text_94
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_95
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_96
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_97
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_98
Flag

AutoCAD SHX Text_99
Flag

AutoCAD SHX Text_100
Sp

AutoCAD SHX Text_101
Sp

AutoCAD SHX Text_102
Sp

AutoCAD SHX Text_103
Sp

AutoCAD SHX Text_104
Sp

AutoCAD SHX Text_105
Sp

AutoCAD SHX Text_106
Sp

AutoCAD SHX Text_107
Flag

AutoCAD SHX Text_108
Flag

AutoCAD SHX Text_109
Flag

AutoCAD SHX Text_110
Flag

AutoCAD SHX Text_111
Flag

AutoCAD SHX Text_112
Flag

AutoCAD SHX Text_113
Sp

AutoCAD SHX Text_114
Sp

AutoCAD SHX Text_115
Sp

AutoCAD SHX Text_116
Overhead cables

AutoCAD SHX Text_117
Overhead cables

AutoCAD SHX Text_118
Overhead cables

AutoCAD SHX Text_119
Overhead cables

AutoCAD SHX Text_120
Overhead cables

AutoCAD SHX Text_121
Overhead cables

AutoCAD SHX Text_122
Overhead cables

AutoCAD SHX Text_123
Overhead cables

AutoCAD SHX Text_124
%%UMANIFOLD D

AutoCAD SHX Text_125
%%UMANIFOLD A

AutoCAD SHX Text_126
%%UMANIFOLD B

AutoCAD SHX Text_127
%%UMANIFOLD C

AutoCAD SHX Text_128
%%UMANIFOLD E

AutoCAD SHX Text_129
%%UMANIFOLD F

AutoCAD SHX Text_130
FOUL DRAIN REQUIRED CAPABLE OF 1000 LTRS/MIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_131
FOUL DRAIN REQUIRED CAPABLE OF 1000 LTRS/MIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_132
FOUL DRAIN REQUIRED CAPABLE OF 1000 LTRS/MIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_133
FOUL DRAIN REQUIRED CAPABLE OF 1000 LTRS/MIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_134
FOUL DRAIN REQUIRED CAPABLE OF 1000 LTRS/MIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_135
FOUL DRAIN REQUIRED CAPABLE OF 1000 LTRS/MIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_136
DP42

AutoCAD SHX Text_137
DP43



PROPOSED WILDFLOWER GRASS SEED AREAS

(Cultivated subsoil to a depth of 300mm)

Emorsgate Basic General Purpose Meadow mixture EM1 to be

sown in accordance with manufacturers specification.

PROPOSED WET WILDFLOWER GRASS SEED AREAS

(150mm depth of topsoil onto 150mm depth subsoil )

Emorsgate Pond Edge mixture EP1 to be sown in accordance

with manufacturers specifiaction.

SLOPE

SITE BOUNDARY

PROPOSED AQUATIC PLANTING

(150mm depth of topsoil onto 150mm depth subsoil )

EXISTING GRASSLAND TO BE RETAINED

230230

Attenuation Basin Inlet

(Indicative only - To

engineers detail)

TPO - T3

TPO - T4

TPO - T5

TPO - T1

TPO - G1

Exisitng hedgerow to be retained.

To be infilled where drainage channel

punches through.

Location indicative only.

Attenuation basin outlet pipe

(Indicative only - To engineers detail)

Existing sward to be lifted

and reused following

drainage instillation

D O   N O T   S C A L E   F R O M   T H I S   D R A W I N G
C O P Y R I G H T    R E S E R V E D

CONTRACT

DATE

ISSUE 

DRAWN

CHECKED

ORIG SHEET A1SCALE

DRAWING

CLIENT

PROJECT

DRG NO.

REV

CAD FILE

Barry Chinn Associates Limited:   Harbury Road,   Deppers Bridge,   Southam,   Warwickshire    CV47 2SZ
T +44 (0)1926 614031  F +44 (0)1926 614433   E gen@bca-landscape.com  W www.bca-landscape.com

NOTES

LAWRENCE AUTOMOTIVE LAND,

LYONS PARK

LANDSCAPE CONCEPT PLAN

(Sheet 2 of 2)

2045-20

20-10-20

Comment

1:500

2045-20-05+06 Landcsape Concept.dwg

HC

MB

06

F

REV NOTE DATE AUTH

DRAWING LOCATION PLAN

05

06

R
e
f
e
r
 
t
o
 
d
r
a
w

i
n
g
 
2
0
4
5
-
2
0
-
0
5
F

 
f
o
r
 
d
e
t
a
i
l

Rev A  Newly planted hedgerows added & design amended to suit 27/10/20 HC

Rev B  Alteration following client comments 10/11/20 MB

Rev C  Amended to suit updated architects layout 04/12/20 MB

Rev D  Updated to reflect ecologist recommendations 25/01/21 HC

Rev E  Updated to show revised attenuation pond design 28/01/21 HC

Rev F  Drawing annotation revised. 01/02/21 HC

P
age 83



N

S

E

W

N

W

N

E

S

E

S

W

0 50 100 200

Metres

250

wdp

810

Cylinder

H/L

M M

H/L

285

us

wh

M

T

100mm

waste

thru' wall

15mm

water

inlet

1000

Cylinder

HE
LP

!

RCD

ISOLATOR

4

4

4

H/L

H/L

Fire Hydrant(s)

Services Easement

UNIT D (existing)

UNIT E (existing) UNIT C (existing)

UNIT B (existing)

UNIT A
(existing)

2900

598

R4
32

0

30
00

2000

2000

2000

Cycling deterrent
across pedestrian
footpath route.
Centered in line with
fence.

G

Damaged Pallets (780qty)

new path routenew path route

Existing
Drainage
Easement

2 no. level
loading bays

Car Parking  34 spaces

retaining wall

retaining wall

Recycling &
Refuse

Recycling
& Refuse

Recycling
& Refuse

Recycling
& Refuse

Cycle shelter (5)
PTW's (2)

ACOUSTIC BARRIER  FENCING ACOUSTIC BARRIER  FENCING

3 no. level
loading bays

3no. loading
docks

2 no. level
loading bays

2no. loading
docks

3no. loading
docks

2 no. level
loading bays

HGV Parking

Car Parking  33 spaces

Car Parking
13 spaces

footpath access

Car Parking
13 spaces

Gas Gov.
/ Meter

Gas Gov.
/ Meter

Cycle shelter (4)
PTW's (2)

1

C

External condenser unitExternal condenser unit

External condenser unit

Goodman Land

Existing Landscape Buffer

Landscape Buffer

Gravel Concrete
Timber post and rail fence 1100 high + 250mm Concrete Wheel stop

S

P

P

P

P

P

S

S

S

S

S

Ar
mc

o B
ar

rie
r w

ith
 In

teg
ra

l h
an

dr
ail

Timber post and rail fence 1100 high + 250mm Concrete Wheel stop

11
1

12

13

30

18

20
0

T
X

1
2
x
8
m

c
h
i
l
l
e
r

c
o
m
p
o
u
n
d

2400

400

95
95

1250

250

1300

50

75

50 75

1440

75

50
1300

50

75

75

1300

50

75

50

210
114

Low-bracing-high

400

742

742

rail zone

ins/cladding

127
210

150

210152

cla
ddi

ng 
flas

hin
g re

turn
pre

cas
t te

rmi
nat

e a
t

grid
line

 / b
ack

 of 
rail

 zo
ne

De
tai

l a
t F

/32

400

1
2

0
1

1940

100

230

100

230

Mesh enclosure with lid (small aperture
prison mesh). 1100 wide gate at either end,
linked to open on fire alarm.

650

806
 TO

 808

1130
676

6794

9120

PL
IN

TH
 F

OR
 M

AI
N 

LV
PA

NE
L-

DB
3

830

640

MAIN IN
COMER

MOBILE
 GENER

ATOR I
NCOME

R

GLAND PLATE
GLAND PLATE

9x
15

0 D
UC

T 
FR

OM
 T

X3
 T

O 
TE

RM
IN

AT
E 

W
IT

HI
N

W
AR

EH
OU

SE
 C

/W
 S

LO
W

 R
AD

IU
S 

BE
ND

9x
15

0 D
UC

T 
FR

OM
 T

EM
P 

GE
NE

RA
TO

R
CO

NN
EC

TI
ON

 P
OI

NT
 T

O 
TE

RM
IN

AT
E 

W
IT

HI
N

W
AR

EH
OU

SE
 C

/W
 S

LO
W

 R
AD

IU
S 

BE
ND

99,9mm From front
face of HUb wall
to edge of panel

289,9mm From front
face of HUb wall
to centre of duct

42
1

125

5157
910

3095

be
lfa

st 
sin

k w
ith

 gr
ate

30
00

x2
80

0
sc

ru
bb

er
 zo

ne

ac
o t

yp
e g

ull
ey

 dr
ain

an
d g

rill
e

pa
ttr

es
s f

or
 si

nk

ke
yk

lam
p t

yp
e h

an
dr

ail

ke
yk

lam
p t

yp
e h

an
dr

ail

10
0 w

ide
 x 

15
0 h

igh
up

sta
nd

s t
o 3

 si
de

s

3000

30
00

27351885

Unit 3
Net Site Area
2.16ha / 5.33acre

Existing transformer / substation
gas housing

Existing driver
wc facilities

Existing concrete
hardstanding

12170

8131

Foul drainage easement (5m
offset from outer extent of run)

Net Site Area
2.28ha / 5.64acre

6 HGV Trailer
bays

Issue Purpose:

Rev Date/Checked

pHp

pHp a r c h i t e c t s

architects

The  Old  Rectory      Rectory  Lane      Milton  Malsor

N O R T H A M P T O N                   N N 7  3 A Q

t: +44  (0)1604  858916    f: +44  (0)1604  859123

www.peter-haddon.com

Drawn by: Checked by:

Scale @ A1: Date:

CAD ref: Dwg no.: Rev:

Copyright reserved.   Dimensions to be checked on site.   Discrepancies to be reported before proceeding

PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT LAND

LYONS PARK, FORMER LAWRENCE AUTOMOTIVE SITE

COVENTRY

LYONS PARK, LOCATION PLAN

Planning

RG RM

1/2500 09/2020

3726-1 SK248 3726-1-102 P3

P1: First issue. 29/09/20 rg

P2: Updated following client comments 02/10/20 rg

P3: Blue Line amended 06/10/20 rg

Application Site Red Line Area
9.19ha / 22.7acre

SCALE 1:2500
100m0 50m

P
age 84

AutoCAD SHX Text_138
BUTT LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_139
BREE CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_140
BUTT LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_141
BROWN'S LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_142
STREAMSIDE CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_143
RIPON CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_144
THE WINDMILL HILL

AutoCAD SHX Text_145
ANGLESEY CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_146
TOWN FIELDS

AutoCAD SHX Text_147
CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_148
RAMSAY CRESCENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_149
BUTT LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_150
RYDAL CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_151
RIPON CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_152
ST HELEN'S WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_153
ST HELEN'S WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_154
BROWN'S LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_155
MARYSTOW CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_156
SAUNTON CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_157
BUTT

AutoCAD SHX Text_158
LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_159
CRESCENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_160
RAMSAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_161
COUNDON WEDGE DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_162
STAIRCASE LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_163
FRESHFIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text_164
CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_165
STAIRCASE LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_166
COUNDON WEDGE DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_167
BROWN'S LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_168
CARVELL CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_169
FF

AutoCAD SHX Text_170
Def

AutoCAD SHX Text_171
RH

AutoCAD SHX Text_172
Und

AutoCAD SHX Text_173
Und

AutoCAD SHX Text_174
1.22m RH

AutoCAD SHX Text_175
Def

AutoCAD SHX Text_176
Und

AutoCAD SHX Text_177
RH

AutoCAD SHX Text_178
RH

AutoCAD SHX Text_179
Und

AutoCAD SHX Text_180
RH

AutoCAD SHX Text_181
Und

AutoCAD SHX Text_182
Und

AutoCAD SHX Text_183
Def

AutoCAD SHX Text_184
1.22m RH

AutoCAD SHX Text_185
Def

AutoCAD SHX Text_186
1.22m RH

AutoCAD SHX Text_187
113

AutoCAD SHX Text_188
101

AutoCAD SHX Text_189
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_190
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_191
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_192
205

AutoCAD SHX Text_193
203

AutoCAD SHX Text_194
197

AutoCAD SHX Text_195
195

AutoCAD SHX Text_196
193

AutoCAD SHX Text_197
183

AutoCAD SHX Text_198
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_199
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_200
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_201
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_202
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_203
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_204
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_205
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_206
Hall

AutoCAD SHX Text_207
117

AutoCAD SHX Text_208
125

AutoCAD SHX Text_209
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_210
174

AutoCAD SHX Text_211
172

AutoCAD SHX Text_212
176

AutoCAD SHX Text_213
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_214
Garage

AutoCAD SHX Text_215
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_216
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_217
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_218
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_219
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_220
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_221
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_222
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_223
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_224
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_225
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_226
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_227
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_228
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_229
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_230
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_231
Shelter

AutoCAD SHX Text_232
162

AutoCAD SHX Text_233
164

AutoCAD SHX Text_234
160

AutoCAD SHX Text_235
154

AutoCAD SHX Text_236
148

AutoCAD SHX Text_237
146

AutoCAD SHX Text_238
140

AutoCAD SHX Text_239
134

AutoCAD SHX Text_240
179

AutoCAD SHX Text_241
153

AutoCAD SHX Text_242
141

AutoCAD SHX Text_243
129

AutoCAD SHX Text_244
132

AutoCAD SHX Text_245
117

AutoCAD SHX Text_246
109

AutoCAD SHX Text_247
77

AutoCAD SHX Text_248
71

AutoCAD SHX Text_249
67

AutoCAD SHX Text_250
61

AutoCAD SHX Text_251
59

AutoCAD SHX Text_252
53

AutoCAD SHX Text_253
49

AutoCAD SHX Text_254
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_255
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_256
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_257
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_258
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_259
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_260
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_261
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_262
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_263
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_264
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_265
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_266
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_267
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_268
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_269
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_270
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_271
167

AutoCAD SHX Text_272
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_273
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_274
95

AutoCAD SHX Text_275
Townfields

AutoCAD SHX Text_276
166

AutoCAD SHX Text_277
170

AutoCAD SHX Text_278
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_279
65

AutoCAD SHX Text_280
69

AutoCAD SHX Text_281
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_282
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_283
45

AutoCAD SHX Text_284
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_285
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_286
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_287
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_288
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_289
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_290
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_291
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_292
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_293
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_294
48

AutoCAD SHX Text_295
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_296
57

AutoCAD SHX Text_297
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_298
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_299
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_300
52

AutoCAD SHX Text_301
46

AutoCAD SHX Text_302
63

AutoCAD SHX Text_303
73

AutoCAD SHX Text_304
83

AutoCAD SHX Text_305
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_306
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_307
80

AutoCAD SHX Text_308
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_309
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_310
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_311
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_312
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_313
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_314
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_315
91

AutoCAD SHX Text_316
93

AutoCAD SHX Text_317
105

AutoCAD SHX Text_318
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_319
82

AutoCAD SHX Text_320
88

AutoCAD SHX Text_321
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_322
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_323
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_324
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_325
117

AutoCAD SHX Text_326
129

AutoCAD SHX Text_327
139

AutoCAD SHX Text_328
147

AutoCAD SHX Text_329
186

AutoCAD SHX Text_330
190

AutoCAD SHX Text_331
55

AutoCAD SHX Text_332
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_333
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_334
60

AutoCAD SHX Text_335
70

AutoCAD SHX Text_336
98

AutoCAD SHX Text_337
64

AutoCAD SHX Text_338
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_339
64a

AutoCAD SHX Text_340
64b

AutoCAD SHX Text_341
184

AutoCAD SHX Text_342
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_343
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_344
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_345
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_346
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_347
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_348
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_349
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_350
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_351
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_352
Four Acres

AutoCAD SHX Text_353
Priorsfield

AutoCAD SHX Text_354
Northfield Farm

AutoCAD SHX Text_355
318

AutoCAD SHX Text_356
310

AutoCAD SHX Text_357
300

AutoCAD SHX Text_358
298

AutoCAD SHX Text_359
292

AutoCAD SHX Text_360
288

AutoCAD SHX Text_361
276

AutoCAD SHX Text_362
262

AutoCAD SHX Text_363
250

AutoCAD SHX Text_364
217

AutoCAD SHX Text_365
227

AutoCAD SHX Text_366
237

AutoCAD SHX Text_367
247

AutoCAD SHX Text_368
257

AutoCAD SHX Text_369
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_370
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_371
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_372
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_373
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_374
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_375
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_376
Kennels

AutoCAD SHX Text_377
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_378
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_379
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_380
212

AutoCAD SHX Text_381
210

AutoCAD SHX Text_382
202

AutoCAD SHX Text_383
192

AutoCAD SHX Text_384
165

AutoCAD SHX Text_385
151

AutoCAD SHX Text_386
246

AutoCAD SHX Text_387
210a

AutoCAD SHX Text_388
238 .

AutoCAD SHX Text_389
228a

AutoCAD SHX Text_390
230

AutoCAD SHX Text_391
232

AutoCAD SHX Text_392
228

AutoCAD SHX Text_393
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_394
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_395
BM 107.46m

AutoCAD SHX Text_396
103.3m

AutoCAD SHX Text_397
BM 102.59m

AutoCAD SHX Text_398
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_399
101.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_400
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_401
TCB

AutoCAD SHX Text_402
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_403
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_404
BM 102.15m

AutoCAD SHX Text_405
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_406
101.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_407
FBs

AutoCAD SHX Text_408
Foot Bridge

AutoCAD SHX Text_409
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_410
108.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_411
BM 107.04m

AutoCAD SHX Text_412
Allotment

AutoCAD SHX Text_413
Gardens

AutoCAD SHX Text_414
102.4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_415
ALLESLEY

AutoCAD SHX Text_416
101.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_417
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_418
BM 99.92m

AutoCAD SHX Text_419
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_420
100.3m

AutoCAD SHX Text_421
101.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_422
105.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_423
BM 111.51m

AutoCAD SHX Text_424
BM 120.30m

AutoCAD SHX Text_425
Brownsland

AutoCAD SHX Text_426
Nurseries

AutoCAD SHX Text_427
114.1m

AutoCAD SHX Text_428
109.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_429
98.4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_430
Frogmere

AutoCAD SHX Text_431
97.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_432
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_433
BM 97.58m

AutoCAD SHX Text_434
Henderson Close

AutoCAD SHX Text_435
106.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_436
BM 119.53m

AutoCAD SHX Text_437
BM

AutoCAD SHX Text_438
126.64m

AutoCAD SHX Text_439
126.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_440
Nursery

AutoCAD SHX Text_441
103.9m

AutoCAD SHX Text_442
River Sherbourne

AutoCAD SHX Text_443
River Sherbourne

AutoCAD SHX Text_444
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_445
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_446
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_447
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_448
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_449
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_450
Flag

AutoCAD SHX Text_451
Flag

AutoCAD SHX Text_452
Sp

AutoCAD SHX Text_453
Sp

AutoCAD SHX Text_454
Sp

AutoCAD SHX Text_455
Sp

AutoCAD SHX Text_456
Sp

AutoCAD SHX Text_457
Sp

AutoCAD SHX Text_458
Sp

AutoCAD SHX Text_459
Sp

AutoCAD SHX Text_460
Sp

AutoCAD SHX Text_461
Sp

AutoCAD SHX Text_462
Sp

AutoCAD SHX Text_463
Flag

AutoCAD SHX Text_464
Flag

AutoCAD SHX Text_465
Flag

AutoCAD SHX Text_466
Flag

AutoCAD SHX Text_467
Flag

AutoCAD SHX Text_468
Flag

AutoCAD SHX Text_469
Sp

AutoCAD SHX Text_470
Sp

AutoCAD SHX Text_471
Sp

AutoCAD SHX Text_472
Overhead cables

AutoCAD SHX Text_473
Overhead cables

AutoCAD SHX Text_474
Overhead cables

AutoCAD SHX Text_475
Overhead cables

AutoCAD SHX Text_476
Overhead cables

AutoCAD SHX Text_477
Overhead cables

AutoCAD SHX Text_478
Overhead cables

AutoCAD SHX Text_479
Overhead cables

AutoCAD SHX Text_480
BURTON CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_481
CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_482
BURTON

AutoCAD SHX Text_483
BROWN'S LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_484
CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_485
BURTON

AutoCAD SHX Text_486
WALL HILL ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_487
COUNDON WEDGE DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_488
LONG LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_489
WALL HILL ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_490
HAWKES MILL LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_491
RH

AutoCAD SHX Text_492
RH

AutoCAD SHX Text_493
Und

AutoCAD SHX Text_494
RH

AutoCAD SHX Text_495
RH

AutoCAD SHX Text_496
Def

AutoCAD SHX Text_497
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_498
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_499
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_500
352

AutoCAD SHX Text_501
342

AutoCAD SHX Text_502
330

AutoCAD SHX Text_503
Caledonia

AutoCAD SHX Text_504
The Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_505
Shelter

AutoCAD SHX Text_506
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_507
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_508
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_509
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_510
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_511
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_512
49

AutoCAD SHX Text_513
55

AutoCAD SHX Text_514
58

AutoCAD SHX Text_515
356

AutoCAD SHX Text_516
358

AutoCAD SHX Text_517
358a

AutoCAD SHX Text_518
360

AutoCAD SHX Text_519
368

AutoCAD SHX Text_520
388

AutoCAD SHX Text_521
396

AutoCAD SHX Text_522
95

AutoCAD SHX Text_523
103

AutoCAD SHX Text_524
111

AutoCAD SHX Text_525
71

AutoCAD SHX Text_526
59

AutoCAD SHX Text_527
55

AutoCAD SHX Text_528
45

AutoCAD SHX Text_529
57

AutoCAD SHX Text_530
53

AutoCAD SHX Text_531
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_532
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_533
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_534
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_535
86

AutoCAD SHX Text_536
110

AutoCAD SHX Text_537
378

AutoCAD SHX Text_538
47

AutoCAD SHX Text_539
51

AutoCAD SHX Text_540
104

AutoCAD SHX Text_541
106

AutoCAD SHX Text_542
108

AutoCAD SHX Text_543
102

AutoCAD SHX Text_544
100

AutoCAD SHX Text_545
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_546
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_547
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_548
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_549
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_550
Brownshill Green

AutoCAD SHX Text_551
Farm

AutoCAD SHX Text_552
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_553
Birch Tree

AutoCAD SHX Text_554
Farm

AutoCAD SHX Text_555
Pumping Station

AutoCAD SHX Text_556
Brownshill Green

AutoCAD SHX Text_557
United Reformed Church

AutoCAD SHX Text_558
Hall

AutoCAD SHX Text_559
The White Lion

AutoCAD SHX Text_560
(PH)

AutoCAD SHX Text_561
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_562
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_563
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_564
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_565
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_566
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_567
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_568
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_569
The Orchard

AutoCAD SHX Text_570
127.1m

AutoCAD SHX Text_571
BM 131.17m

AutoCAD SHX Text_572
129.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_573
El

AutoCAD SHX Text_574
Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_575
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_576
125.3m

AutoCAD SHX Text_577
Nursery

AutoCAD SHX Text_578
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_579
BM 115.74m

AutoCAD SHX Text_580
124.1m

AutoCAD SHX Text_581
Nursery

AutoCAD SHX Text_582
114.9m

AutoCAD SHX Text_583
116.4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_584
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_585
117.7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_586
TCB

AutoCAD SHX Text_587
BM 118.20m

AutoCAD SHX Text_588
118.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_589
120.7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_590
Nursery

AutoCAD SHX Text_591
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_592
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_593
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_594
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_595
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_596
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_597
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_598
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_599
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_600
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_601
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_602
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_603
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_604
Sinks

AutoCAD SHX Text_605
Issues

AutoCAD SHX Text_606
BROWNS LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_607
%%UMANIFOLD D

AutoCAD SHX Text_608
%%UMANIFOLD A

AutoCAD SHX Text_609
%%UMANIFOLD B

AutoCAD SHX Text_610
%%UMANIFOLD C

AutoCAD SHX Text_611
%%UMANIFOLD E

AutoCAD SHX Text_612
%%UMANIFOLD F

AutoCAD SHX Text_613
FOUL DRAIN REQUIRED CAPABLE OF 1000 LTRS/MIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_614
FOUL DRAIN REQUIRED CAPABLE OF 1000 LTRS/MIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_615
FOUL DRAIN REQUIRED CAPABLE OF 1000 LTRS/MIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_616
FOUL DRAIN REQUIRED CAPABLE OF 1000 LTRS/MIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_617
FOUL DRAIN REQUIRED CAPABLE OF 1000 LTRS/MIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_618
FOUL DRAIN REQUIRED CAPABLE OF 1000 LTRS/MIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_619
DP42

AutoCAD SHX Text_620
DP43



140663

Gas
Gov

RMU

wdp

810

Cylinder

H/L

M M

H/L

285

u

s

w

h

M

T

100mm

waste

thru' wall

15mm

water

inlet

1000

Cylinder

H
E

L
P

!

RCD

ISOLATOR

4

4

4

H/L

H/L

2900

G

Damaged Pallets (780qty)

Timber post and rail fence 1100 high + 250mm Concrete Wheel stop

S

P

P

P

S

S

S

D
U

A
L
 
H

E
I
G

H
T
 
P
H

O
T
O

C
E
L
L
S

71

53

22
9

18

24
00

24
00

450

135°

Issue Purpose:

Rev Date/Checked

pHp

pHp a r c h i t e c t s

architects

The  Old  Rectory      Rectory  Lane      Milton  Malsor

N O R T H A M P T O N                   N N 7  3 A Q

t: +44  (0)1604  858916    f: +44  (0)1604  859123

www.peter-haddon.com

Drawn by: Checked by:

Scale @ A1: Date:

CAD ref: Dwg no.: Rev:

Copyright reserved.   Dimensions to be checked on site.   Discrepancies to be reported before proceeding

PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT LAND

LYONS PARK, FORMER LAWRENCE AUTOMOTIVE SITE

COVENTRY

LYONS PARK, EXTERNAL FINISHES PLAN

Planning

RG RM

1/1250 09/2020

3726-1 SK248 3726-1-103 P7

P1: First issue. 02/10/20 rg

P2: Updated following client comments 06/10/20 rg

P3: Drawing updated following client comments. 08/10/20 rg

P4: Pre Check image updated. Automatic gate image added. 14/10/20 rg

P5: Acoustic fence added 03/11/20 rg

P6: Notes to fencing amended 06/11/20 rg

P7: HGV Parking layout amended & gatehouse updated 19/01/21 rg

N

SCALE 1:500
20m0 10m

+- 115

2.4m high panel fencing
with gates to Bin Store
& Plant Areas. Colours
to suit adjacent cladding
bands.

Pre-check
office gatehouses.
Refer to drawing
3726-1-203

Typical Galvanised heavy duty vehicle
barrier with integral handrail generally to
service yard retaining walls & building
elevation protection

REINFORCED
CONCRETE
SERVICE YARD

REINFORCED
CONCRETE
SERVICE YARD

REINFORCED
CONCRETE
SERVICE YARD

Concrete block
paving - Brindle to
carpark bays

Concrete block
paving - Charcoal to
Office Elevations and
main access
footways into the site
and around carpark

2.4m high Weldmesh Vmex type fencing with
barbed wire crank detail to HGV boundary -
Dark Green RAL.6005, to perimeter of yards

Application Red Line

2.4m high Weldmesh gates to yard
entrances. Dark Green RAL.6005

Automatic Sliding Gate &
Manual barrier - Dark Green
RAL 6005.

Fence to south east HGV
yard boundary

TARMACADAM
TO PARKING
ROADS

Gravel margin to HGV
parking spaces

P
age 85

AutoCAD SHX Text_621
Flag

AutoCAD SHX Text_622
Flag

AutoCAD SHX Text_623
Sp

AutoCAD SHX Text_624
Sp

AutoCAD SHX Text_625
Sp

AutoCAD SHX Text_626
Sp

AutoCAD SHX Text_627
Sp

AutoCAD SHX Text_628
Sp

AutoCAD SHX Text_629
Sp

AutoCAD SHX Text_630
%%UMANIFOLD D

AutoCAD SHX Text_631
FOUL DRAIN REQUIRED CAPABLE OF 1000 LTRS/MIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_632
2.4m high Weldmesh fencing with cranked barbwire detail

AutoCAD SHX Text_633
Weldmesh fence to finish at ground level (max 50mm from bottom of fence to ground at any point).

AutoCAD SHX Text_634
TYPICAL ELEVATION WELDMESH FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text_635
POSTS AND STRUTS - GALVANISED PRIOR TO PAINTING STANDARD COLOUR: GREEN OR BLACK.

AutoCAD SHX Text_636
POSTS - 60 x 60 AT 2.5m C/C.

AutoCAD SHX Text_637
FENCE PANEL - COLOUR: TYPICALLY BLACK OR TO SUIT L.A. REQUIREMENTS

AutoCAD SHX Text_638
NOTE: BRABED WIRE CRANK DETAIL TO HGV BOUNDARY. STANDARD DETAIL FENCING TO UNIT BOUNDARY.



HGV Trailer Parking
185 spaces

20000
15000

Level
Access

Level
Access

1st & 2nd
floor Offices
with
Undercroft

10 dock levellers

29 Trailer
Parking

128 spaces

138825

16180

24750

50000

CS CS CS CS CS CS CS CS CS

Entr.

140663

Bin Store &
External
Condensors

N

S

E

W

N

W

N

E

S

E

S

W

0 50

Metres

wdp

810

Cylinder

H/L

M M

H/L

285

u

s

w

h

M

T

100mm

waste

thru' wall

15mm

water

inlet

1000

Cylinder

H
E

L
P

!

RCD

ISOLATOR

4

4

4

H/L

H/L

Planning Approval

Ref FUL/2016/0627

2900

598

R4
32

0

30
00

2000

2000

2000

Cycling deterrent
across pedestrian
footpath route.
Centered in line with
fence.

G

Damaged Pallets (780qty)

new path routenew path route

1

C

Level Access 12 Dock Loading Doors

Drainage Easement

E
x
i
s
t
i
n

g
 
L

a
n

d
s
c
a

p
e

 
B

u
f
f
e

r

Gravel Concrete
Timber post and rail fence 1100 high + 250mm Concrete Wheel stop

S

P

P

P

P

P

S

S

S

S

S

Ar
mc

o B
ar

rie
r w

ith
 In

teg
ra

l h
an

dr
ail

Timber post and rail fence 1100 high + 250mm Concrete Wheel stop

1
1

1
1
2

1
3

3
0

1
8

20
0

T
X

1
2
x
8
m

c
h
i
l
l
e
r

c
o
m
p
o
u
n
d

2400

400

95
95

1250

250

1300
50

75

50 75

1440

75

50
1300

50

75

75

1300

50

75

50

210
114

Low-bracing-high

400

742

742

rail zone

ins/cladding

12
7

21
0

15
0

210152

cla
dd

ing
 fla

sh
ing

 re
tur

n

pr
ec

as
t te

rm
ina

te 
at

gr
idl

ine
 / b

ac
k o

f r
ail

 zo
ne

De
tai

l a
t F

/32

400

1
2

0
1

1940

100

230

100

230

Mesh enclosure with lid (small aperture
prison mesh). 1100 wide gate at either end,
linked to open on fire alarm.

650

80
6 

TO
 8

08

1130
676

6794

9120

PL
IN

TH
 F

OR
 M

AI
N 

LV
PA

NE
L-

DB
3

830

640

MAI
N IN

COM
ER

MO
BILE

 GE
NER

ATO
R IN

COM
ER

GLAND PLATE
GLAND PLATE

9x
15

0 D
UC

T 
FR

OM
 T

X3
 T

O 
TE

RM
IN

AT
E 

W
IT

HI
N

W
AR

EH
OU

SE
 C

/W
 S

LO
W

 R
AD

IU
S 

BE
ND

9x
15

0 D
UC

T 
FR

OM
 T

EM
P 

GE
NE

RA
TO

R
CO

NN
EC

TI
ON

 P
OI

NT
 T

O 
TE

RM
IN

AT
E 

W
IT

HI
N

W
AR

EH
OU

SE
 C

/W
 S

LO
W

 R
AD

IU
S 

BE
ND

99,9mm From front
face of HUb wall
to edge of panel

289,9mm From front
face of HUb wall
to centre of duct

4
2

1

125

5157
910

3095

be
lfa

st 
sin

k w
ith

 gr
ate

30
00

x2
80

0
sc

ru
bb

er
 zo

ne

ac
o t

yp
e g

ull
ey

 dr
ain

an
d g

rill
e

pa
ttr

es
s f

or
 si

nk

ke
yk

lam
p t

yp
e h

an
dr

ail

ke
yk

lam
p t

yp
e h

an
dr

ail

10
0 w

ide
 x 

15
0 h

igh
up

sta
nd

s t
o 3

 si
de

s
3000

30
00

27351885

Unit 3
Net Site Area
2.16ha / 5.33acre

Existing Gatehouse

Attenuation
Pond

12170

8131

Pre check office

Sliding Gate &
manual barriers

D
U

A
L
 H

E
IG

H
T
 P

H
O

T
O

C
E
L
L
S

D
U

A
L
 H

E
IG

H
T
 P

H
O

T
O

C
E
L
L
S

Pre check office
Sliding gate &
manual barriers

71

53

22
9

18

Pre check office

Issue Purpose:

Rev Date/Checked

pHp

pHp a r c h i t e c t s

architects

The  Old  Rectory      Rectory  Lane      Milton  Malsor

N O R T H A M P T O N                   N N 7  3 A Q

t: +44  (0)1604  858916    f: +44  (0)1604  859123

www.peter-haddon.com

Drawn by: Checked by:

Scale @ A1: Date:

CAD ref: Dwg no.: Rev:

Copyright reserved.   Dimensions to be checked on site.   Discrepancies to be reported before proceeding

PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT LAND

LYONS PARK, FORMER LAWRENCE AUTOMOTIVE SITE

COVENTRY

LYONS PARK, PHASING PLAN

Planning

RG RM

1/1250 09/2020

3726-1 SK248 3726-1-105 P5

P1: First issue. 05/10/20 rg

P2: Updated following client comments 06/10/20 rg

P3: Notes amended as requested. 07/10/20 rg

P4: Boundary to phases updated. 05/11/20 rg

P5: HGV parking updated. Attentuation pond revised. 28/01/21 rg

+- 115.5 / 116
Application Site
Red Line Area
9.19ha / 22.7acre

SCALE 1:1250
50m0 25m

Existing Unit

Existing Unit

Existing UnitExisting Unit

Existing
Unit

Existing Unit

Existing Unit

Phase 1

Phase 2

P
age 86

AutoCAD SHX Text_639
ST HELEN'S WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_640
COUNDON WEDGE DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_641
STAIRCASE LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_642
Townfields

AutoCAD SHX Text_643
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_644
57

AutoCAD SHX Text_645
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_646
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_647
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_648
52

AutoCAD SHX Text_649
46

AutoCAD SHX Text_650
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_651
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_652
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_653
64

AutoCAD SHX Text_654
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_655
Northfield Farm

AutoCAD SHX Text_656
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_657
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_658
Brownsland

AutoCAD SHX Text_659
Nurseries

AutoCAD SHX Text_660
114.1m

AutoCAD SHX Text_661
109.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_662
106.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_663
River Sherbourne

AutoCAD SHX Text_664
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_665
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_666
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_667
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_668
Flag

AutoCAD SHX Text_669
Flag

AutoCAD SHX Text_670
Sp

AutoCAD SHX Text_671
Sp

AutoCAD SHX Text_672
Sp

AutoCAD SHX Text_673
Sp

AutoCAD SHX Text_674
Sp

AutoCAD SHX Text_675
Sp

AutoCAD SHX Text_676
Sp

AutoCAD SHX Text_677
Flag

AutoCAD SHX Text_678
Flag

AutoCAD SHX Text_679
Flag

AutoCAD SHX Text_680
Flag

AutoCAD SHX Text_681
Flag

AutoCAD SHX Text_682
Flag

AutoCAD SHX Text_683
Sp

AutoCAD SHX Text_684
Sp

AutoCAD SHX Text_685
Sp

AutoCAD SHX Text_686
Overhead cables

AutoCAD SHX Text_687
Overhead cables

AutoCAD SHX Text_688
Overhead cables

AutoCAD SHX Text_689
Overhead cables

AutoCAD SHX Text_690
Overhead cables

AutoCAD SHX Text_691
Overhead cables

AutoCAD SHX Text_692
Overhead cables

AutoCAD SHX Text_693
Overhead cables

AutoCAD SHX Text_694
%%UMANIFOLD D

AutoCAD SHX Text_695
%%UMANIFOLD A

AutoCAD SHX Text_696
%%UMANIFOLD B

AutoCAD SHX Text_697
%%UMANIFOLD C

AutoCAD SHX Text_698
%%UMANIFOLD E

AutoCAD SHX Text_699
%%UMANIFOLD F

AutoCAD SHX Text_700
FOUL DRAIN REQUIRED CAPABLE OF 1000 LTRS/MIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_701
FOUL DRAIN REQUIRED CAPABLE OF 1000 LTRS/MIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_702
FOUL DRAIN REQUIRED CAPABLE OF 1000 LTRS/MIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_703
FOUL DRAIN REQUIRED CAPABLE OF 1000 LTRS/MIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_704
FOUL DRAIN REQUIRED CAPABLE OF 1000 LTRS/MIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_705
FOUL DRAIN REQUIRED CAPABLE OF 1000 LTRS/MIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_706
DP42

AutoCAD SHX Text_707
DP43



128 spaces
CS CS CS

4105

800

2100

2090

0 1m 2m
SCALE 1:20

- Integral hoops

General Specification

- Colour TBC

- Approx. 4m (L) x 2.1 (D) x 2.1m (H)

- Clear Polycarbonate curvel panels / end panels

- Adjustable feet

- Modular galvanised 50x50 RHS steel box frame

- 3no. racks to provide 30 cycle spaces

- Covered cycle shelter(s) with galzanised cross strut cycle hoops

to be provided in accordance with LPA & BREEAM requirements.

(at least 1 cycle locking space per 10 No. staff.)

Issue Purpose:

Rev Date/Checked

pHp

pHp a r c h i t e c t s

architects

The  Old  Rectory      Rectory  Lane      Milton  Malsor

N O R T H A M P T O N                   N N 7  3 A Q

t: +44  (0)1604  858916    f: +44  (0)1604  859123

www.peter-haddon.com

Drawn by: Checked by:

Scale @ A1: Date:

CAD ref: Dwg no.: Rev:

Copyright reserved.   Dimensions to be checked on site.   Discrepancies to be reported before proceeding

PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT LAND

LYONS PARK, FORMER LAWRENCE AUTOMOTIVE SITE

COVENTRY

LYONS PARK, CYCLE SHELTER

Planning

RG RM

1/20 09/2020

3726-1 SK248 3726-1-106 P2

P1: First issue. 08/10/20 rg

P2: Notes added to Cycle Storage 06/11/20 rg

OFFICE
ENTRANCE

3no cycle shelters

N

P
age 87

AutoCAD SHX Text_708
TYPICAL ELEVATION CYCLE SHELTER



62
00

0

2000

2750 1200

12
50

0 m
in 

Ha
un

ch

4.5
°

Fire Exit

Fire Exit

Level Access

Fire Exit

Fire Exit Fire Exit

Fire Exit

10 Loading Docks

Level Access

8000 8000 8000 8000 8000

31
00

0
31

00
0

P
C

 
R

e
t
a

i
n

i
n

g
 
W

a
l
l

P
C

 
R

e
t
a

i
n

i
n

g
 
W

a
l
l

31000 31000

Curved 'Griffon' Roof Cladding

4.5 degree Portal Rafter Pitch

Second Floor Office Plan

Open Plan Office

Shower

AWC

WC's

WC's

Lift

Open Plan Office

CLR

AWC

WC's

WC's

Lift

Lobby

Lobby

Kitchen Kitchen

R

Plant Deck

R

First Floor Office Plan

AWC

Entrance Lobby

Lift

Undercroft

Ground Floor Office Plan

138825

Areas
Production / Warehouse Area
8,604m²    (92,612ft²)
1st & 2nd Floor Office
851m²    (9,160ft²)
GF Core
66m² (710ft²)
GF Future Welfare    
340m² (3,659ft²)

GIA TOTAL
9,861m²    (106,140ft²)

Ladder to Roof

and Plant Deck

15450

WAREHOUSE SECTION

FFL 115.500

SCALE 1:250
10m0 5m

N

Issue Purpose:

Rev Date/Checked

pHp

pHp a r c h i t e c t s

architects

The  Old  Rectory      Rectory  Lane      Milton  Malsor

N O R T H A M P T O N                   N N 7  3 A Q

t: +44  (0)1604  858916    f: +44  (0)1604  859123

www.peter-haddon.com

Drawn by: Checked by:

Scale @ A1: Date:

CAD ref: Dwg no.: Rev:

Copyright reserved.   Dimensions to be checked on site.   Discrepancies to be reported before proceeding

PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT LAND

LYONS PARK, FORMER LAWRENCE AUTOMOTIVE SITE

COVENTRY

LYONS PARK, UNIT PLAN

Planning

RG RM

1/250 09/2020

3726 3726-1-200 P5

P1: First Issue 28/09/20 rg

P2: Updated following client comments 02/10/20 rg

P3: Plans updated to show plant deck and roof access 06/10/20 rg

P4: Plant Deck ladder relocated. 07/10/20 rg

P5: FFL level added 16/10/20 rg

P
age 88



Second Floor Office Plan

Open Plan Office

Shower

AWC

WC's

WC's

Lift

Open Plan Office

CLR

AWC

WC's

WC's

Lift

Lobby

Lobby

Kitchen Kitchen

R

Plant Deck

R

First Floor Office Plan

AWC

Entrance Lobby

Lift

Undercroft

Ground Floor Office Plan

8000 8000

85
00

85
00

85
00

N

SCALE 1:100
5m0 2.5m

Issue Purpose:

Rev Date/Checked

pHp

pHp a r c h i t e c t s

architects

The  Old  Rectory      Rectory  Lane      Milton  Malsor

N O R T H A M P T O N                   N N 7  3 A Q

t: +44  (0)1604  858916    f: +44  (0)1604  859123

www.peter-haddon.com

Drawn by: Checked by:

Scale @ A1: Date:

CAD ref: Dwg no.: Rev:

Copyright reserved.   Dimensions to be checked on site.   Discrepancies to be reported before proceeding

PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT LAND

LYONS PARK, FORMER LAWRENCE AUTOMOTIVE SITE

COVENTRY

LYONS PARK, OFFICE PLANS

Planning

RG RM

1/100 09/2020

3726 3726-1-201 P4

P1: First Issue 28/09/20 rg

P2: Updated following client comments 02/10/20 rg

P3: Drawings updated to show plant deck and riser. 06/10/20 rg

P4: Plant Deck ladder relocated. 07/10/20 rg

P
age 89



RIDGE LINE

VALLEY/GUTTER

GUTTER

RIDGE LINE

GUTTER

GUTTER

GU
TT

ER

RIDGE LINE

Access point for roof
maintenance

Access point for roof
maintenance

Solar thermal
tube installation.
Full extent tbc

SCALE 1:250
10m0 5m

N

Issue Purpose:

Rev Date/Checked

pHp

pHp a r c h i t e c t s

architects

The  Old  Rectory      Rectory  Lane      Milton  Malsor

N O R T H A M P T O N                   N N 7  3 A Q

t: +44  (0)1604  858916    f: +44  (0)1604  859123

www.peter-haddon.com

Drawn by: Checked by:

Scale @ A1: Date:

CAD ref: Dwg no.: Rev:

Copyright reserved.   Dimensions to be checked on site.   Discrepancies to be reported before proceeding

PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT LAND

LYONS PARK, FORMER LAWRENCE AUTOMOTIVE SITE

COVENTRY

LYONS PARK, ROOF PLAN

Planning

RG RM

1/250 09/2020

3726 3726-1-202 P5

P1: First Issue 28/09/20 rg

P2: Updated following client comments 02/10/20 rg

P3: Roof Plan updated 06/10/20 rg

P4: Ladder hatch to roof relocated. Fall restraint added 07/10/20 rg

P5: PV added to plan 15/10/20 rg

P6: Note removed as requested. 04/11/20 rg

P
age 90



Note: 2no Pre-check offices required, see

site plan for locations and orientations

ELEVATION 'A' ELEVATION 'B' ELEVATION 'C'

PLAN VIEW

B
C

A

PRODUCT INFORMATION

DESCRIPTION :

Fixed or free standing kiosk c/w fork lift points.

MATERIAL :

Panels - GRP panels with fire retardent foam and resin.

Floor - Anti-slip plywood 18mm thick, black finish.

Subframe - Mild steel with galvanised finish.

COLOUR :

Standard 'White'.

DIMENSIONS :

All dimensions are in mm unless otherwise stated.

OPTIONAL EXTRAS :

(see plan view for pre-determined layouts in red).

Electrical kit (light & switch, double socket).

Additional double socket.

750w convector heater.

250mm Deep shelf.

Data socket unwired.

External power intake socket or cable gland.

Plinth trim kit (installed at site by others).

ELECTRICAL INSTALLATION:

All electrical installation work undertaken as part of

the supply of the unit is in accordance with BS 7671: 2018: Requirements for Electrical Installations

Positions of electrical items are for illustrative purposes only, with final positions and requirements

for additional connection units, light switches etc. to be determined by the Electrical Supervisor

during assembly of the unit, to ensure the installation complies with the above standard and the

requirements of the IET Wiring Regulations Eighteenth Edition.

INSTALLATION :

Non permanent - a firm level surface.

Permanent - Base to be a minimum of 2200 x 1400 x 125mm thick concrete onto well consolidate

hardcore. Base to be smooth (float finish), flat, level, square and slightly raised above surrounding

ground level. Drill four 12 x 90mm holes for use with expanding ground anchor bolts, locations

pre-determind within subframe.

SCALE 1:20
1m0 0.5m

Issue Purpose:

Rev Date/Checked

pHp

pHp a r c h i t e c t s

architects

The  Old  Rectory      Rectory  Lane      Milton  Malsor

N O R T H A M P T O N                   N N 7  3 A Q

t: +44  (0)1604  858916    f: +44  (0)1604  859123

www.peter-haddon.com

Drawn by: Checked by:

Scale @ A1: Date:

CAD ref: Dwg no.: Rev:

Copyright reserved.   Dimensions to be checked on site.   Discrepancies to be reported before proceeding

PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT LAND

LYONS PARK, FORMER LAWRENCE AUTOMOTIVE SITE

COVENTRY

PRE-CHECK OFFICE PLANS & ELEVATIONS

Planning

JM KI

1-20 09/2020

3726 3726-1-203 P2

P1: First Issue 05/10/20 JM

P2: Drawing updated following client comments 14/10/20 RG

P
age 91

AutoCAD SHX Text_709
2350

AutoCAD SHX Text_710
1235 (cill level)

AutoCAD SHX Text_711
plinth trim kit

AutoCAD SHX Text_712
1660

AutoCAD SHX Text_713
1215 (cill level)

AutoCAD SHX Text_714
1660

AutoCAD SHX Text_715
2570

AutoCAD SHX Text_716
shelf

AutoCAD SHX Text_717
DATA

AutoCAD SHX Text_718
light fitting

AutoCAD SHX Text_719
dist.board,socket

AutoCAD SHX Text_720
& light switch

AutoCAD SHX Text_721
shelf

AutoCAD SHX Text_722
(projection)

AutoCAD SHX Text_723
additional

AutoCAD SHX Text_724
socket

AutoCAD SHX Text_725
heater &

AutoCAD SHX Text_726
fused spur

AutoCAD SHX Text_727
power intake

AutoCAD SHX Text_728
socket or

AutoCAD SHX Text_729
cable gland

AutoCAD SHX Text_730
550

AutoCAD SHX Text_731
Sliding Window

AutoCAD SHX Text_732
230SP

AutoCAD SHX Text_733
Window

AutoCAD SHX Text_734
Fixed Glazed

AutoCAD SHX Text_735
120AP

AutoCAD SHX Text_736
Glazed Door

AutoCAD SHX Text_737
120KP



11
00

10
00

15
00

ELEVATION 'A'

3.600 m

Parapet Height

A

0.000 m

Internal FFL

B

8600

ELEVATION 'C'

AB

8600

ELEVATION 'B'

0.000 m

Internal FFL

3.600 m

Parapet Height

1 2

3600

ELEVATION 'D'

1 2

3600

36
00

A

D

B

PLAN VIEW

B A

8600

C

PRODUCT INFORMATION

Prefabricated units sited on a suitable concrete base.

MATERIAL :

Panels - Insulated composite cladding laid horizontally - Merlin Grey RAL 180 40 05

Plinth - Insulated composite cladding laid horizontally - RAL 7016

Doors and Windows - Anthracite RAL 7016

Fasica - PPC aluminium RAL 5012

Floor - Ceramic tiled anti-slip floor to WC. Vinyl floor and skirting to office area

Subframe - Concrete base

DIMENSIONS :

All dimensions are in mm unless otherwise stated.

ELECTRICAL INSTALLATION:

MECHANICAL INSTALLATION:

SCALE 1:20
1m0 0.5m

Issue Purpose:

Rev Date/Checked

pHp

pHp a r c h i t e c t s

architects

The  Old  Rectory      Rectory  Lane      Milton  Malsor

N O R T H A M P T O N                   N N 7  3 A Q

t: +44  (0)1604  858916    f: +44  (0)1604  859123

www.peter-haddon.com

Drawn by: Checked by:

Scale @ A1: Date:

CAD ref: Dwg no.: Rev:

Copyright reserved.   Dimensions to be checked on site.   Discrepancies to be reported before proceeding

PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT LAND

LYONS PARK, FORMER LAWRENCE AUTOMOTIVE SITE

COVENTRY

PRE-CHECK GATEHOUSE PLANS & ELEVATIONS

Planning

JM KI

1-20 09/2020

3726 3726-1-203 P3

P1: First Issue 05/10/20 JM

P2: Drawing updated following client comments 14/10/20 RG

P3: Gatehouse updated following client comments 27/01/21

P
age 92



NORTH EAST ELEVATION

Ground Floor

First Floor

Second Floor

SOUTH WEST ELEVATION
Ground Floor

First Floor

Second Floor

SOUTH EAST ELEVATION

130.950 Ridge Height

+11095 Feature Band Height

FFL 115.500

SOUTH EAST ELEVATION

Ground Floor

First Floor

Second Floor LGPLGPLGP

LGPLGPLGP

LGPLGPLGP

LGPLGPLGP

LGPLGPLGP

LGPLGPLGP

LGPLGPLGP

LGP - Look-a-like
glazed spandrel
panel ( colour - to
match glass tint)

130.950 Ridge Height

+11095 Feature Band Height

FFL 115.500

1. Vertical Trapezoidal profile cladding in 'Silver Metalic' Light Grey RAL 9006
2. Horizontal Trapezoidal profile cladding in 'White' RAL 9003
3. Profile curved roofing sheets in HPS200 Ultra  'Goosewing Grey' 10A05
4. Two part eves & verge flashing to upper part of flashing 'Anthracite' RAL 7016 and 'White'

RAL 9003 to lower part
5. Feature band flashing in Anthracite RAL 7016
6. Windows polyester powder coated frames in Anthracite RAL 7016 with grey tinted anti-sun

glass
7. Entrance door and curtain wall glazing frames frames in Anthracite RAL 7016 with grey

tinted anti-sun glass
8. Horizontal CA 300MR Panel Profile cladding in Anthracite RAL 7016
9. Vertical Trapezoidal profile cladding in 'Slate Grey' Dark grey  RAL 7012
10. Loading Dock and Level Access Doors Mid Grey RAL 9007
11. Steel fire exit doors and frame to match adjacent cladding Mid Grey RAL 9007 to match

adjacent doors when located in concrete prowall)
12. Galvanised steel channel plinth to warehouse
13. Bottom Drip flashing Anthracite RAL 7016 & White RAL 9003 to offices & 'Slate grey' Dark

Grey RAL 7012 to warehouse
14. Precast concrete 'Prowall'
15. Concrete retaining walls with black dock levelers below dock access doors
16. Horizontal  CA 300MR Panel Profile cladding in White RAL 9003
17. Feature band flashing surround to entrance / curtain walling in Goodman Green Pantone

369
18. Glass canopy over entrance supported off curtain wall frame

NOTE: OPENABLE WINDOWS TO 5% OF INTERNAL FLOOR AREA.

External Materials Key

12
50

0 m
in 

ha
un

ch
WAREHOUSE SECTION

FFL 115.500

17 1819

68245

1611

9

325

10

4

151011 14

86 17

19

86 16

11911

245

12

12

1213

13

9

3254

11 12 111 13

11

1

Issue Purpose:

Rev Date/Checked

pHp

pHp a r c h i t e c t s

architects

The  Old  Rectory      Rectory  Lane      Milton  Malsor

N O R T H A M P T O N                   N N 7  3 A Q

t: +44  (0)1604  858916    f: +44  (0)1604  859123

www.peter-haddon.com

Drawn by: Checked by:

Scale @ A1: Date:

CAD ref: Dwg no.: Rev:

Copyright reserved.   Dimensions to be checked on site.   Discrepancies to be reported before proceeding

PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT LAND

LYONS PARK, FORMER LAWRENCE AUTOMOTIVE SITE

COVENTRY

LYONS PARK, UNIT ELEVATIONS

Planning

RG RM

1/200 09/2020

3726 3726-1-301 P6

P1: First Issue 28/09/20 rg

P2: Updated following client comments 02/10/20 rg

P3: Additional Section added. Opening windows added 06/10/20 rg

P4: Elevations updated to show curved roof cladding. Levels added 09/10/20 rg

P5: FFL level added 28/10/20 rg

P6: Ridge height added. 10/11/20 rg

SCALE 1:250
10m0 5m

P
age 93



P
age 94



 
 

Planning Committee Report 
Planning Ref:  FUL/2021/0315 
Site:  97 Broad Lane 
Ward: Earlsdon 
Proposal: Change of use from (C3) Dwellinghouse into (C2) 

Children's Care Home for four children 
Case Officer: Darren Henry 

 
SUMMARY 
The application seeks to change the use of the property to provide a care home for 
vulnerable children between the ages of 6 – 17 who have social and emotional difficulties. 
The number of children in the care home will be limited to five and they will be supported 
by three members of staff at all times on a rota basis, including at night. The Planning 
Statement states that all of the children in care will attend mainstream schools or colleges 
during normal school term times. At all other times, the children will be resident within the 
home as a single household, not too dissimilar to a family, engaged with structured 
activities. 
 
 
BACKGROUND 
The application site is located within a suburban area of Coventry, within the ward of 
Earlsdon. The surrounding area is predominantly housing.  
 
Although the Council has no planning record, the property was previously registered with 
Ofsted for use as a home for children with Autism and learning difficulties, quite different 
from what is being proposed here, which is a care home for children with social and 
emotional behavioural difficulties, whereby routines will be in place to create a more 
balanced and structured pattern of living not too dissimilar to how families go about their 
lives. 
 
A children’s care home comes under a C2 use class (Residential Institutions). Other uses 
under this use class include other care homes, hospitals, nursing homes, boarding 
schools, residential colleges and training centres. It should, however, be noted this class 
is separate from a C2a (Secure Residential Institution) use class which covers young 
offender’s institutions, prisons, secure hospitals etc. 
 
 
KEY FACTS 
Reason for report to 
committee: 

16 letters of objection have been received as well as a 
petition with 33 signatories objecting to the proposal.  

Current use of site: Existing residential property 
Proposed use of site: To change the use to a care home for children. 

 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Planning committee are recommended to grant planning permission subject to the 
conditions listed within the report. 
 
 

Page 95

Agenda Item 8



 
 

REASON FOR DECISION 
 The proposal is acceptable in principle.  
 The proposal will not adversely impact upon highway safety. 
 The proposal will not adversely impact upon the amenity of neighbours. 
 Together with the aims of the NPPF, the proposal accords with Coventry Local 

Plan Policies: 

AC2: Road Network 
AC3: Demand Management 
DE1: Ensuring High Quality Design 
DS3: Sustainable Development Policy 
H8: Care Homes, Supported Housing, Nursing Homes and Older Persons   
accommodation 

 
 
APPLICATION PROPOSAL 
The application seeks to change the use of the building from a dwelling (C3) to a 
children’s care home (C2), thereby remaining as a residential property. The property will 
provide a safe environment for four vulnerable children between the ages of 6 – 17, along 
with two live-in members of staff, plus a further professional member of staff to provide 
24-hour on-site support, in strict compliance with OFSTED’S required operating 
guidelines. 
 
The proposed use will result in the loss of a single dwelling house; however, the loss of 
one housing unit is considered not to have a significant detrimental impact on the 
Council’s overall housing delivery strategy. 
 
 
SITE DESCRIPTION 
The application site is located on the south side of Broad Lane, with No. 91 to the east 
and No.99 to the west. The property is detached, with gable ends to the front and rear 
and the main entrance located to the side facing No.91. 
 
To the front is a good-sized garden which has been hard-landscaped, with a driveway 
leading to a garage to the rear. The side boundaries of the front garden consist of mature 
hedging and continue to the rear, where there is an extensive rear garden, bounded by 
mature hedging with No.99 and panel fencing with No.91. 
 
 
PLANNING HISTORY 
There have been a number of historic planning applications on this site, as set out below: 
 
Application Number Description of Development Decision and Date 
R/1999/0889 Construction of replacement 

dormer detached bungalow and 
detached garage 

Approved 2nd 
December 1999 

R/2000/0986 Construction of replacement 
dormer detached bungalow and 
detached garage 

Approved 23rd May 
2000 

Page 96



 
 

(Discharge of Condition No. 2 (in 
part) samples of external facing 
and roofing materials) 

 
POLICY 
National Policy Guidance 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). The NPPF sets out the Government’s 
planning policies for England and how these are expected to be applied. It sets out the 
Government’s requirements for the planning system only to the extent that is relevant, 
proportionate and necessary to do so.  The NPPF increases the focus on achieving high 
quality design and states that it is “fundamental to what the planning and development 
process should achieve”. 
  
The National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) adds further context to the NPPF and 
it is intended that the two documents are read together. 
 
 
Local Policy Guidance 
The current local policy is provided within the Coventry Local Plan 2016, which was 
adopted by Coventry City Council on 6th December 2017.  Relevant policies relating to 
this application are: 
AC2: Road Network 
AC3: Demand Management 
DE1: Ensuring High Quality Design 
DS3: Sustainable Development Policy 
H8: Care Homes, Supported Housing, Nursing Homes and Older Persons   
accommodation 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance/ Documents (SPG/ SPD): 
SPD Coventry Connected 
 
CONSULTATION 
No objections subject to conditions received from: 

 Coventry City Council Environmental Protection 
 Coventry City Council Highways 
 West Midlands Police 

 
 
16 letters of objection have been received, along with a petition with 33 signatories 
objecting to the proposal, stating the following material planning considerations: 

 When Rowan House Care Home was active there was Anti-social behaviour 
problems on a regular basis, missing persons, drug taking and criminal damage. 

 It is an antiquated myth that putting people with problems in an affluent area is a 
good thing. It is misleading. 

 Around the corner from the care home is one of the poorest housing estates in 
Coventry, which has a large level of minor crime and will be attractive to children 
with issues.  

Page 97



 
 

 Approval of this application will mean houses at 97, 135, and 162 Broad Lane, 
which are located within around 200m of each other, have the same use. These 
facilities should be spread across appropriate districts rather than concentrated in 
specific areas. 

 The use will create exponential noise. 
 Concerned for personal safety. 
 Changing the status for the subject property from a dwellinghouse to a childcare 

home is not in keeping with properties within the immediate vicinity. 
 The inclusion of three permanent members of staff on site as highlighted will 

inevitably see an increase in movement, noise and potential disturbance. 
 The age band of 6 to 17 is very wide. However, the children are referred to as 

young people in the planning statement and not children which indicates all 
residents will be teenagers. 

 The increase in this footfall will have a significant increase on noise levels which 
will be even more unacceptable to what we have previously experienced. The 
increase in footfall will also impact on our privacy due to proximity to neighbouring 
property. 

 In section 5.11 of the planning statement it states that children living in care homes 
that are located in prosperous areas, such as Broad Lane, gain the confidence 
and aspirations to seek and secure highly skilled and long-term employment. 
Where is the evidence for this? A similar care home for 11 – 16-year olds was 
established on Broad Lane. The home was closed down after 19 months due to 
complaints from local residents due to the negative impact on the economic, social 
and environmental conditions of the area. This clearly demonstrates this type of 
dwelling is not beneficial. 

 Object to the fact that it is close to a staggered junction with traffic lights. We have 
lived in Broad Lane for 11 years and there has been several accidents at this 
junction. 

 Several comments received in relation to not receiving a consultation letter. 
 If the residents are youth offenders, or being housed until they are old enough to 

be placed in secure institutions, there would be potential for anti-social behaviour 
e.g. hiding in people's gardens, damage to property, burglaries, groups of their 
friends congregating at entrance to property, or on the pavements nearby, plus 
police cars attending on a regular basis. 

 The parking is very inadequate for use as a children’s home due to the narrow 
driveway at the side of the property and only one parking space at the front of the 
property. When staff change over, it will be necessary to shuffle vehicles in and 
out of the driveway on to Broad Lane which disrupts traffic at the traffic light-
controlled box junction with Wildcroft Road and Broadlands Close. 

 The impact of children living at the address especially those with behavioural 
problems will have an impact on the elderly and other residents re noise pollution 
and possible anti-social behaviour problems as per the previous care home on 
broad lane a few years ago. 

 
One letter of support has also been received, stating: 

 There is great need for care homes for vulnerable children, particularly ones in a 
nurturing environment where there are opportunities to gain independence and 
prepare young people for the real world. 

Page 98



 
 

The Agent has also provided a number of benefits likely to result from the proposal, 
including:  
 The care home will employ highly skilled, experienced staff to ensure the children 

have every opportunity to grow and thrive in a safe and nurturing environment. 
 The children will experience a positive family lifestyle, in high-quality accommodation 

for, in some cases, the first time in their lives.  
 The children will benefit from invaluable advice, guidance and direction 
 The care home will ensure full attendance by each of the five children at the local 

schools, and that the children receive wholesome meals and that dental and doctor’s 
appointments are fulfilled. 

 The children will also receive access to broad leisure and recreational facilities, and 
a commitment to building upon each of their strengths. 

 The proposal, which requires a number of support staff, will bring employment to 
Coventry, boosting its Heath & Social Care sector. 

 As a result of the support the children receive, they will receive have the best chance 
possible of obtaining employment, bolstering Coventry’s economy in the process. 

 The children will be encouraged to engage in fundraising events and other community 
activities to give them a sense of belonging, 

 The proposal will support Local authorities by helping them to accommodate children 
at risk. 

 
 
APPRAISAL 
The main issues in determining this application are: principle of development, the impact 
upon neighbouring amenity, design and visual appearance, landscape and trees, impact 
on highway safety and heritage 
 
 
Principle of development 
The site is in a residential area within a sustainable location close to the City Centre 
where there are excellent facilities and services within easy reach by foot and buses. The 
area is close to parks and open spaces to spend quality time and self-reflect, conducive 
to healthy living. Furthermore, the change of use would be supported by Policy H8, which 
states  that “(1) Proposals for care homes, nursing homes and other specialist and 
supported forms of housing for the elderly and those requiring care will be encouraged in 
areas that are accessible by a choice of means of transport and that are situated in close 
proximity to key local services, and (2) Proposals should be of a high quality and design 
and be compatible with the character of the surrounding area”. 
 
The proposal is in accordance with Policy H8 as the site is within a sustainable location, 
close to schools, job opportunities and sustainable transport modes and its use will not 
detract from the existing character and appearance of the area.  
 
It is therefore considered that the principle of the development is acceptable, unless 
material matters prove otherwise.   

Page 99



 
 

 
Impact on residential amenity 
The way buildings relate to each other must provide and protect acceptable levels of 
amenity for both existing and future residents. Therefore, the orientation and separation 
distance must be holistically thought out, taking into account of front, rear and side facing 
windows to habitable rooms, as these will be protected from significant overlooking and 
overshadowing where such windows are the primary source of light. 
 
The applicant states that the care home will be run similar to a family home. Indeed, the 
building itself was constructed as a dwelling and would generally retain a standard 
arrangement of rooms found in most homes, albeit with a staff room, including 7 
bedrooms, 4 for the children and 2 for the staff, a lounge, kitchen and 2 bathrooms. In 
terms of the outside amenity space there is a large rear garden and patio area.  
 
Impact on privacy 
There would be no changes to the property in terms of the position and size of windows 
in the existing dwelling. Objectors have however raised issues with regard overlooking of 
properties to the front. It is however considered there would be no difference to the 
potential of overlooking from that of the existing use of the building. 
 
Therefore, there would not be a significantly greater impact from overlooking and loss of 
privacy as a result of the proposed use as compared to that of the existing dwelling. 
 
Noise and disturbance 
Objectors have raised concern over noise and disturbance, stating the area is a quiet 
residential area and that the proposal will result in excessive noise, as well as light 
pollution disturbance from shift changes and the comings and goings of traffic. 
 
In response to these issues, the property is relatively large, detached and is set within its 
own grounds with plenty of off-street parking. The number of staff required is low and the 
scale of the running of the care home would more than likely not require significant 
comings and goings, no more unusual than a normal family. There will always be two 
trained staff on-site. The two live-in staff will operate on a shift pattern of two days on, 
four days off and handovers will be around 10am or 11am. The carers will have their own 
bedrooms to sleep in every night, and the carers will alternate every 2 days. 
  
This means that there will be care staff in the house 24 hours a day, seven days a week, 
who will be supported by a Manager with Level 5 Leadership from Mondays to Fridays 
between 9:00am to 5.00pm.   
 
During unsociable hours, like most homes, it is expected the residents would be more 
than likely asleep or within the house. Therefore, whilst there may be some increased 
impact; it is considered likely that there would not be a significantly greater impact from 
noise and disturbance than could be experienced from the existing use. 
 
Coventry City Council Environmental Protection Officers were consulted and did not raise 
any issues with regards to noise and disturbance. 
 

Page 100



 
 

 
Impact on the character of the area 
Section 12 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019 (NPPF) outlines the 
Government’s commitment to good design and attaches great importance to the design 
of the built environment, highlighting it as a key aspect of sustainable development. 
Consequently, decisions should aim to ensure that developments are visually attractive 
as a result of good architecture and appropriate landscaping. 
 
The NPPF further states that “where the design of a development accords with clear 
expectations in plan policies, design should not be used by the decision-maker as a valid 
reason to object to development”. However, “Permission should be refused for 
development of poor design that fails to take the opportunities available for improving the 
character and quality of an area and the way it functions, taking into account any local 
design standards or style guides in plans or supplementary planning documents” (130). 
 
Furthermore, Policy DE1: Ensuring High Quality Design, states: “All development 
proposals must respect and enhance their surroundings and positively contribute towards 
the local identity and character of an area”. In reference to new housing Policy H3 states 
that new residential development must provide a high-quality residential environment to 
help urban regeneration and create sustainable communities with adequate amenity 
space and car parking provision and be safe from environmental pollutants, excessive 
noise and air quality issues. 
 
In terms of the character of the area, objectors have stated that the area’s character 
would change for the worse due to the proposal and the commercial aspect of the 
proposed care home. Whilst there may be a slightly more intensive use of the property, 
in all probability, due to the small scale of the proposal and it being run in a similar way 
to that of a family household, it is considered that proposed use will not be any different 
from that of its current use as a C3 dwelling. 
 
It is therefore considered the proposal would not warrant a refusal reason on this issue. 
 
Perception and Fear of Crime and Anti-Social Behaviour 
Objection has been received from local residents who suggest this proposal would result 
in an increase in crime, vandalism, anti-social behaviour and police call-outs in the area 
and that this would affect the amenity of the residents and character of the area, 
referencing issues at previous care homes in the vicinity.  
 
Whilst the objector’s concerns are noted and highlight potential issues that can result 
from the running of care homes, there is no actual link between this care home and others 
previously in the area. It could be the case that the proposed children’s home would not 
result in such significant issues. The behaviour of the occupiers, however, would be a 
matter for the individuals in the home and the management of it.  
 
In one case law example (Bromley 02/12/1994 DCS No 033-844-797) a Planning 
Inspector states “that the frequency of bad behaviour would be difficult to predict and 
would depend on individual children and the supervision they received. These were 
personal matters not concerned with the use of the property”.  
 

Page 101



 
 

Whilst in the opinion of objectors, the home would result in crime and anti-social 
behaviour to the detriment of the character of the area and the community, it should be 
tempered with the fact that the home will be staffed 24/7 by care workers and a manager 
and that the home will be registered with OFSTED.  
 
Whilst a children’s care home does not require internal CCTV cameras, nor would that 
be Ofsted compliant, the applicants would be willing to accept CCTV on the outside of 
the property to safeguard children from any potential intruders. The use of external CCTV 
would be solely for the purpose of security. Furthermore, the WM Police have 
recommended several Secured By Design Measures to help reduce the potential for 
crime at the property, which if approved, will be imposed as a condition of the approval.  
 
Whilst any incidences of anti-social behaviour would not be welcomed, there is no 
evidence that such behaviour will occur at the proposed children’s care home. Indeed, it 
is much more likely that the children will benefit from a structured lifestyle akin to how a 
family operates its daily routines, as opposed to entering a life of crime or causing anti-
social behaviour. Therefore, it is considered that the use of the land, as a care home, 
would not warrant a refusal for this issue. 
 
 
Parking and Highway Safety 
The property benefits from a garage and a large driveway for four cars, three of which 
will be for staff and one available for a visitor. There are also good links to public transport 
for sustainable travel options. 
 
Objectors have detailed that the off-street parking may not be usable as they state the 
access is dangerous and is next to a junction with traffic lights. If permission is granted it 
is unlikely that on-street parking would occur as it is restricted due to double yellow lines.  
 
Coventry City Council Highways were consulted and have stated that in respect of this 
application the Highway Authority considers that the impacts of the development are not 
severe and has no objections, subject to conditions relating to bicycle storage. 
 
Other Issues 
Comments have been made regarding the legalities of the consultation and stating that 
wider consultation should have taken place. The Development Management Procedure 
Order sets out the minimum requirements for consultation which, in this case, would 
require adjoining neighbours or a site notice.  The consultation carried out has been far 
more extensive than required. 
 
 
Equality Implications  
Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 created the public sector equality duty. Section 149 
states:-  
 
(1) A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need 
to:  

a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 
prohibited by or under this Act;  

Page 102



 
 

b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it;  

c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it.  

 
Officers have taken this into account and given due regard to this statutory duty, and the 
matters specified in Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 in the determination of this 
application.  
 
There are no known equality implications arising directly from this development. 
 
 
Conclusion 
The proposed development is considered to be acceptable in principle and will not result 
in any significant impact upon neighbour amenity, character and visual appearance of the 
area and any highway issues and therefore recommended to Members grant planning 
permission subject to relevant conditions. Together with the aims of the NPPF, the reason 
for Coventry City Council granting planning permission is because the development is in 
accordance with the following Coventry Local Plan 2016 Policies: AC1, AC3, AC4, DE1, 
and H8. 
 
CONDITIONS:/REASONS 
 
1.  The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than 3 years from the date 

 of this decision. 
 
Reason: To conform with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended). 
 
2.  The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

 following approved plans: Location Plan P20-1398-01-001; Existing Block Plan 
 P20-1398-02-001; Existing Floor Plans P20-1398-03-001; Proposed Block Plan 
 P20-1398-01-004-001a; Proposed Floor Plans 139 GA001A Issue 2. 

 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
 
3.  Prior to occupation of the Care Home hereby permitted, details of cycle parking 

 facilities shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
 Authority. The cycle parking facilities shall be provided in full accordance with the 
 approved details prior to first occupation of the building and thereafter those 
 facilities shall remain available for use at all times and shall not be removed or 
 altered in any way. 

 
Reason: In the interests of encouraging the use of alternative modes of transport 
with the aim of creating a more sustainable city in accordance with Policies DS3, AC3 
and AC4 of the Coventry Local 2016. 
 
4.  Any gas boilers installed on site shall have a dry NOx emission rate of no more 

 than 40mg/kWh. One electric vehicle recharging point per dwelling shall be 

Page 103



 
 

 provided prior to occupation and shall not be removed or altered in any way and 
 shall be kept available at all times 

 
Reason: To mitigate the impacts of development on air quality in accordance with 
Policy DS3 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016 and the aims and the objectives of the NPPF 
(RAQ2). 
 
5.  Prior to occupation of the development hereby permitted, an on-site Management 

 Plan to include Secured by Design security measure shall be submitted to and 
 approved in writing by the local planning authority.   Details to be submitted shall 
 include: 

i.     First floor windows with limiters 
ii.    Installation of an Intruder alarm 
iii.   Installation of external CCTV cameras at the front and back of house 
iv.   Retention of 1.8 metre boundary fence to  the sides and rear of property. 

 
Reason: To ensure Secured by Design standards are met, in the interests of safety 
and security and the health and wellbeing of future occupiers of the development in 
accordance with Policies DS3, H3 and DE1 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
 

Page 104



P
age 105



General Notes

A. GENERAL NOTES:

All dimensions to be checked on site by the Contractor 
prior to construction and the Architect to be informed of 
any descrepancies. All dimensions are in millimetres 
unless otherwise stated. This drawing to be read in 
conjunction with all relevant Engineers and other 
specialist drawings. All work to be carried out to the 
approval of the Building Inspector. Contractor to provide 
full setting out drawings for approval by architect prior 
construction.

NK Architects Ltd owns the copyright of this design & 
drawing, which must not be reproduced in whole or part 
without the written permission of Nicholas Kirk. 

The drawings are subject to the copyright of the architect 
and not to be reproduced without the consent of the 
architect.

1. This drawing has been based upon a survey that was 
itself based on OUTLINE measurements NOT a full 
measured survey. As a result, considerable attention to 
the dimensions of any proposed works must be applied, 
taking site dimensions and templates as necessary. 

2. While this drawing can be used as a base drawing for 
construction purposes, it is VERY IMPORTANT that all 
dimensions are checked carefully before any work 
commences or any materials are ordered. 

3. This drawing can be used as part of a planning 
application, although the planning officer may ask for 
more specific information about some aspects of the 
design. 

4. Where applicable, a suitable Structural Engineer 
and/or a Party Wall Surveyor should be consulted. 
Although as far as possible these instances have been 
indicated, this is not necessarily exhaustive and the 
whole scope of proposed works should be reviewed. 

5. Unless other arrangements have been specifically 
made, the building contractor should serve a Building 
Notice, as and where applicable, to the local authority to 
satisfy the requirements of the Building Regulations. The 
building contractor should also liaise with the Building 
Control Officer regarding routine inspections of the work. 

The drawing intended to illustrate the general 
arrangement of the project proposals. As it stands this 
drawing does not include all of the detail necessary for a 
full plans building regulations application. 

While this drawing can be used as a base drawing for 
construction purposes, the building contractor will require 
more information. It is therefore important to discuss, with 
NKA & the builder together, where more detail would be 
appropriate. 

Copyright NK ARCHITECTS LTD 2021

2

109

17 1

2

109

17 1

Existing - Block Plan
Scale: 1:5001

B r o a d  L a n e

97

91103

0 50 M

101 99

Sheet No.

Scale

As Shown

139 EX001

Sheet Title

Project Title

Existing Block Plan

97 Broad Lane, Coventry, CV5 7AH

Nicholas Kirk Architects
Studio 210, Regents House
1 Thane Villas, London, N7 7PH
0203 290 5033 / 07905 315696

Drawn By

Checked By

Date

Project ID

CAD File Name

NK

NKA

04.02.21

Dimensions Care

 

No.DateIssue Notes

info@nicholaskirkarchitects.co.uk
www.nicholaskirkarchitects.co.uk

Planning

Issued for Planning 104/02/2021

P
age 106



General Notes

A. GENERAL NOTES:

All dimensions to be checked on site by the Contractor 
prior to construction and the Architect to be informed of 
any descrepancies. All dimensions are in millimetres 
unless otherwise stated. This drawing to be read in 
conjunction with all relevant Engineers and other 
specialist drawings. All work to be carried out to the 
approval of the Building Inspector. Contractor to provide 
full setting out drawings for approval by architect prior 
construction.

NK Architects Ltd owns the copyright of this design & 
drawing, which must not be reproduced in whole or part 
without the written permission of Nicholas Kirk. 

The drawings are subject to the copyright of the architect 
and not to be reproduced without the consent of the 
architect.

1. This drawing has been based upon a survey that was 
itself based on OUTLINE measurements NOT a full 
measured survey. As a result, considerable attention to 
the dimensions of any proposed works must be applied, 
taking site dimensions and templates as necessary. 

2. While this drawing can be used as a base drawing for 
construction purposes, it is VERY IMPORTANT that all 
dimensions are checked carefully before any work 
commences or any materials are ordered. 

3. This drawing can be used as part of a planning 
application, although the planning officer may ask for 
more specific information about some aspects of the 
design. 

4. Where applicable, a suitable Structural Engineer 
and/or a Party Wall Surveyor should be consulted. 
Although as far as possible these instances have been 
indicated, this is not necessarily exhaustive and the 
whole scope of proposed works should be reviewed. 

5. Unless other arrangements have been specifically 
made, the building contractor should serve a Building 
Notice, as and where applicable, to the local authority to 
satisfy the requirements of the Building Regulations. The 
building contractor should also liaise with the Building 
Control Officer regarding routine inspections of the work. 

The drawing intended to illustrate the general 
arrangement of the project proposals. As it stands this 
drawing does not include all of the detail necessary for a 
full plans building regulations application. 

While this drawing can be used as a base drawing for 
construction purposes, the building contractor will require 
more information. It is therefore important to discuss, with 
NKA & the builder together, where more detail would be 
appropriate. 

Copyright NK ARCHITECTS LTD 2021

Sheet No.

Scale

As Shown

139 GA001

Sheet Title

Project Title

Proposed Floor Plans

97 Broad Lane, Coventry, CV5 7AH

Nicholas Kirk Architects
Studio 210, Regents House
1 Thane Villas, London, N7 7PH
0203 290 5033 / 07905 315696

Drawn By

Checked By

Date

Project ID

CAD File Name

NK

NKA

04.02.21

Dimensions Care

 

No.DateIssue Notes

info@nicholaskirkarchitects.co.uk
www.nicholaskirkarchitects.co.uk

Planning

Issued for Planning 104/02/2021

Proposed - Ground Floor Plan
Scale: 1:1001 Garage

Bedroom 01

Bedroom 03Bedroom 02

Ensuite

Entrance
Hall

Bathroom

Kitchen / Diner

Living Room

Proposed - First Floor Plan
Scale: 1:1002

0 5 M

Bedroom 07

Landing

Bathroom

Bedroom 06

Bedroom 04

Bedroom 05

P
age 107



120

2

112

11

89

109

17 to 24

91

El
 S

ub
 S

ta

9

17

A
pp

le
gr

ov
e

BROADLANDS CLOSE

103

97

85

1

9 to 16

Tennis Court

Metres

0 20 40 60 80 10020

Crown copyright and database rights 2021 OS 100035409

N

43
02

49
m

43
04

01
m

43
02

49
m

43
04

01
m

278661m 278661m

278834m 278834m

BROAD LANE

Scale = 1:1250 @ A4

Page 108



 
 

Planning Committee Report 
Planning Ref:  FUL/2021/0369 
Site:  Land at Westwood Heath Road, to the rear of St John’s 

Church 
Ward: Westwood 
Proposal: Change of use of land from agricultural use to public 

garden. 
Case Officer: Darren Henry 

 
SUMMARY 
The application seeks to change its current use from a paddock land to an informal 
outdoor public recreation space associated with and administered by the Church, as well 
as being open to the general public. 
 
BACKGROUND 
The proposals are for the site to be used as a garden during daylight hours, to be used 
by the community and managed and administered by St John’s Church. The principal 
access into the site is via a field gate off Featherbed Lane. 
 
 
KEY FACTS 
Reason for report to 
committee: 

The application has received 1 letter of objection and 40 
letters of support. 

Current use of site: Agricultural (paddock) 
Proposed use of site: To change the use to a public garden 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
Planning committee is recommended to refuse granting planning permission.   
 
REASON FOR DECISION 
a) The proposal is not acceptable in principle. 

  
APPLICATION PROPOSAL 
The proposals are for the site to be used as a garden by the community, managed and 
administered by St John’s Church. The proposal will also include a car parking area, 
space for a mobile café van and erection of a temporary Garden Room structure, along 
with soft and hard landscaping. 
 
 
SITE DESCRIPTION 
The application site is located on the eastern side of Featherbed Lane. To the north is a 
Vicarage and beyond this to the northeast is St John’s Church, to which the field belongs. 
To the west of the site is No.2 Featherbed Lane and to the south are the properties of 
Meadow View and Clear View. Southeast of these are Warwick University halls of 
residence. 
 

Page 109

Agenda Item 9



 
 

The applicant’s Design and Access Statement states that the field was last used as an 
agricultural field in 2017 when it was stocked with horses. Since then the majority of the 
site has been fallow, left as uncut grass, until it was cut at the end of 2020. An 
exception to this is an area measuring approximately 36 metres x 15 metres that has 
been laid with reinforced grass and employed by the church as overflow car parking when 
there have been special services at the church, such as weddings or at 
Christmas/Eastertime. 
 
The application site is bounded by hedgerows along all sides of the site, but they vary  in 
height from as low as 1.5 metres to 7 metres. 
 
The site is safeguarded land between the urban area and the Green Belt which is 
identified to meet longer-term development needs beyond the plan period.  
 
PLANNING HISTORY 
No relevant recorded history. 
 
POLICY 
National Policy Guidance 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). The NPPF sets out the Government’s 
planning policies for England and how these are expected to be applied. It sets out the 
Government’s requirements for the planning system only to the extent that is relevant, 
proportionate and necessary to do so.  The NPPF increases the focus on achieving high 
quality design and states that it is “fundamental to what the planning and development 
process should achieve”. 
  
The National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) adds further context to the NPPF and 
it is intended that the two documents are read together. 
 
 
Local Policy Guidance 
The current local policy is provided within the Coventry Local Plan 2016, which was 
adopted by Coventry City Council on 6th December 2017.  Relevant policies relating to 
this application are: 
AC1: Accessible Transport Network 
AC3: Demand Management 
AC4: Cycling and Walking 
DE1: Ensuring High Quality Design 
DS1: Overall Development Needs 
DS2: The Duty to Cooperate 
GB2: Safeguarded Land in the Green Belt 
 
CONSULTATION 
Objections received from: 
a) Coventry City Council Planning Policy 

No objections received from: 
b) Coventry City Council Highways 

 

Page 110



 
 

No objections, subject to conditions, from: 
c) Coventry City Council Urban Design and Landscape 

 
Neighbour notification was sent in accordance with the Communications Record and a 
site notice was posted on the 4th of March 2021. 
 
There has been 1 letter of objection raising the following material planning consideration: 

 Object to the proposal due to concerns about access to the proposed public 
garden. The lane is a single access track to which currently there can be issues to 
access the lane particularly on entering or exiting the lane. If it was widened the 
objection would be removed. 

 
There have also been 40 letters of support for the following reasons: 

 Currently it is waste ground and if converted into a garden it will enhance the area 
by giving people the opportunity to relax in a tranquil countryside environment. 

 The plan to create a garden where people can either come and be alone or be 
welcomed into the community of those who will be caring for the garden seems is 
what is needed. It will be a space for outdoor recreation, created to be in sympathy 
with local flora and fauna; nature will be allowed to flourish, and the use of land in 
this way seems well within its green belt status. Those with disabilities might find 
it difficult to trek out into the fields and go for a walk but could have the opportunity 
of enjoying time in a garden with wheelchair access. 

 This is a temporary project to provide a quiet reflective space where people who 
have been locked down for months and walk, talk and improve their mental and 
spiritual health. So, I see no reason why it being Green Belt should be a problem. 

 This garden will provide significant benefit to the community as well as caring for 
the land that it is on. Providing recreational activities on green belt land should be 
encouraged, especially as this will help people better connect and care for the 
environment around them. The garden would improve the quality of the land, 
increase biodiversity and promote communal well-being. 

 This garden will not harm the green belt area after all someone granted permission 
for the high-speed train, which has torn up the countryside having terrible effects 
on nature. 

 The garden is a 2-year project and will revert to a field at the end of the period thus 
the green belt will be unaffected in the medium term. 

 
APPRAISAL 
The main issues relating to this application are the principle of the development, the 
design and appearance and the impact on neighbouring amenities. 
 
 
Principle of development 
The Duty to Cooperate was created in the Localism Act 2011 and amends the Planning 
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. It places a legal duty on local planning authorities, 
county councils in England and public bodies to engage constructively, actively and on 
an on-going basis to maximise the effectiveness of Local Plan preparation in the 
context of strategic cross boundary matters.  

Page 111



 
 

The Coventry Local Plan identifies safeguarded land that relates to Green Belt parcels 
that straddle administrative boundaries.  These parcels, when considered in isolation, 
through the Coventry Local Plan are unsuitable for removal from the Green Belt due to 
the inability to create defensible boundaries that would endure beyond the plan period.  
However, when considered alongside development options within Warwick District the 
land could provide longer term possibilities for the release of land from the Green Belt to 
support cross-boundary development proposals in Warwick District. 
 
The Council cannot place undue pressure on neighbouring authorities to develop on 
specific sites but safeguarded land provides a mechanism that responds to longer-term 
development options which means our own plan remains flexible and able to respond to 
emerging circumstances in neighbouring areas.  This enables us to continue to discharge 
our responsibilities through the duty to co-operate.  If these sites do not come forward 
through cross-boundary designations then the land is considered for formal return to 
Green Belt. 
 
Policy DS2 states that Coventry City Council will work with neighbouring authorities 
within its Housing Market Area to support the delivery of the development needs 
identified in Policy DS1 that originate from the city.  It further states that Where sites 
cross or are adjacent to administrative boundaries and are not subject to joint 
development plan documents, the Council will continue to work proactively and on an 
on-going basis with all relevant partners to enable the delivery of new development on 
these sites. 
Policy GB2  states: 
1. The areas of Safeguarded Land proposed partly or wholly comprise the following sites 
and are shown on the Policies Map. 
a) Land south of Westwood Heath Road; 
b) Land south of Bishop Ullathorne School; 
c) Playing Field south of Finham Park School; and 
d) Land west of Finham Primary School. 
 
Any development of these sites will be subject to consideration through a full or partial 
review of this Local Plan having explicit regard to development proposals in Warwick 
District. 
 
Furthermore, paragraph 139 of the National Planning Policy Framework states that 
“When defining Green Belt boundaries, plans should: 
c) where necessary, identify areas of safeguarded land between the urban area and the 
Green Belt, in order to meet longer-term development needs stretching well beyond the 
plan period; 
d) make clear that the safeguarded land is not allocated for development at the present 
time. Planning permission for the permanent development of safeguarded land should 
only be granted following an update to a plan which proposes the development”. 
 
Development is defined under the 1990 Town and Country Planning Act as "the carrying 
out of building, engineering, mining or other operation in, on, over or under land, or the 
making of any material change in the use of any building or other land." Most forms of 
development require planning permission”. Clearly, the proposal constitutes development 
under this definition. 
 

Page 112



 
 

The proposal is considered as prejudicial because any development within the 
safeguarded area would prevent the entire area being considered together as a strategic 
site for future development needs for both Coventry and Warwick. Therefore, there is a 
particular need to ensure that the site, as a whole, is safeguarded from development. 
Allowing the land to be developed would prejudice the strategic nature of the policy’s aim 
to protect safeguarded land for future cross-boundary needs and possibly trigger an early 
review Warwick District Council’s Local Plan.  
 
Moreover, Coventry City Council’s Local Plan is not yet up for review, so any release of 
land within land designated GB2, particularly for non-strategic purposes, would be 
inappropriate and considered premature. 
 
The proposals are therefore contrary to Policy GB2 and the principle of development is 
not considered to be acceptable. 
 
 
Impact on Neighbouring Amenity  
It is considered that the quiet nature of the proposal and the distance from neighbouring 
properties would have no detrimental harm to the living conditions of the neighbouring 
properties. 
 
 
Design and Appearance 
Section 12 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019 (NPPF) outlines the 
Government’s commitment to good design and attaches great importance to the design 
of the built environment, highlighting it as a key aspect of sustainable development.  
Decisions should not attempt to impose architectural styles or particular tastes and they 
should not  stifle innovation,  originality  or  initiative;  however  new  developments  should  
seek  to promote  or  reinforce  local  distinctiveness. Decisions should address the 
connections between people and places and the integration of a new development into 
its existing environment. Consequently, decisions should aim to ensure that 
developments are visually attractive as a result of good architecture and appropriate 
landscaping. 
 
The NPPF further states that “where the design of a development accords with clear 
expectations in plan policies, design should not be used by the decision-maker as a valid 
reason to object to development”. However, “Permission should be refused for 
development of poor design that fails to take the opportunities available for improving the 
character and quality of an area and the way it functions, taking into account any local 
design standards or style guides in plans or supplementary planning documents” (130). 
 
Policy DE1 of Coventry City Council’s Local Plan (CLP) states that “All development 
proposals must respect and enhance their surroundings and positively contribute towards 
the local identity and character of an area”. 
 
It is considered that the proposed temporary building, layout and the soft and hard 
landscaping treatment would not have any detrimental impact on the street scene or in 
design terms.  However, the site is not located in a suitable location as the site is to be 
protected from development until a later date when the current local plan is to be 
reviewed. 

Page 113



 
 

 
The option of a temporary use of the site has been considered with the  Planning Policy 
Officer but it was felt that a temporary proposal would still be unacceptable given the 
strategic purpose of the designation. Even a temporary permission would fetter the 
strategic purpose of the policy as it could seriously jeopardise the entire area being 
considered together to deliver the future needs of both Coventry and Warwick.  
 
Any premature release, even temporary, could trigger WDC to review their local plan 
sooner than anticipated, which would then have implications for Coventry’s future needs.  
 
 
Highway Safety 
Policy AC1 refers to developments which will create additional trips on the transport 
network, whilst AC3 requires safe and appropriate access to the highway system together 
with satisfactory on site arrangements for vehicle manoeuvring so as to ensure safety for 
all users and AC4 encourages walking and cycling.   
 
Access to the application site is via Featherbed Lane, a narrow access road 
approximately four metres wide to the gateway of No.2 Featherbed Lane, after which it 
narrows to less than three metres in width. Within the application site there will be 10 car 
parking spaces, one for staff and nine for disabled persons. Additional parking will be 
available at St John’s Church. 
 
Coventry City Council Highways were consulted and raised no objection, stating “In 
respect of this application the Highway Authority considers that the impacts of the 
development are not severe and has no objections to the current proposal”. 
 
 
Equality Implications  
Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 created the public sector equality duty. Section 149 
states:-  
 
(1) A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need 
to:  

a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 
prohibited by or under this Act;  

b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it;  

c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it.  

 
Officers have taken this into account and given due regard to this statutory duty, and the 
matters specified in Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 in the determination of this 
application.  
 
There are no known equality implications arising directly from this development. 
 
 
CONCLUSION 

Page 114



 
 

It is therefore recommended that planning permission be refused. 
 
 
REASON FOR REFUSAL 
Whilst the land is not within the Green Belt, it has been set aside as safeguarded land for 
potential development needs in the future and is therefore not allocated for development 
within the current Coventry Local Plan. Any development of this site is contrary to Policies 
DS2 and GB2 and the principles of the National Planning Policy Framework (paragraph 
139), as it aims to ensure flexibility in realising cross-boundary opportunities to facilitate 
development in the longer term.  To allow development at this stage would be premature 
and contrary to the principles of Policies DS2 and GB2 and the need for safeguarding 
land, thus undermining the Local Plan process for both Coventry and Warwick District 
Councils and the need to support sustainable development, the on-going commitment to 
discharge the duty to co-operate and the long term protection and management of the 
Green Belt. 
 
 

Page 115



This page is intentionally left blank



P
age 117



P
age 118



P
age 119



P
age 120



 
 

Planning Committee Report 
Planning Ref:  TELO/2021/0198 
Site:  Land at Scots Lane  
Ward: Bablake  
Proposal: Prior approval for the proposed installation of a 17.5m high 

monopole together with the installation of ground-based 
equipment cabinets and ancillary development 

Case Officer: Shamim Chowdhury  
 
SUMMARY 
The prior approval seeks to install a 17.5m monopole mast and associated equipment 
cabinets. As per Schedule 2, Part 16, Class A of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) (GPDO) certain 
telecommunications development such as masts and equipment cabinets are permitted 
development subject to the local planning authority approving siting, design and 
appearance. 
 
BACKGROUND 
The proposed installation is part of Vodafone’s network upgrade to rollout 5G network in 
the area. The proposal has amended and reduced the mast height from 20m to 17.5m in 
order to minimise visual impact. The proposed mast and equipment cabinets would be 
shared with Telefonica (O2 network).  
 
KEY FACTS 
Reason for report to 
committee: 

Cllr Williams called in  

Current use of site: Highway grass verge  
Proposed use of site: Telecommunication Infrastructure  

 
RECOMMENDATION 
Planning committee are recommended to grant Prior Approval subject to compliance with 
the submitted drawings. 
 
REASON FOR DECISION 

 The proposal is acceptable in principle.  
 The proposal will have limited adverse impact upon the visual amenity of the area; 

however, the social and economic benefits of the proposal would outweigh visual 
harm. 

 The proposal falls within the criteria of Schedule 2, Part 16, Class A of the Town 
and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as 
amended) (GPDO) and accords with the NPPF. 

 
  

Page 121

Agenda Item 10



 
 

BACKGROUND 
 
APPLICATION PROPOSAL 
The application seeks prior approval for the erection of a 17.5m high mono-pole mast 
and associated equipment cabinets as part of 5G network rollout by Vodafone. There are 
three equipment cabinets in association with the proposed mono pole mast as ancillary 
development. Two of the equipment cabinets measure in floor area 1.6m X 0.8m (1.44m²) 
and 0.7m X 0.8m (0.56m²) with a height of 1.6m and the other cabinet is fairly small in 
floor area with a height of 1m. The height of the proposed monopole has been amended 
and reduced from 20m to 17.5m to minimise impact on the visual amenity of the street 
scene.   
 
SITE DESCRIPTION 
The site is a grass verge along the west side of Scots Lane around 22m north of  Hollyfast 
Road junction. There is footpath along the grass verge and beyond which is Bablake 
School Playground. There is a palisade fence separating the playing field from the public 
footpath and grass verge. There is a mature tree line on the edge of the playground along 
the public footpath and one mature tree on the grass verge adjacent to the proposed 
mast. The site is opposite Coundon reservoir and away from residential properties. There 
are residential properties to the north-east and south-west of the application site. 
 
PLANNING HISTORY 
There are no historic planning applications on this site. 
 
POLICY 
National Policy Guidance 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). The NPPF sets out the Government’s 
planning policies for England and how these are expected to be applied. It sets out the 
Government’s requirements for the planning system only to the extent that is relevant, 
proportionate and necessary to do so.  
  
The National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)  adds further context to the NPPF and 
it is intended that the two documents are read together. 
 
Local Policy Guidance 
The current local policy is provided within the Coventry Local Plan 2016, which was 
adopted by Coventry City Council on 6th December 2017.  Relevant policy relating to this 
application is: 
 
Policy DE1 Ensuring High Quality Design 
Policy C1 Telecommunications 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance/ Documents (SPG/ SPD): 
SPG Telecommunications – A Design Guide, September 2005 
 
CONSULTATION 
No Objections received from: 
 Highways 
 Environmental Protection 

Page 122



 
 

Three site notices were posted on 14th February 2021. 
 
Four letters of objection including one from former Councillor Glenn Williams have been 
received, raising the following material planning considerations: 
a) The proposed mast is close to an existing mast  
b) The proposed mast would harm the open landscape area  
c) Would appear unsightly and harm the visual amenity of the street scene.  
d) The siting of the mast proximity to two primary schools and a school playing field 
e) There are already three masts in the area why another one is required.  

Any further comments received will be reported within late representations. 
 
APPRAISAL 
The proposals are permitted development under Schedule 2, Part 16, Class A of the 
GPDO. Therefore, the main issues in determining this application are siting and design 
only, as matters for consideration for prior approval. 
 
Siting, Design and Appearance  
The NPPF recognises that advanced, high quality and reliable communications 
infrastructure is essential for economic growth and social well-being. Planning policies 
and decisions should support the expansion of electronic communications networks, 
including next generation mobile technology (such as 5G). Nevertheless, paragraph 113 
of the NPPF suggests that the number of masts should be kept to a minimum and where 
new sites are required (such as for new 5G networks), equipment should be 
sympathetically designed and camouflaged where appropriate. 
 
Paragraph 115 of the NPPG suggests that Applications for electronic communications 
development (including applications for prior approval under the General Permitted 
Development Order) should be supported by the necessary evidence to justify the 
proposed development. This should include: 
a) the outcome of consultations with organisations with an interest in the proposed 
development, in particular with the relevant body where a mast is to be installed near a 
school or college, or and 
b) for an addition to an existing mast or base station, a statement that self-certifies that 
the cumulative exposure, when operational, will not exceed International Commission 
guidelines on non-ionising radiation protection; or 
c) for a new mast or base station, evidence that the applicant has explored the possibility 
of erecting antennas on an existing building, mast or other structure and a statement that 
self-certifies that, when operational, International Commission guidelines will be met. 
 
Policy DE1 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016 seeks to ensure that development 
complements or enhances the character of the surrounding area.  
 
Policy C2 related to Telecommunication on Coventry Local Plan 2016 states that when 
considering notifications, planning applications and prior approval applications, regard 
will be given to the following factors: 
a) operational requirements of the telecommunication networks and the technical 
limitations of the technology, including any technical constraints on the location of 
telecommunications apparatus;  

Page 123



 
 

b) the need for the ICNIRP Guidelines (and any other relevant guidance in place at the 
time of the application) for safe emissions to be met; 
c) the potential for sharing existing masts, buildings and other structures; and 
d) the impact of the development on its surroundings with particular regard to the  
following criteria: 
i. the visual amenity, character or appearance of the surrounding area. 
ii. apparatus and associated structures sited on a building should be sited and designed 
in order to seek to minimise impact to the external appearance of the host building. 
iii. development should not have an unacceptable effect on conservation areas or 
buildings of architectural or historic interest or areas of ecological interest or areas of 
landscape value or sites of archaeological importance. 
iv. the proposed provision of landscaping.  
 
The Council’s SPG “Telecommunications – A Design Guide” states that within a 
residential area monopole masts, street works type masts and antenna on buildings may 
be acceptable provided that they are sited carefully and designed in relation to dwellings 
and the street scene. Whilst the Council recognises that some elements of this SPG are 
out of date with regards legislation, the criteria, nonetheless, used in the assessment of 
prior notification submissions are still relevant, as acknowledged by the Local Plan 
Inspector when the SPG was carried forward to the new Local Plan. 
 
The SPG states that “Monopole masts may be acceptable within such areas provided 
that they will: 
• Demonstrate that no alternative sites are available; 
• Not be visually prominent in the street scene or from dwellings due to height and/or 

design structures; 
• Be screened from public areas by buildings, structures or vegetation; 
• Not be more than 2 metres higher than their visual scree; and 
• Be colour coated to reduce visual prominent (including equipment cabinets and 

security fencing). 
 
The application site which is a grass verge between public footpath and carriageway is 
fairly open and on a landscape setting. There are no buildings close to the site and a 
large area of playing fields to the west and concealed reservoir ground to the east. A 
mature tree line within the field provides screening.  There is a mature tree on the grass 
verge to the south of the site nearer to the junction of Hollyfast Road and Scots Lane. 
The proposed mast would sit on its own around 13m away from the tree which is on the 
grass verge and in the backdrop of trees which are on the playing field. The view of the 
mast from Hollyfast Road and from the surrounding area will be less prominent as it would 
be seen in the backdrop of the mature trees. Due to the siting and road layout of Scots 
Lane adjacent to the proposed site, which is fairly open and a straight stretch of road, the 
view from Scots Lane will be more striking in particular to pedestrians and motorists.  This 
view would be less striking to the motorists from south to north direction due to the 
existing mature tree screening the mast partially. The proposed mast would be away from 
the direct visibility line of the surrounding residential properties.     
 
There is an existing telecommunications street pole at Westhill Road used by two 
operators, but this mast only provides 4G coverage. In addition, there is one EE 4G mast 
on the Coundon Reservoir to the east of the proposed site. The applicant states that this 
site is to the far east of the existing installation on Westhill Road to replicate coverage. 

Page 124



 
 

Moreover, the base station would require significant redevelopment to accommodate 
operators’ (Vodafone) equipment. With regards to the existing mast on Westhill Road, 
the applicant states that there is no comparable street works solution that can 
accommodate 5G antennas for both Vodafone and Telefonica. It would require significant 
redevelopment and a completely new mast of substantial width and height, as well as 
taking up the majority of land at its base. Therefore, the applicant considered that 
redevelopment would be inappropriate within the streetscene, compromise pedestrian 
movements and impact on highway safety. The existing mast on Bablake Playing Fields 
close to Norman Place cannot provide coverage to Scots Lane as it is too far away.  
 
The proposed mast and equipment cabinets are to create a new base to provide 5G 
coverage. The applicant indicates that a new mast and base is required due to technology 
involved in providing 5G network coverage. It is also operator’s (Vodafone) licence 
obligations to upgrade and enhance their network services to deliver new 5G 
technologies in this area. In addition, the proposed monopole and cabinets would be 
shared by other telecommunications operators (Vodafone and Telephonica)  which would 
help to reduce the proliferation of electronic communication masts.  
 
Negotiations have been sought to reduce the height of the mast further, however it is 
understood that certain height is essential for the requirements of 5G installation and the 
applicant insists that the height of the proposed development must be sufficient to enable 
local provision and clear surrounding buildings and trees. The applicant also 
demonstrated that the other existing sites were considered as site selection strategy to 
minimise environmental impact and established that the current site for a new mast and 
base station is the most viable option in this area.   
 
It is acknowledged that the mast will be 2.5 metres higher than the preferred height set 
out in the Council’s Telecommunications SPG and also due to its siting within an open 
roadside location would have some impact on the visual amenity of the street scene. 
However, this impact needs to be assessed against the public benefits of the proposal. 
The introduction of 5G coverage in the area will contribute to delivering a modern, 
advanced, high quality and reliable communications infrastructure that supports a range 
of consumers, including the emergency services. It follows, then, that the delivery of such 
high-end technology will support economic growth and the local community by enabling 
fast and reliable communication to take place, for example by helping people gain 
employment, access services, support their health and well-being, whilst also assisting 
new technologies. The proposal would also support the Governments aims regarding 
‘levelling up’ digital connectivity.  
 
The applicant has provided a Declaration of Conformity with ICNIRP Public Exposure 
Guidelines, ensuring that the proposed telecommunications equipment will be in full 
compliance with the requirements of the radio frequency (RF) public exposure guidelines 
of the International Commission on Non-Ionising Radiation Protection (ICNIRP).  
 
Whilst it is acknowledged that the proposal does not strictly accord with the 
Telecommunications SPG, given the characteristics of the site and surrounding location, 
it is not considered that the proposal will result in serious harm to the visual amenity of 
the street scene or the character of the area. 
 

Page 125



 
 

The proposal will improve 5G coverage in this area, and the NPPF seeks to support high 
quality communications, and therefore the limited harm which results from the 
development is outweighed by the social and economic benefits which would  be brought 
by the proposed development in the area.   
 
The applicant confirms that the mast and cabinets will be coloured RAL 9005 Black to 
blend in with the existing street furniture and minimise the impact upon the urban 
streetscapes.  
 
Equality Implications  
Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 created the public sector equality duty. Section 149 
states:-  
 
(1) A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need 
to:  

a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 
prohibited by or under this Act;  

b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it;  

c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it.  

 
Officers have taken this into account and given due regard to this statutory duty, and the 
matters specified in Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 in the determination of this 
application. There are no known equality implications arising directly from this 
development. 
 
Conclusion 
The proposal falls within the provisions of Schedule 2, Part 16, Class A of the Town and 
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) 
(GPDO) and in line with guidance of the NPPF and therefore it is recommended that the 
prior approval is not required and those details, having been submitted, are acceptable. 
 
 

Page 126



P
age 127



1
3

43

27

Pump House

Christ the King
Catholic Primary School

Reservoir (covered)

Path

Mast (Telecommunication)

86

82

88

JO
H

N
 M

U
R

PH
Y 

G
AR

D
EN

S

1

2

59

7

1

57

3

10 LI
TT

LE
 C

O
U

N
D

O
N

C
LO

SE

2855

2

Original Sheet Size:Surveyed By:

Date:Checked:Drawn: Date:

Cell Name

Site Address / Contact Details

Cell ID No

Drawing Title:

Purpose of issue:

Drawing Number:

TEF VF

Opt.
CORNERSTONE - BEACON

A3

PLANNING

CORNERSTONE

Pack
Issue:

Dwg
Rev:

WHP Telecoms Ltd
Faraday Court
401 Faraday Street
Birchwood Park
Warrington WA3 6GA
Tel: 01925 424100  Fax: 01925 424101
e-mail: info@whptelecoms.com

The drawings comply with VF Non-Standard ICNIRP guidelines.
Designed in accordance with Cornerstone documents: SDN0009.

SITE PHOTOGRAPH

DETAILED SITE LOCATION
(Scale            )1:1250

SITE LOCATION
(Scale 1:50000)

P
age 128



 

Planning Ref:                          FUL/2020/1334 
Site:                                          Garages, Overdale Road, Coventry,  CV5 8AL 
Ward: Whoberley 
Proposed Number of Units: Two  
Proposed Number of 
Affordable Housing Units: 

Two – Development by Citizen Housing (Social 
Housing Provider) 

Proposal: Demolition of existing garages and development 
of 2 x 2-bed bungalows 

Case Officer: Fiona Runacre 
 
SUMMARY 
 
The site comprises 7 garages and 13 parking spaces, located in a predominantly 
residential area.  Access is afforded from Overdale Road.  A pair of semi-detached 
bungalows with associated parking for the dwellings and landscaping is proposed, 
following demolition of the existing garages.  
 
KEY FACTS 
 
Reason for report to 
committee: 

More than 5 representations objecting to the application  

Current use of site: Garages and parking 
Proposed use of site: Residential properties with associated parking  

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Planning committee are recommended to grant planning permission subject to 
conditions. 
 
REASON FOR DECISION 
 

 The proposal is acceptable in principle and will deliver additional 
affordable housing stock. 

 There is capacity within the area to absorb the displaced parking. 
 The proposal will not adversely impact upon highway safety. 
 The proposal will not adversely impact upon the amenity of 

neighbours. 
 The proposal accords with Policies: DS3, DE1, H3 and AC1, AC2, 

AC3 and AC4 the Coventry Local Plan 2016, together with the aims 
of the NPPF to deliver housing in a sustainable location, make use of 
previously developed land and secure high-quality design. 
 

BACKGROUND 
 
APPLICATION PROPOSAL 
 
It is proposed to erect one pair of semi-detached bungalows on the site, following 
demolition of the existing garages.  The dwellings would be set back within the site, 
having a frontage building line to match that of the adjacent property no. 52 Overdale 
Road, which is a two-storey dwelling.  Four parking spaces would be provided fronting 
the bungalows; one for each property plus two visitor spaces.  

The dwellings to be provided on the site will assist in meeting the current shortfall of 
social housing units within the City. The redevelopment of the site is part of Citizens’ 

Page 129

Agenda Item 11



 

Housing review and redevelopment of underused parcels of land, such as garage 
courts, to deliver needed affordable housing. 

SITE DESCRIPTION 
 
Currently the site provides 7 garages and 13 car parking spaces, primarily for 
residents, although there is no physical restriction on access to the parking spaces.   
The application site is adjoined by residential properties to the north, south and west 
of the application site. The property immediately to the east is No. 294 Greendale 
Road, which is a single storey flat roofed dwelling. To the south are two storey 
properties. Those properties immediately to the north are single storey flat roofed 
dwellings and their rear gardens back onto the footpath adjacent to the application site, 
(Nos. 56-60 Overdale Road).  The footpath adjoining the northern boundary of the site 
provides pedestrian access from Overdale Road to Greendale Road, onto which No.s 
294-302 Greendale Road front.  

The existing 7 garages appear to be in good condition, 4 of which are in use, as is the 
car parking area with 13 spaces.  

The site is level, adjacent to rising ground to the south, with properties to the north 
being sited at a lower level due to the local topography.  There is a change in levels 
from the north to south boundary of c. 1.8 m.  

PLANNING HISTORY 

There have been a number of planning applications on this site as detailed below: 
 
Reference Proposal description  Decision and date 

FUL/2020/0013 Demolition of existing garages and 
development of x2 4-bed houses 

REFUSED 
23/03/2020 

DEMN/2020/0125 Application for Prior Notification of 
proposed demolition of garages 

Details required  

R/2009/0599 Erection of a detached bungalow REFUSED 
2/07/2009 

R/2008/1568 Erection of two semi-detached houses REFUSED 
15/10/2008 

S/1966/1485 Retention and continued use of lock up 
garage 

APPROVED 
15/07/1966 

S/1960/0892 Erection of lock up garage APPROVED 
30/09/1960 

 
The previous application FUL/2020/0013 was refused on the grounds that: 

1. The proposed development would be contrary to Policy DE1 and H3 of the 
Coventry Local Plan 2016 and the objectives of the National Planning Policy 
Framework 2019 by reason of:  

i) its siting, design and materials would disrupt the rhythm of development and be 
out of keeping with the established street scene and contrary to the grain of 
development in the area to the detriment of the visual amenities and general 
character of the locality.  

ii) the siting, design and massing in close proximity to neighbouring residential 
properties which would result in increased overlooking, unacceptable visual 

Page 130



 

intrusion and an overbearing impact on the living conditions of occupiers of No's. 
294 Glendale Road and No's 58 and 60 Overdale Road;  

2. Insufficient information has been submitted to demonstrate that the loss of 
garages and parking spaces will not result in the intensification of demand for on 
street parking in the locality in the absence of on-site parking provision. It is 
considered the proposal would result in an increase of demand for on-street 
parking in the locality, which would be to the detriment of highway safety, the free 
flow of traffic and to the amenities of the occupiers of adjacent dwellings.  The 
proposal is contrary to Policies AC2 and AC3 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016, in 
particular 'the Car and Cycle Parking for New Development (Appendix 5)' and the 
aims and objectives of the NPPF 2019. 

Prior to that both applications in 2008 and 2009 were refused on the grounds of the 
loss of well used parking in an area that was considered at that time to have a shortfall 
in available on street parking.  Application R/2008/1568 was also refused on grounds 
that the siting, design and massing of the two storey dwellings in relation to Nos 294 
Glendale Road and No.s 58 and 60 Overdale Road would result in increased 
overlooking, unacceptable visual intrusion and an overbearing impact on living 
conditions.  
 
POLICY 
 
National Policy Guidance 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out the Government’s planning 
policies for England and how these are expected to be applied. It sets out the 
Government’s requirements for the planning system only to the extent that is relevant, 
proportionate and necessary to do so, and identifies that the purpose of planning is to 
contribute to the achievement of sustainable development. Achieving sustainable 
development means that the planning system has three overarching objectives: 
economic, social and environmental objective which are interdependent and need to 
be pursued in mutually supportive ways.  Of specific relevance to key issues is Part 2: 
Achieving Sustainable Development; Part 11: Making Efficient Use of Land; and Part 
12: Achieving Well Designed Places. 
 
The National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) adds further context to the NPPF 
and it is intended that the two documents are read together. 
 
Local Policy Guidance 
 
The current local policy is provided within the Coventry Local Plan 2016, which was 
adopted by Coventry City Council on 6th December 2017.  Relevant policy relating to 
this application is: 
 
Policy DE1: Ensuring High Quality of Design 
Policy EM2: Building Standards  
Policy EM6: Redevelopment of previously developed land 
Policy AC1: Accessible Transport Network  
Policy AC2: Road Network   
Policy AC3: Demand Management   
Policy AC4: Walking and Cycling  
Policy DS1: Overall Development Needs 
Policy DS3: Sustainable development   
Policy H3: Provision of New Housing  

Page 131



 

Policy H4: Securing a Mix of Housing   
Policy H9: Residential Density   
Policy GE4: Tree Protection 
Policy EM1: Planning for Climate Change Adaptation 
Policy EM2: Building Standards 
Policy EM5: Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) 
Policy EM6: Redevelopment of Previously Developed Land 
Policy EM7: Air Quality 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance/ Documents (SPG/ SPD): 
 
SPG  Design Guidance for New Residential Development 
SPD  Delivering a More Sustainable City 
SPD  Coventry Connected –  

- Appendix 5-car park and cycle parking standards  
SPD Air Quality 2019 
SPD  Trees and Developer Guidance October 2020 
SPG     Design Guidance for Extending Your Home  
 
CONSULTATION 
 
No objections subject to conditions have been received from: 
 

 Highways - (07/04/2021)  
 Environmental Protection - (30/11/2020) 
 Ecology - (11/12/2020) 

 
At the time of writing the report comments have not been received from:  
 

 Waste Services. 
 
Immediate neighbours and local councillors have been notified; a site notice was 
posted on 02/12/2020.  Further to an amended Parking Survey, further notification was 
carried out on 05/03/2021.  Additional comments received on the amended parking 
survey have been included in the summary below. 
 
15 letters of objection have been received, several which included photographs of 
parking in the area, raising the following material planning considerations: 
 

a) Loss of off-street parking, loading and unloading that the site provides to 
residents who don’t have off-street parking, visitors and the nearby 
Whoberley Hall school, and emergency and care workers  

b) Increase in distance for residents (majority of whom are older and/or have 
mobility issues) to their homes from alternative on street parking 

c) The times of the original parking survey does not reflect the actual situation 
d) The timing of the updated parking survey during lockdown 
e) Increased capacity for road traffic accidents 
f) Loss of storage space 
g) Increase in on street parking and ‘pavement parking’ 
h) Pitched roofs in an area where bungalows have flat roofs would be 

unsympathetic 
i) Loss of daylight and sunlight, and overshadowing to adjacent gardens and 

properties 
j) Loss of privacy and outlook 

Page 132



 

k) Overbearing development 
l) Overdevelopment ‘cramming’ 
m) Disruption and impact on health from noise, vibration and dust during 

construction  
n) Concerns about the number of applications that have been submitted to 

date on this site despite being refused have been raised. 

Within the letters received the following non-material planning considerations were 
raised, these cannot be given due consideration in the planning process: 

o) impact on property values 
p) and access and maintenance of adjacent property 294. 

Any further comments received will be reported within late representations. 
 
Cllr Bally Singh objects as follows: The pitched roof of the proposed bungalows will be 
detrimental to the open views of neighbours, and the loss of parking / garage / access 
space for residents impacted. I would welcome designs that encouraged a sustainable 
flat roof if this application is approved, and conditions that existing parking and access 
is not hindered.  
 
APPRAISAL 
 
The main issues in determining this application are: 
 

 The principle of development 
 Loss of parking 
 Highways and access considerations 
 Design and visual considerations 
 Residential amenity 
 Ecology and biodiversity 
 Air quality and ground conditions 

 
Principle of development 
 
When considering the suitability of a site for housing development that is not already 
allocated, Policy H3 of the Local Plan must be considered to ensure it is situated within 
a sustainable location and will ensure the creation of an appropriate and 
acceptable residential environment.  Directly relevant to the principle of the 
development is Policy H3 (4) which requires development to be in a sustainable 
location, wherever possible within: 

a)within 2km radius of local medical services; 
b) within 1.5km of a designated centre within the city hierarchy (policy R3); 
c) within 1km radius of a primary school; 
d) within 1km of indoor and outdoor sports facilities; and 
e) within 400m of a bus stop 
f) within 400m of publicly accessible green space 

The location is sustainable being accessible to all the above having access to services 
and facilities, within c. 300 m of Winsford Avenue Local Centre, and the medical centre 
on Whitaker Road being within c. 400m of the site.  Bus services operate along Lyndale 
Road within 400 m to the south of the site.  The location satisfies policy H3(4) of the 
Local Plan.  

Page 133



 

Paragraph 68 of the NPPF supports small sized sites for residential development, 
recognising the contribution that suitable windfall sites can make to the housing 
requirement within existing settlements.   

Paragraph 118 (c) of the NPPF requires that substantial weight is given to the value of 
using suitable brownfield sites within settlements for homes and other identified needs, 
and part (d) promotes and supports the development of under-utilised land and 
buildings.  

The principle of the residential development of this brownfield site to deliver additional 
housing provision is therefore supported in accordance with Policy H3, subject to the 
proposal satisfying the other relevant parts of policy H3, specifically part 1 – high 
quality design and part 3 – providing a suitable residential environment.  These relate 
to matters of detail and are discussed under the relevant headings below. Part 5 also 
requires proposals to conform with all other relevant plan policies.  This is discussed 
further in the relevant sections below. 
 
Loss of Parking  

Delivering a suitable residential environment includes ensuring safe and appropriate 
access as set out in Policy H3 (part 3) of the Local Plan. The loss of parking is a key 
part of the assessment of this application as there would be a direct loss of parking 
provision as a result of the proposal, and displaced parking can give rise to issues 
relating to both residential amenity and highway safety if there is no capacity within the 
area to absorb the displacements.   

Representations received, including photographs, indicate that there are existing 
parking problems in Overdale Road at present, particularly worse during school drop 
off and pick up times, where cars are parked partly on the pavement, and that the site 
is relied on by residents and others.  During officer visits to the site, 5 cars (29/4/2021 
at 11.30am) and 7 cars (2/12/2020 at 2.30pm) were parked in the spaces.    

It is noted that the previous application FUL/2020/0013 was refused on the grounds 
that insufficient evidence had been submitted to demonstrate that the loss of garages 
and parking spaces will not result in the intensification of demand for on street parking 
in the locality in the absence of on-site parking provision.  The garage analysis and 
parking review that was submitted as part of that application did not include the parking 
provision on the additional hardstanding area within the site (13 spaces), and only 
included the garages. This application has included an assessment of the garages and 
parking on the site, within the Highways Statement, which includes a parking survey.   
 
In their initial comments on the application (dated 8/12/2020) an objection was received 
from the Highways Authority, in which they commented that “as part of the application 
the applicant has failed to provide evidence demonstrating that the development is not 
contrary to the Local Plan policy and should accord with Car and Cycle Parking 
Standards within Appendix 5 Coventry Local Plan 2016”.   

Further to discussion with the applicant’s agent, it became evident that since the 
previous refusal and the submission of this application, that the parking beat guidance 
had been updated, hence the original survey did not meet the most up to date 
guidance. An amended Highways Statement with parking beat survey was received 
on 1/3/2021.   

The single beat parking survey was undertaken on 10th February 2021 between 00:30 
and 05:30 on all streets within 200m of the proposed development in accordance with 
Coventry City Council’s Parking Beat Survey Standards for Residential  
Developments.  Whilst parking surveys would not ordinarily be completed during 

Page 134



 

school holidays or in the weeks immediately either side of those dates, the applicant’s 
agent confirmed with the Highways Authority that the parking survey could be carried 
out at this time due to the lockdown situation which was preventing holidays etc.   

Notwithstanding that the size of the garages (internal dimensions on average 4.8 m x 
2.35 m) is below that recommended in the Coventry Connected  SPD  of 3 m x 6 m 
internally, 3 of the 4 let garages have been included in the parking beat survey (1 of 
the 4 let garages is let to a person living c. 3km from the site), hence it was not  
included.   The updated Highways Statement states that the results show that the spare 
capacity on the roads within 200m of the site would allow 159 cars to park on-street, 
and that Overdale Road itself had spare capacity for 51 - 53 cars.  

The survey concludes that “only 3 garages and 13 parking bays, so a total of 16 parking 
spaces are likely to be displaced locally as part of the proposals and will be fully 
accommodated by spare capacity on Overdale Road.”  It continues that “it also 
demonstrates that there is further capacity on Overdale Road (or other streets within 
200m from the site), to comfortably accommodate parking associated with the 4 
garages that are either already out of use and or currently rented to someone outside 
of the local area, or to allow for modest peaks and troughs in parking demand that may 
be reasonably expected.” 

It is not disputed that the parking provision on the site is well used at times, as 
evidenced by third party representations and site visits by your officer.  However, 
sufficient evidence has been submitted in the Highways Statement to demonstrate that 
there is sufficient space within Overdale Road and the wider area surveyed to absorb 
displaced parking, from the 13 car parking spaces and the 4 let garages.  Whilst a level 
of inconvenience may arise for residents who utilise the car parking spaces, as a result 
of having to park further from their home, no significant harm would arise from the loss 
of the spaces that would result in detriment to highway safety and the residential 
amenity of local residents such that reason for refusal No. 2 on the previous application 
has been addressed.  Additionally, enough parking allocation has been provided for 
the proposed dwellings to ensure that no displacement is experienced as a result of 
the proposal. 

The proposal would therefore accord with Policies DE1 and HE3 of the Coventry Local 
Plan 2016 and the aims and objectives of the National Planning Policy Framework in 
respect of safe and appropriate access due to the capacity of nearby roads to absorb 
any displaced parking. 

Highways and access  

Policy AC3 of the Local Plan acknowledges that the provision of car parking can 
influence occurrences of inappropriate on-street parking which can block access 
routes for emergency, refuse and delivery vehicles, block footways preventing access 
for pedestrians, reduce visibility at junctions and impact negatively on the street scene.  
Proposals for the provision of car parking associated with new development are 
assessed on the basis of parking standards set out in Coventry Connected SPD.  The 
car parking standards also include requirements for the provision of electric car 
charging and cycle parking infrastructure. 
 
The proposal would provide for 4 car parking spaces to serve the two dwellings. The 
existing access would remain to serve the two dwellings.  This would accord with the 
SPD parking requirements.  Pedestrian visibility splays of 2 m x 2 m can be provided 
and are shown on the proposed site plan to both sides of the access.  These areas 
should be maintained free of any obstructions above a height of 600mm and can be 
conditioned.   

Page 135



 

Further to the receipt of the updated Highways Statement, including parking survey 
and site plan showing the required pedestrian visibility splays, the Highways Authority 
raise no objection to the proposal subject to conditions requiring a Construction Method 
Statement, laying out of the access, turning and parking areas as shown on the site 
plan and the provision and retention of unobstructed visibility splays. Additionally, 
provision should be made for cycle storage for each dwelling which can be conditioned.  

The proposal would accord with Policies AC1, AC2, AC3, AC4, DE1 and H3  of the 
Coventry Local Plan 2016, Coventry Connected SPD, and the aims and objectives of 
the National Planning Policy Framework such that the access, layout and parking 
provision would not be detrimental to highway safety and sufficient onsite vehicle and 
cycle parking can be provided.   

Design and Visual considerations  

Policy DE1 of the Local Plan seeks to ensure high quality design and development 
proposals must respect and enhance their surroundings and positively contribute 
towards the local identity and character of an area, having regard to scale, layout, 
density, mass, design, materials and architectural features.  Policy H3 (part 1) of the 
Local Plan requires that new residential development must provide a high-quality 
residential environment which assists in delivering urban regeneration or contributes 
to creating sustainable communities and which overall enhances the built environment.   

Paragraph 124 of the NPPF identifies that the creation of high-quality buildings and 
places is fundamental to what the planning and development process should achieve. 
Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better places in 
which to live and work and helps make development acceptable to communities. 
 
Notwithstanding the description of the garages in the Planning Statement, they appear 
to be in good condition, although having no architectural or historical merit.  Their 
demolition would not result in the loss of a high-quality structure or heritage asset. 

Concerns have been raised that the proposal would result in over-development of the 
site.  The density proposed equates to 40 dwellings per hectare (dph) which would 
accord with Policy H9 of the Local Plan that identifies that densities of a minimum 35 
dwellings per hectare (dph) should be provided on previously developed land, and is 
such that it would be appropriate in the context of the established pattern of 
development in the vicinity of the site. 
 
The previous application was refused on the grounds of the siting, design and materials 
disrupting the rhythm of development and being out of keeping with the established 
street scene.  The proposal has been amended to provide bungalows.  These would 
better reflect the pattern of development to the north and east of the site, where there 
are flat roofed bungalows.  To the south of the site are two storey pitched roof 
dwellings.  The pitched roof bungalows proposed would complement the pattern of 
development and be an appropriate transition between the existing flat roof bungalows 
and two storey pitched roof dwellings, as shown on the proposed street scene. 

This site is a candidate for modular construction as one of the number of sites where 
this build approach is being taken by Citizen on a number of former garage sites.    The 
materials palette has been amended to better reflect that of the surrounding properties 
with brick slips and concrete roof tiles.  Details of the texture and colour finish of these 
are matters that can be conditioned. 

Planting is proposed around the frontage parking.  The existing wall set back from 
Overdale Road is to be removed which would allow for proposed planting to integrate 

Page 136



 

with the existing.  A 1.8 m high brick boundary wall would enclose the side of plot 1 to 
the adjacent footpath.  

The development siting, design and scale would respond to its surroundings and the 
external finish, landscaping and boundary materials can be secured by condition, such 
that the proposal would accord with the principles of good design in policies DE1, H3 
and H9 of the Local Plan, SPG Design Guidance for New Residential Development 
and part 12 of the NPPF and National Design Guide.  

Residential amenity 

Adequate amenity space is required in Policy H3 of the Local Plan and the design 
Guidance for new residential development identifies space requirements for dwellings.  
Both dwellings would have in excess of the minimum 30 sq m of rear external amenity 
space, which would be suitably enclosed to provide privacy and would not be 
overlooked.   

Turning attention to the amenity of neighbouring residents, the previous application 
was refused on the grounds that the siting, design and massing in close proximity to 
neighbouring residential properties would result in increased 
overlooking, unacceptable visual intrusion and an overbearing impact on the 
living conditions of occupiers of No's. 294 Glendale Road and No's 58 and 
60 Overdale Road.   

The neighbouring property to the east, the flank elevation of No. 294 Greendale is on 
the eastern boundary of the site. The previous concern with regard to the 12 m distance 
from the proposed dwelling to the side of 294 Greendale has been addressed as there 
would be no potential for overlooking of the garden of no. 294 from the proposed 
bungalows or an overbearing form of development due to their single storey nature.  
Permitted development rights could also be removed to prevent future additions at roof 
level that may give rise to a loss of privacy.  

The Design Guidance for new residential development SPG identifies that a minimum 
of 10 m will normally be required in the interests of achieving acceptable standards of 
daylight, to minimise overshadowing and maintain privacy. The proposal would 
achieve c.8.2 m garden depth to the flank elevation of No. 294. Deviation from the 10 
m depth in this case is considered acceptable here as the bungalows would not present 
any privacy issues or other amenity issues in relation to No. 294. 

Particular care should be taken with a proposal that would obstruct the southerly 
aspects of an adjoining property or where the application sites ground level is higher 
than adjoining properties.  Both apply in this case and have been carefully considered, 
particularly as there is a change in the levels (c. 1.8 m) adjacent to the site, from north 
to south.    

Neighbouring properties to the north Nos. 56, 58 and 60 Overdale Road are 
bungalows. Previous concerns related to the massing/height of the proposed dwellings 
and level changes, such that the proposed dwellings would have a detrimental impact 
upon the amenity of these occupants regarding visual intrusion and overbearing 
impact.  The houses previously refused had a height to eaves of 5.02 m and a ridge 
height of 9.02 m.  The proposed dwellings have an eaves height of 2.56 m and a ridge 
height of 5.93m.  The dwellings are located on the same alignment as previously 
submitted, that is north/south with the side elevation and gable end facing the rear of 
no. 58 Overdale Road at a distance of 14 m.   

The adjacent properties being to the south of the site will experience some increased 
overshadowing compared to that currently experienced from the adjacent garages and 
tree. However, due to the north/south orientation of the bungalows,  compared with the 

Page 137



 

elongated east /west orientation of the garages, any overshadowing experienced is 
not considered harmful such that it would significantly reduce light to the rear of the 
adjacent properties, through excessive overshadowing. 

There are no openings to habitable rooms proposed to the side elevation, and with the 
intervening boundary treatments, and the single storey nature of the proposed 
development there would be no loss of amenity through overlooking or an overbearing 
sense of enclosure.  

The residential use is compatible with surrounding residential uses and the scheme is 
not considered to create any significant impact upon the amenities of the occupiers of 
surrounding properties in terms of outlook, light or privacy. 

Third parties have raised concerns regarding these matters, but the development of 
the site to provide bungalows would not give rise to a significant loss of residential 
amenity for the reasons above.   

Whilst there would be some disruption to residential amenity during construction this 
is to be expected during the construction phase and would be temporary in nature.  A 
construction management plan is required by condition which will allow the Local 
Planning Authority to consider matters relating  hours of work, measures to control the 
emission of dust and dirt during demolition and construction, measures to minimise 
noise disturbance to neighbouring properties during demolition and construction and 
measures to control the presence of any asbestos.  These controls are considered 
necessary in the interests of residential amenity.   
 
The existing parking pressures and the level of use of the site for parking raised by 
third parties is noted.  As detailed in the loss of parking section above, it has been 
demonstrated that the loss of parking provision on the site can be absorbed in the 
surrounding area, such that there would be no adverse impact on the living conditions 
of adjacent and nearby residents, through noise and disturbance associated with 
vehicle movements and displacement of existing parking.  
   
The proposal has satisfactorily addressed the previous reason for refusal in respect of 
residential amenity and would therefore accord with policies DE1 and H3 of the Local 
Plan 2016, and paragraph 127(f) of the NPPF.   

Ecology and biodiversity 

The proposal would not have any impact on any statutory or non-statutory wildlife sites. 
There are no records of any notable wildlife from the site, there are nearby records of 
hedgehogs and bats will be present.   The existing site consists of garages and 
hardstanding with limited biodiversity value.  The likelihood of bat roosts within the 
garages is very low. The creation of gardens to replace the existing hardstanding will 
provide a small biodiversity gain.  

The application includes a Tree Survey (CGO Ecology, June 2020) which states that 
there are no trees within the application footprint.  T2 adjacent to the north western 
corner of the site is prominent in the street scene and its retention is important to the 
visual amenity of the public realm.  

An informative in respect of protected species has been recommended by the 
Council’s Ecologist.   A condition to require a Tree Protection Plan and Arboricultural 
Method Statement as recommended in the Tree Survey report can be imposed. The 
proposal would therefore accord with policies GE3 and GE4 of the Local Plan, and the 
Trees and Developer Guidance SPD. 

Page 138



 

Air Quality and Ground conditions  
 
Air Quality  
With the city being declared an Air Quality Management Area since 2009 for nitrogen 
dioxide, primarily as a result of traffic related emissions, and the more recent Ministerial 
Direction that requires the city council to implement a package of measures to reduce 
nitrogen dioxide emissions to legal levels within the ‘shortest possible time’, Policy AC1 
of the Local Plan and Coventry Connected SPD requires the infrastructure for electric 
vehicles to be installed through planning condition; in this case one space per dwelling. 
The policies reflect paragraph 181 of the NPPF.   

This can be secured through a condition requiring electric vehicle charging points to 
be provided, such that the proposal would accord with Policies AC1 and EM7 of the 
Local Plan, Coventry Connected SPD, Air Quality SPD and the objectives of the NPPF. 

Ground Conditions 
Policy EM6 seeks to ensure that redevelopment of previously developed land does not 
have a negative impact on water quality, either directly through pollution of surface or 
ground water or indirectly through the treatment of wastewater by whatever means. 
Environmental Protection raise no objection subject to conditions in relation to a 
contaminated land (watching brief) and details of any imported soils, including 
chemical sampling demonstrating their suitability for use.  
 
Equality Implications  
 
Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 created the public sector equality duty. Section 
149 states:-  
 
(1) A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the 
need to:  

a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct 
that is prohibited by or under this Act;  

a) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it;  

b) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it.  

 
Officers have taken this into account and given due regard to this statutory duty, and 
the matters specified in Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 in the determination of 
this application.  
 
There are no known equality implications arising directly from this development. 
 
Conclusion 
 
The proposed development is acceptable in principle.  The loss of parking would not 
result in the unacceptable displacement of parking, and there would be no significant 
harmful impacts on residential amenity, highway safety, ecology and biodiversity for 
the reasons set out above.  The reason for this recommendation for approval subject 
to the conditions set out below, is that the proposal is in accordance with Policies DS3, 
DE1, H3, H9,  GE3, GE4, AC1, AC2, AC3, AC4, EM6 and EM7  of the Coventry Local 
Plan 2016, adopted supplementary planning documents and guidance, together with 
the aims of the NPPF.  
 
CONDITIONS:\REASONS 

Page 139



 

1. The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than 3 years from the 
 date of this decision.  
 
Reason:  To conform with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
(as amended) 
 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
 following approved plans and documents: 100-407AR/001 Rev G Site Layout; 
 100-407AR/002C Site Location; 100-407AR/003 Rev E Boundary Treatment; 
 100-407AR/007 -  Type B- 2B3P; 100-407AR/008A Street Scene;  
 25080_06_170_218 Topographical Survey; 25080_06_200_218 Underground 
 detection survey; Existing site layout 1:500; Planning Statement 100-407 Rev 
 C dated June 2020; Highway Statement reference CGSW407-BSP-ZZ-XX-RP-
 D-0001-P03 dated 26 February 2021; Tree Survey, Arboricultural Impact 
 Assessment and Tree Constraints Plan version 2 dated 12 June 2020; 
 Phase II Geo-Environmental Investigation report ref 25080-GI-23-01 dated 
 December 2019 and Ownership certificate A Justification Statement.  
 
Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
 
3. Prior to their incorporation into the development hereby permitted, sample 
 details of all facing and roofing materials shall be submitted to and approved in 
 writing by the Local Planning Authority. These details shall be installed only in 
 full accordance with the approved details prior to the first occupation of the 
 development and thereafter shall be retained and shall not be removed or 
 altered in any way.  
 
Reason:  To ensure that the proposed development has a satisfactory external 
appearance in the interests of the visual amenities of the area in accordance with 
Policy DE1 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
 
4. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted, details of both 
 hard and soft landscaping works shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
 by the Local Planning Authority. Details of hard landscaping works shall include 
 boundary treatments, including full details of the proposed boundary walls, 
 railings and gates to be erected, specifying the type of bricks and colour of the 
 railings and gates; footpaths; and hard surfacing (which shall be made of 
 porous materials or provision shall be made to direct run-off water from the 
 hard surface to a permeable or porous area). The hard landscaping works shall 
 be completed in strict  accordance with the approved details within three 
 months of the first occupation of any of the dwellings hereby permitted; and all 
 planting shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details within the 
 first planting and seeding seasons following the first occupation. Any tree(s) or 
 shrub(s) which within a period of five years from the completion of the 
 development dies, is removed or becomes; in the opinion of the Local Planning 
 Authority; seriously damaged, defective or diseased shall be replaced in the 
 next planting season with another of similar size and species. All hedging, 
 tree(s) and shrub(s) shall be planted in accordance with British Standard BS 
 8545:2014 Trees: from nursery to independence in the landscape - 
 Recommendations and BS4428 - Code of Practice for General Landscape 
 Operations.  
 
Reason:  To ensure a satisfactory standard of appearance of the development in 
the interests of the visual amenities of the area in accordance with Policies GE1 and 
DE1 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 

Page 140



 

5. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted, a landscape 
 management plan, including long term design objectives, long term 
 management responsibilities and maintenance schedules for all landscape 
 areas (other than domestic gardens within the curtilage of a single 
 dwellinghouse), shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
 Planning Authority. The landscape management plan shall be implemented as 
 soon as the approved landscaping is carried out and shall not be withdrawn or 
 altered in any way.  
 
Reason:  To ensure a satisfactory standard of appearance over the lifetime of the 
development in the interests of the visual amenities of the area in accordance with 
Policy GE1 and DE1 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
 
6. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
 Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended), or any statutory 
 instrument amending, revoking and/or replacing that Order, no buildings or 
 enclosures shall be provided within the curtilage of, and no extensions, 
 enlargements or additions erected or constructed, or windows or other form of 
 opening be provided in the rear roof slopes to the dwelling houses hereby 
 permitted, without the prior grant of planning permission by the Local Planning 
 Authority.  
 
Reason:  Having regard to the layout and general nature of the proposed 
development and its relationship with adjoining properties it is important to ensure that 
no development is carried out which would detract from the appearance of the area 
and affect the amenities of adjacent properties in accordance with Policies H3 and DE1 
of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
 
7. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
 Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended), or any statutory 
 instrument amending, revoking and/or replacing that Order, no gate, fence, wall 
 or other means of enclosure, other than shown on the approved plans, shall be 
 erected, constructed or improved or altered such as to place the structure in 
 front of the forwardmost part of any dwelling houses fronting a highway or 
 footpath without the prior grant of planning permission  by the Local Planning 
 Authority.   
 
Reason:  Having regard to the open plan layout and general nature of the 
proposed development it is important to ensure that no development is carried out 
except with the permission of the Local Planning Authority, which would detract from 
the appearance of the area and affect the amenities of adjacent properties in 
accordance with Policies H3 and DE1 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
 
8. No development or other operations (including any demolition, site clearance 
 or other preparatory works) shall commence unless and until the tree protection 
 measures identified in the approved application Arboricultural Impact 
 Assessment and Tree Constraints Plan version 2 dated 12 June 2020 have 
 been put into place in strict accordance with the approved details and thereafter 
 they shall remain in place during all construction work.  These measures shall 
 be detailed in a Tree Protection Plan (TPP) and Arboricultural Method 
 Statement (AMS) in accordance with the recommendations in the approved 
 documentation and submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
 Authority.   In addition no excavations, site works, stock piling, trenches or 
 channels shall be cut or pipes or services laid, (other than works necessary to 
 facilitate the construction of the dwellings and landscaping of the site), and no 

Page 141



 

 fires shall be lit within 10 metres of the nearest point of the canopy or root 
 protection area of any protected tree(s); no equipment, machinery or structure 
 shall be located within this zone; no mixing of cement or use of other 
 contaminating materials or substances shall take place within, or close enough 
 to, a root protection area that seepage or displacement could cause them to 
 enter a root protection area or any other works carried out in such a way as to 
 cause damage or injury to the tree(s) by interference with their root structure 
 and that no soil or waste shall be deposited on the land in such a position as to 
 be likely to cause damage or injury to the tree(s).   
 
Reason:  To protect those trees which are of significant amenity value to the area 
and which would provide an enhanced standard of appearance to the development in 
accordance with Policy GE3 and GE4 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
 
9. Prior to the first use of the access in connection with the dwellings hereby 
 permitted, the 2 metre by 2 metre visibility splays as shown on the approved 
 plans shall be provided and thereafter retained free from obstruction at all times 
 above a height of 600mm.  
 
Reason:   In the interests of highway safety in accordance with the aims and 
objectives of Policies AC1 and AC2 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016.  
 
10. Prior to occupation of any of the dwellings hereby permitted, details of cycle 
 parking provision to provide at least 1 cycle parking space per dwelling, shall 
 be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
 cycle parking provision shall be provided in full accordance with the approved 
 details prior to first occupation of the dwellings and thereafter those facilities 
 shall remain available for use at all times and shall not be removed or altered 
 in any way. 
 
Reason:  In the interests of encouraging the use of alternative modes of transport 
with the aim of creating a more sustainable city in accordance with Policies DS3, AC3 
and AC4 of the Coventry Local 2016. 
 
11. The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied unless and until the 
 access to the site, turning areas and car parking areas shown on the approved 
 plan have been  laid out and properly consolidated, delineated, surfaced, 
 drained, free of loose stone and otherwise constructed in accordance with 
 details to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
 Authority.  These areas shall thereafter be retained and kept available for those 
 uses at all times.  
 
Reason:   In the interests of highway safety and to ensure the free flow of traffic  
in accordance with the aims and objectives of Policies AC1, AC2 and AC3 of the 
Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
 
12. No development (including any demolition) shall take place unless and until a 
 Construction Management Plan (CMP) has been submitted to and approved in 
 writing by the Local Planning Authority. The CMP shall include details of:  

- hours of work; 
- hours of deliveries to the site;  
- the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors during the 
demolition/construction phase;  
- the delivery access point;  
- the loading and unloading of plant and materials;  

Page 142



 

- anticipated size and frequency of vehicles moving to/from the site;  
- the storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development;  
- the erection and maintenance of a security hoarding including decorative 
displays and facilities for public viewing where appropriate;  
- wheel washing facilities and other measures to ensure that any vehicle, plant 
or equipment leaving the application site does not carry mud or deposit other 
materials onto the public highway;  
- measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during demolition and 
construction;  
- measures to control the presence of asbestos;  
- measures to minimise noise disturbance to neighbouring properties during 
demolition and construction;  
- details of any piling together with details of how any associated vibration will 
be monitored and controlled; and  
- a scheme for recycling / disposing of waste resulting from demolition and 
construction works.  
 
Thereafter, the approved details within the CMP shall be strictly adhered to 
throughout the construction period and shall not be amended in any way. 
 

Reason:  The agreement of a Construction Management Plan prior to the 
commencement of development is fundamental to ensure a satisfactory level of 
environmental protection; to minimise disturbance to local residents and in the 
interests of highway safety during the construction process in accordance with Policies 
EM7, AC1 and AC2 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
 
13. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 
 approved development, that was not previously identified, it must be reported 
 in writing immediately to the Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk 
 assessment must be undertaken, and where remediation is necessary a 
 remediation scheme must be prepared which shall be submitted to and 
 approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Following completion of 
 measures identified in the approved remediation scheme a verification report 
 must be prepared, which is subject to the approval in writing of the Local 
 Planning Authority. 
 
Reason:  To safeguard health, safety and the environment in accordance with 
Policy EM6 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016 and the aims and objectives of the NPPF. 
 
14. Prior to the first occupation of any of the dwellings hereby permitted, details of 
 any imported soils, including chemical sampling demonstrating their suitability 
 for use shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
 Authority.  
 
Reason:  To safeguard health, safety and the environment in accordance with 
Policy EM6 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016 and the aims and objectives of the NPPF. 
 
15. Any gas boilers installed on site shall have a dry NOx emission rate of no more 
 than 40mg/kWh.  One electric vehicle recharging point per dwelling shall be 
 provided prior to occupation in accordance with details to be submitted to and 
 approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, and which shall include the 
 siting and design of the recharging points. Recharging points shall be installed 
 in accordance with the approved details and shall not be removed or altered in 
 any way and shall be kept available for such use by residents at all times. 

Page 143



 

Reason:  To mitigate the impacts of development on air quality in accordance 
with Policy DS3 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016 and the aims and the objectives of 
the NPPF. 
 
16. The dwellings hereby permitted shall not be occupied unless and until provision 
 has been made for the siting of bins within the side/rear gardens as shown on 
 the approved plans.  All bins must be stored within the rear/side gardens and 
 not positioned on the public highway or in the open, unless on bin collection 
 days.  
 
Reason:   In the interests of the amenities of the future occupants of the residential 
accommodation in accordance with Policy DE1 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 

 

Page 144



P
age 145



Revision: Date: Drawn: Check:

All dimensions to be checked on site. Do not scale off this drawing for construction
purposes. This drawing is the copyright of the Architect, and not to be reproduced
without their permission. Ordnance Survey map information reproduced with permission
of HMSO Crown Copyright reserved. rg+p Ltd. Trading as rg+p.

Waterloo House, 71 Princess Road West, Leicester, LE1 6TR · T 0116 204 5800
74 Wells Street, London, W1T 3QQ · T 020 3327 0381
F 0116 204 5801 · rg-p.co.uk · design@rg-p.co.uk

pgr
Project: A development at 31-37 Overdale Road,

Coventry

Status:

Client:

Sheet title:

Scale:

Date:

Drawn:

Checked:

Ref:

Citizen Housing

Site Layout

1:500, 1:2@A4

100-407AR/001G
0 10 20 30 40 50m

01

V

02

02

01

V
2m visibility splay

1

5
4

5
2

2
9
4

O
VE

R
D

AL
E 

R
O

AD

BB2
B3

P

BB2
B3

P

HOUSE TYPE Beds NUMBER SQM SQM Total SQFT SQFt total %

B (Bungalow) 2b3p 2 62 124 667.37 1334.74 100.0%

Total 2 124 1334.74 100.0%

Total Site Area: 0.049 Hectares

Total Site Area: 0.121 Acres

Site Density: 40.98 DPH

ACCOMMODATION SCHEDULE

100-407 31-37 Overdale Road

N

Planning

17.04.19

GW

JRAll drawing informa on  is  based  on  OS  map
data and is subject to change a er  receiving
topographical survey and services informa on.

Approximate Tree Loca on

1:500 @ A4

A Footprints amended 28.05.19

B Red line amended to include
entire proposed development
area & drawing status updated
to planning.

31.05.19/
04/06/19

GW/
CW

JR

YM

C House type amended to
Type G - 4B8P.

17.07.19 CW YM

D House type amended to
Type E - 5B8P. Schedule
amended.

17.12.19 GW

E House type amended to
Type H - 4B6P. Schedule
amended.

03.03.20 GDW JER

F House type & schedule
amended. Minor layout
amendments. Bin storage
added.

22.04.20 GDW JER

G 2m vis splays added to access 26.02.21 GDW JER

P
age 146



Revision: Date: Drawn: Check:

All dimensions to be checked on site. Do not scale off this drawing for construction
purposes. This drawing is the copyright of the Architect, and not to be reproduced
without their permission. Ordnance Survey map information reproduced with permission
of HMSO Crown Copyright reserved. rg+p Ltd. Trading as rg+p.

Waterloo House, 71 Princess Road West, Leicester, LE1 6TR · T 0116 204 5800
74 Wells Street, London, W1T 3QQ · T 020 3327 0381
F 0116 204 5801 · rg-p.co.uk · design@rg-p.co.uk

pgr
Project: A development at 31-37 Overdale Road,

Coventry

Status:

Client:

Sheet title:

Scale:

Date:

Drawn:

Checked:

Ref:

Citizen Housing

Site Location

1:1250@A4

100-407AR/002C

1

5
4

5
2

2
9
4

0 10 20 30 40 50m 100m

N

25.05.19

GW

JR

O
V

ER
D

A
LE

 R
O

A
D

GREENDALE ROAD

Planning

A Blue lines added. 26.06.19 CW JR

B Map crop to consolidate land
ownership discrepencies.

22.01.20 GW JR

C Blue lines removed as per
planning request.

28.01.20 GW

P
age 147



Revision: Date: Drawn: Check:

All dimensions to be checked on site. Do not scale off this drawing for construction
purposes. This drawing is the copyright of the Architect, and not to be reproduced
without their permission. Ordnance Survey map information reproduced with permission
of HMSO Crown Copyright reserved. rg+p Ltd. Trading as rg+p.

Waterloo House, 71 Princess Road West, Leicester, LE1 6TR · T 0116 204 5800
74 Wells Street, London, W1T 3QQ · T 020 3327 0381
F 0116 204 5801 · rg-p.co.uk · design@rg-p.co.uk

pgr
Project: A development at 31-37 Overdale Road,

Coventry

Status:

Client:

Sheet title:

Scale:

Date:

Drawn:

Checked:

Ref:

Citizen Housing

Boundary treatment Plan

1:500, 1:666.67, 1:50, 1:10@A3

100-407AR/003E

0 10 20 30 40 50m

01

V

02

02

01

V

1

5
4

5
2

2
9
4

O
VE

R
D

AL
E 

R
O

AD

BB2
B3

P

BB2
B3

P

Boundary Type Key

F1 1800mm Close boarded fence/gates

1.
80

Timber cap to
top of posts

Boundary Treatment

1800mm Close boarded fence/gates

Matching gates
where shown on site
plan, to include lock

Hit and miss gates
for shared rear
access paths to
include lock

Timber posts and
gravel boards

F1 Timber gate

F3 1800mm brick wall

F2 1500mm high close boarded fence with 300mm trellis top to
oversee communal path

1.
80

215mm thick brickwork

Brick coping & tile crease
Brick coping & tile crease

F3 1800mm brick wall

N

Existing wall to
be demolished

Existing boundary along
eastern boundary to
be retained

Existing retaining
wall along southern

boundary to be retained

25.05.19

GW

JR

1:500, 1:50 @ A4

Planning

A House type amended to
Type G - 4B8P.

17.07.19 CW YM

B Updated in accordance with
revised site layout

20.12.19 GW

C Updated in accordance with
revised site layout

04.03.20 GDW

D Updated in accordance with
revised site layout. F3 boundary
type aded.

23.04.20 GDW JER

E F3 boundary type amended to
all brick. Existing wall & boundary
photo/notation added.

01.03.21 GDW JER

Existing boundary treatments - (A) brick and block wall to western boundary and (B) 1 metre block retaining
wall to the southern boundary

A.

B.

P
age 148



Revision: Date: Drawn: Check:

All dimensions to be checked on site. Do not scale off this drawing for construction
purposes. This drawing is the copyright of the Architect, and not to be reproduced
without their permission. Ordnance Survey map information reproduced with permission
of HMSO Crown Copyright reserved. rg+p Ltd. Trading as rg+p.

Waterloo House, 71 Princess Road West, Leicester, LE1 6TR · T 0116 204 5800
74 Wells Street, London, W1T 3QQ · T 020 3327 0381
F 0116 204 5801 · rg-p.co.uk · design@rg-p.co.uk

pgr
Project: A development at 31-37 Overdale Road,

Coventry

Status:

Client:

Sheet title:

Scale:

Date:

Drawn:

Checked:

Ref:

Citizen Housing

Type B - 2B3P

1:100@A3

100-407AR/007

0 1 2 3 4 5m 10m

3.
37

2.
56

Front Elevation

FFL 2.775

FFL 0.150
GL 0.00

Side Elevation

Rear Elevation

Side Elevation
10

.1
6

13.98

F/FBC

W/MD/W

F/F BC

W/M D/W

Ground Floor

Shower AreaShower Area

Living/Dining

St.

Hall

Bedroom 1

Kitchen
Bedroom 2

Living/Dining

St.

Hall

Bedroom 1

Kitchen
Bedroom 2

WetroomWetroom

Planning

03.03.2020

GDW

JER

B

A

C

G

F
D

E

Materials Key

A. Brick slips (Colour to match existing development)
B. White UPVC window frames (VEKA Infinity)
C. Grey concrete Roof Tiles
D. White UPVC Fascia & Barge Board
E. Black UPVC downpipe/gutters
F. Door canopy
G. Black composite door (Sovereign Group)

D

P
age 149



Revision: Date: Drawn: Check:

All dimensions to be checked on site. Do not scale off this drawing for construction purposes.
This drawing is the copyright of the Architect, and not to be reproduced without their permission.
Ordnance Survey map information reproduced with permission of HMSO Crown Copyright
reserved. rg+p Ltd. Trading as rg+p.

Waterloo House, 71 Princess Road West, Leicester, LE1 6TR · T 0116 204 5800
74 Wells Street, London, W1T 3QQ · T 020 3327 0381
F 0116 204 5801 · rg-p.co.uk · design@rg-p.co.uk

pgr
Project: A development at 31-37 Overdale Road,

Coventry

Status:

Client:

Sheet title:

Scale:

Date:

Drawn:

Checked:

Ref:

Citizen Housing

Street Scene

1:1, 1:500, 1:100@A1

100-407AR/008A

01

V

02

02

01

V

1

5
4

5
2

2
9
4

O
VE

R
D

AL
E 

R
O

AD

BB2
B3

P

BB2
B3

P

0 1 2 3 4 5m 10m

Planning

03.03.2020

GDW

JER

Street Scene A-A
Scale: 1:100@A2

A

A

1:100, 1:500 @A2

Existing garage -
to be removed.

Site Boundary Site Boundary

A Page size increased to A1 and
street scene updated with
additional context.

22.03.21 AML JER

Note: Levels indicative only and
TBC upon further information
/surveys if required.

P
age 150



MEC1
98.340

MEC2
98.407

9

8

.

4

6

9

8

.

4

7

9

7

.

4

3

9

8

.

1

6

9

8

.

6

3

9

9

.

2

2

9

9

.

6

1

MEC1

100.000m

DRAWING TITLE:

PROJECT:

SHEET SIZE:REVISION:

DRAWING NUMBER:

CLIENT:

STATUS:

FOR INFORMATION

SCALE:

ORDNANCE SURVEY © CROWN

COPYRIGHT 2015. ALL RIGHTS

RESERVED. LICENCE  NUMBER

100055865.

P
r
i
n

t
e

d
:
1

1
.
0

7
.
2

0
1

9
F

i
l
e

 
L

o
c
a

t
i
o

n
:
 
T

:
\
M

-
E

C
 
J
o

b
 
B

o
o

k
\
2

5
0

8
0

\
d

r
a

w
i
n

g
s
\
2

5
0

8
0

_
0

6
_

1
7

0
_

2
1

8
.
d

w
g

GEOMATICS

Telephone: 01530 264 753

Website: www.m-ec.co.uk

Email: group@m-ec.co.uk

COVENTRY GARAGE SITES

31-37 OVERDALE ROAD

SITE 218

TOPOGRAPHICAL SURVEY

WM HOUSING GROUP

(BIRMINGHAM)

25080_06_170_218

-

A3
1:200

DATE:CHK:DRN:AMENDMENTS:REV: APP:

_

FIRST ISSUE MW JL2 JL2 08.07.19

P
age 151

AutoCAD SHX Text_738
99.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_739
98.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_740
99.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_741
Gy

AutoCAD SHX Text_742
Gy

AutoCAD SHX Text_743
Gy

AutoCAD SHX Text_744
DP

AutoCAD SHX Text_745
DP

AutoCAD SHX Text_746
Lp

AutoCAD SHX Text_747
Arial

AutoCAD SHX Text_748
Lp

AutoCAD SHX Text_749
99.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_750
98.51

AutoCAD SHX Text_751
98.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_752
98.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_753
98.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_754
98.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_755
98.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_756
98.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_757
98.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_758
98.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_759
98.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_760
98.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_761
98.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_762
98.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_763
98.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_764
98.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_765
99.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_766
98.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_767
98.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_768
98.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_769
98.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_770
98.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_771
98.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_772
98.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_773
98.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_774
100.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_775
99.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_776
99.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_777
98.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_778
98.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_779
97.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_780
99.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_781
99.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_782
98.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_783
99.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_784
99.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_785
99.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_786
98.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_787
97.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_788
97.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_789
99.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_790
MHCL: 98.42m

AutoCAD SHX Text_791
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_792
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_793
Concrete

AutoCAD SHX Text_794
Vegetation 

AutoCAD SHX Text_795
Vegetation 

AutoCAD SHX Text_796
Vegetation 

AutoCAD SHX Text_797
Fence

AutoCAD SHX Text_798
Fence

AutoCAD SHX Text_799
Wall

AutoCAD SHX Text_800
Wall

AutoCAD SHX Text_801
Wall

AutoCAD SHX Text_802
Wall

AutoCAD SHX Text_803
Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_804
Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_805
Concrete

AutoCAD SHX Text_806
Concrete

AutoCAD SHX Text_807
Concrete

AutoCAD SHX Text_808
Concrete

AutoCAD SHX Text_809
Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_810
Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_811
Building

AutoCAD SHX Text_812
Building

AutoCAD SHX Text_813
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_814
Survey Notes This plan should be used for its original purpose  plan should be used for its original purpose plan should be used for its original purpose  should be used for its original purpose should be used for its original purpose  be used for its original purpose be used for its original purpose  used for its original purpose used for its original purpose  for its original purpose for its original purpose  its original purpose its original purpose  original purpose original purpose  purpose purpose only. M-EC accepts no responsibility for its  M-EC accepts no responsibility for its M-EC accepts no responsibility for its  accepts no responsibility for its accepts no responsibility for its  no responsibility for its no responsibility for its  responsibility for its responsibility for its  for its for its  its its drawings if they are supplied to any other party  if they are supplied to any other party if they are supplied to any other party  they are supplied to any other party they are supplied to any other party  are supplied to any other party are supplied to any other party  supplied to any other party supplied to any other party  to any other party to any other party  any other party any other party  other party other party  party party other than the original client. The information shown has been surveyed in  information shown has been surveyed in information shown has been surveyed in  shown has been surveyed in shown has been surveyed in  has been surveyed in has been surveyed in  been surveyed in been surveyed in  surveyed in surveyed in  in in accordance to the accuracy of the base scale  to the accuracy of the base scale to the accuracy of the base scale  the accuracy of the base scale the accuracy of the base scale  accuracy of the base scale accuracy of the base scale  of the base scale of the base scale  the base scale the base scale  base scale base scale  scale scale shown. Boundaries shown are physical site features and  shown are physical site features and shown are physical site features and  are physical site features and are physical site features and  physical site features and physical site features and  site features and site features and  features and features and  and and may not represent legally conveyed ownership. Man entry to sewers has not been undertaken.  entry to sewers has not been undertaken. entry to sewers has not been undertaken.  to sewers has not been undertaken. to sewers has not been undertaken.  sewers has not been undertaken. sewers has not been undertaken.  has not been undertaken. has not been undertaken.  not been undertaken. not been undertaken.  been undertaken. been undertaken.  undertaken. undertaken. Depths and pipe sizes are estimated from ground  and pipe sizes are estimated from ground and pipe sizes are estimated from ground  pipe sizes are estimated from ground pipe sizes are estimated from ground  sizes are estimated from ground sizes are estimated from ground  are estimated from ground are estimated from ground  estimated from ground estimated from ground  from ground from ground  ground ground level. This should be checked with local authority  This should be checked with local authority This should be checked with local authority  should be checked with local authority should be checked with local authority  be checked with local authority be checked with local authority  checked with local authority checked with local authority  with local authority with local authority  local authority local authority  authority authority records or on site prior to the commencement of  or on site prior to the commencement of or on site prior to the commencement of  on site prior to the commencement of on site prior to the commencement of  site prior to the commencement of site prior to the commencement of  prior to the commencement of prior to the commencement of  to the commencement of to the commencement of  the commencement of the commencement of  commencement of commencement of  of of any works. Reference numbers allocated to manholes are  numbers allocated to manholes are numbers allocated to manholes are  allocated to manholes are allocated to manholes are  to manholes are to manholes are  manholes are manholes are  are are assigned by ourselves and are for identification  by ourselves and are for identification by ourselves and are for identification  ourselves and are for identification ourselves and are for identification  and are for identification and are for identification  are for identification are for identification  for identification for identification  identification identification purposes only. Some services may have been omitted due to  services may have been omitted due to services may have been omitted due to  may have been omitted due to may have been omitted due to  have been omitted due to have been omitted due to  been omitted due to been omitted due to  omitted due to omitted due to  due to due to  to to parked vehicles. This survey has been orientated to the Ordnance  survey has been orientated to the Ordnance survey has been orientated to the Ordnance  has been orientated to the Ordnance has been orientated to the Ordnance  been orientated to the Ordnance been orientated to the Ordnance  orientated to the Ordnance orientated to the Ordnance  to the Ordnance to the Ordnance  the Ordnance the Ordnance  Ordnance Ordnance Survey (O.S) National Grid (OSGB36) via a Global  (O.S) National Grid (OSGB36) via a Global (O.S) National Grid (OSGB36) via a Global  National Grid (OSGB36) via a Global National Grid (OSGB36) via a Global  Grid (OSGB36) via a Global Grid (OSGB36) via a Global  (OSGB36) via a Global (OSGB36) via a Global  via a Global via a Global  a Global a Global  Global Global Positioning System (GPS) and the O.S. Active  System (GPS) and the O.S. Active System (GPS) and the O.S. Active  (GPS) and the O.S. Active (GPS) and the O.S. Active  and the O.S. Active and the O.S. Active  the O.S. Active the O.S. Active  O.S. Active O.S. Active  Active Active Network (OS Net) A true OSGB36 coordinate has been established  true OSGB36 coordinate has been established true OSGB36 coordinate has been established  OSGB36 coordinate has been established OSGB36 coordinate has been established  coordinate has been established coordinate has been established  has been established has been established  been established been established  established established near to the site center via a transformation using  to the site center via a transformation using to the site center via a transformation using  the site center via a transformation using the site center via a transformation using  site center via a transformation using site center via a transformation using  center via a transformation using center via a transformation using  via a transformation using via a transformation using  a transformation using a transformation using  transformation using transformation using  using using the OSTN02 & OSGM02 transformation models. The  OSTN02 & OSGM02 transformation models. The OSTN02 & OSGM02 transformation models. The  & OSGM02 transformation models. The & OSGM02 transformation models. The  OSGM02 transformation models. The OSGM02 transformation models. The  transformation models. The transformation models. The  models. The models. The  The The survey has been correlated to this point and a  has been correlated to this point and a has been correlated to this point and a  been correlated to this point and a been correlated to this point and a  correlated to this point and a correlated to this point and a  to this point and a to this point and a  this point and a this point and a  point and a point and a  and a and a  a a further one or more OSGB36 points established  to create a true O.S. bearing for angle orientation. No scale factor has been applied to the survey  scale factor has been applied to the survey scale factor has been applied to the survey  factor has been applied to the survey factor has been applied to the survey  has been applied to the survey has been applied to the survey  been applied to the survey been applied to the survey  applied to the survey applied to the survey  to the survey to the survey  the survey the survey  survey survey therefore the coordinates shown are not true O.S.  the coordinates shown are not true O.S. the coordinates shown are not true O.S.  coordinates shown are not true O.S. coordinates shown are not true O.S.  shown are not true O.S. shown are not true O.S.  are not true O.S. are not true O.S.  not true O.S. not true O.S.  true O.S. true O.S.  O.S. O.S. coordinates. Please refer to the survey station table to enable  establishment of the on site grid.

AutoCAD SHX Text_815
Station Information:

AutoCAD SHX Text_816
Station

AutoCAD SHX Text_817
Easting (m)

AutoCAD SHX Text_818
Northing (m)

AutoCAD SHX Text_819
Level (m)

AutoCAD SHX Text_820
Description

AutoCAD SHX Text_821
Level Datum:

AutoCAD SHX Text_822
Grid Orientation:

AutoCAD SHX Text_823
O.S (G.P.S Verified)

AutoCAD SHX Text_824
O.S (G.P.S Verified)

AutoCAD SHX Text_825
Topographical Legend

AutoCAD SHX Text_826
Er

AutoCAD SHX Text_827
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_828
THL

AutoCAD SHX Text_829
Threshold level

AutoCAD SHX Text_830
Manhole

AutoCAD SHX Text_831
Earth Rod

AutoCAD SHX Text_832
CaMkr

AutoCAD SHX Text_833
IFL

AutoCAD SHX Text_834
WL

AutoCAD SHX Text_835
Bo

AutoCAD SHX Text_836
TCB

AutoCAD SHX Text_837
Lb

AutoCAD SHX Text_838
Bus

AutoCAD SHX Text_839
Fp

AutoCAD SHX Text_840
Fl

AutoCAD SHX Text_841
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_842
Tp

AutoCAD SHX Text_843
Lp

AutoCAD SHX Text_844
Sp

AutoCAD SHX Text_845
Ep

AutoCAD SHX Text_846
Av

AutoCAD SHX Text_847
Litter Bin

AutoCAD SHX Text_848
Internal floor level

AutoCAD SHX Text_849
Telephone Call Box

AutoCAD SHX Text_850
Water level

AutoCAD SHX Text_851
Bollard

AutoCAD SHX Text_852
Air Valve

AutoCAD SHX Text_853
Flagpole

AutoCAD SHX Text_854
Bus Stop

AutoCAD SHX Text_855
Traffic Light

AutoCAD SHX Text_856
Telegraph Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_857
Electricity Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_858
Floodlight

AutoCAD SHX Text_859
Sign Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_860
Lamp Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_861
Cable Marker

AutoCAD SHX Text_862
BGy

AutoCAD SHX Text_863
Wm

AutoCAD SHX Text_864
SMkr

AutoCAD SHX Text_865
Re

AutoCAD SHX Text_866
Wo

AutoCAD SHX Text_867
Sv

AutoCAD SHX Text_868
Fh

AutoCAD SHX Text_869
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_870
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_871
Elec

AutoCAD SHX Text_872
Gy

AutoCAD SHX Text_873
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_874
Back Gully

AutoCAD SHX Text_875
Rodding Eye

AutoCAD SHX Text_876
Service Marker

AutoCAD SHX Text_877
Wash Out

AutoCAD SHX Text_878
Water Meter

AutoCAD SHX Text_879
Stop Valve

AutoCAD SHX Text_880
Stop Tap

AutoCAD SHX Text_881
Fire Hydrant

AutoCAD SHX Text_882
British Telecom

AutoCAD SHX Text_883
Electric

AutoCAD SHX Text_884
Inspection chamber

AutoCAD SHX Text_885
Gully

AutoCAD SHX Text_886
Re

AutoCAD SHX Text_887
Rodding Eye

AutoCAD SHX Text_888
Drainage 

AutoCAD SHX Text_889
Feature Lines

AutoCAD SHX Text_890
Pipe diameter 

AutoCAD SHX Text_891
%%C250mm

AutoCAD SHX Text_892
CL

AutoCAD SHX Text_893
IL

AutoCAD SHX Text_894
Cover Level 

AutoCAD SHX Text_895
Pipe Invert Level 

AutoCAD SHX Text_896
DP

AutoCAD SHX Text_897
Down Pipe

AutoCAD SHX Text_898
Utilities 

AutoCAD SHX Text_899
LBx

AutoCAD SHX Text_900
Letter Box

AutoCAD SHX Text_901
IBo

AutoCAD SHX Text_902
Illuminous Bollard

AutoCAD SHX Text_903
So.Lvl

AutoCAD SHX Text_904
Soffit Level

AutoCAD SHX Text_905
BH1

AutoCAD SHX Text_906
Borehole

AutoCAD SHX Text_907
TH1

AutoCAD SHX Text_908
Trial Hole

AutoCAD SHX Text_909
Station and Name

AutoCAD SHX Text_910
Station Level

AutoCAD SHX Text_911
Direction of flow Surface

AutoCAD SHX Text_912
Direction of flow Foul

AutoCAD SHX Text_913
Inv.Lvl

AutoCAD SHX Text_914
Invert Level

AutoCAD SHX Text_915
Gas

AutoCAD SHX Text_916
Gas

AutoCAD SHX Text_917
Water

AutoCAD SHX Text_918
Water

AutoCAD SHX Text_919
Abbreviations

AutoCAD SHX Text_920
GPI

AutoCAD SHX Text_921
Gas Pipe Inlet

AutoCAD SHX Text_922
WPI

AutoCAD SHX Text_923
Water Pipe Inlet

AutoCAD SHX Text_924
Wall Lvl

AutoCAD SHX Text_925
Wall Level

AutoCAD SHX Text_926
Fence Lvl

AutoCAD SHX Text_927
Fence Level

AutoCAD SHX Text_928
Buildings

AutoCAD SHX Text_929
Walls

AutoCAD SHX Text_930
Road

AutoCAD SHX Text_931
Centre Line

AutoCAD SHX Text_932
Line Marking

AutoCAD SHX Text_933
Verge

AutoCAD SHX Text_934
Top of Bank

AutoCAD SHX Text_935
Bottom of Bank

AutoCAD SHX Text_936
Building Canopy 

AutoCAD SHX Text_937
Security Fence

AutoCAD SHX Text_938
Panel Fence

AutoCAD SHX Text_939
Open Fence

AutoCAD SHX Text_940
Overhead Powerline

AutoCAD SHX Text_941
Barrier

AutoCAD SHX Text_942
Edge of Water

AutoCAD SHX Text_943
Contour Major

AutoCAD SHX Text_944
Contour Minor

AutoCAD SHX Text_945
50.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_946
50.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_947
Bed Lvl

AutoCAD SHX Text_948
Bed Level

AutoCAD SHX Text_949
Tree Lvl

AutoCAD SHX Text_950
Top of Tree Level

AutoCAD SHX Text_951
SprLvl

AutoCAD SHX Text_952
Springing Level

AutoCAD SHX Text_953
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_954
Hedge Lvl

AutoCAD SHX Text_955
Hedge Level

AutoCAD SHX Text_956
RL.

AutoCAD SHX Text_957
Ridge Level

AutoCAD SHX Text_958
EL.

AutoCAD SHX Text_959
Eaves Level

AutoCAD SHX Text_960
Boundary Line

AutoCAD SHX Text_961
P1

AutoCAD SHX Text_962
Stakeout

AutoCAD SHX Text_963
Roof Extent

AutoCAD SHX Text_964
Symbols

AutoCAD SHX Text_965
Chamber

AutoCAD SHX Text_966
Hedge

AutoCAD SHX Text_967
Tadpole

AutoCAD SHX Text_968
Bush

AutoCAD SHX Text_969
Sap

AutoCAD SHX Text_970
Tree/Bush/Sapling

AutoCAD SHX Text_971
Gate

AutoCAD SHX Text_972
Stations

AutoCAD SHX Text_973
Direction of flow Combined

AutoCAD SHX Text_974
MEC1

AutoCAD SHX Text_975
     430502.966

AutoCAD SHX Text_976
     279301.230

AutoCAD SHX Text_977
      98.340

AutoCAD SHX Text_978
MEC2

AutoCAD SHX Text_979
     430464.868

AutoCAD SHX Text_980
     279308.973

AutoCAD SHX Text_981
      98.407

AutoCAD SHX Text_982
PK Nail

AutoCAD SHX Text_983
PK Nail



1

5
4

5
2

2
9
4

Overdale Road - Existing Site Layout 1:500

P
age 152


	Agenda
	 Additional Document: Late Representation Report
	4 Minutes of the meetings held on 8 and 22 April 2021
	Minutes - 22-04-21

	6 Application OUT/2019/0484 - Thompsons Farm, Thompson Road
	OUT 2019 0484 - plans
	P16-0926_07-03C Public Open Space Plan[5].pdf
	07-03 [Public Open Space]



	7 Application FUL/2020/2794 - Lyons Park, Former Lawrence Automotive Site, Sayer Drive
	FUL 2020 2794 - plans
	3726-1-100-P6-Site Plan.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	100 Site Plan


	3726-1-101-P3 Existing Site Plan(1).pdf
	Sheets and Views
	101 Existing Site Plan


	3726-1-102-P3 Location Plan.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	102 Location Plan


	3726-1-103-P7-External Finishes Plan.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	103 External Finishes Plan


	3726-1-105-P5-Phasing Plan.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	105 Phasing Plan


	3726-1-106-P2 Cycle Shelter Plan(1).pdf
	Sheets and Views
	106 Cycle Shelter Plan


	3726-1-200-P5 Unit Plan.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	200 Unit Plan


	3726-1-201-P4 Office Plans.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	201 Office Plans


	3726-1-202-P6 Roof Plan.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	202 Roof Plan


	3726-1-203-P2 Pre Check Office Plans  Elevations.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	203 Pre-Check Office Plans & Elevations


	3726-1-203-P3-Pre Check Gatehouse Plans & Elevations.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	203 Pre-Check Office Plans & Elevations


	3726-1-300-P6 Unit Elevations(1).pdf
	Sheets and Views
	300 Unit Elevations




	8 Application FUL/2021/0315 - 97 Broad Lane
	FUL 2021 0315 - plans
	139 EX001-Block Plan.pdf
	139 EX001-Existing Block Plan
	EX-Site Plan


	139 GA001-Proposed Floor Plans.pdf
	139 GA001-Proposed Floor Plans
	EX-Site Plan-5
	EX-Site Plan-6


	139 OS001-Site Location.pdf
	139 OS001-Existing Site Location
	OS-Site Location




	9 Application FUL/2021/0369 - Land at Westwood Heath Road, to the rear of St John's Church
	FUL 2021 0369 - plans

	10 Application TELO/2021/0198 - Land at Scots Lane
	TELO 2021 0198 - plans

	11 Application FUL/2020/1334 - Garages, Overdale Road
	FUL 2020 1334 - plans
	100-407 001G Site Layout.pdf
	100-407 001G Site Layout

	100-407 002C Site Location.pdf
	100-407 002C Site Location

	100-407 003E Boundary treatment Plan.pdf
	100-407 003E Boundary treatment Plan

	100-407 007 Type B - 2B3P.pdf
	100-407 007 Type B - 2B3P

	100-407 008A Street Scene.pdf
	100-407 008A Street Scene




